CARACTERIZAÇÃO E ATIVIDADE ANTIMICROBIANA DE PEPTÍDEOS COM AFINIDADE À QUITINA DE SEMENTES DE PLANTAS DO GÊNERO *Capsicum* 

## GABRIELLA RODRIGUES GONÇALVES

### UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL DO NORTE FLUMINENSE DARCY RIBEIRO – UENF

CAMPOS DOS GOYTACAZES – RJ MARÇO – 2024

## CARACTERIZAÇÃO E ATIVIDADE ANTIMICROBIANA DE PEPTÍDEOS COM AFINIDADE À QUITINA DE SEMENTES DE PLANTAS DO GÊNERO Capsicum

## GABRIELLA RODRIGUES GONÇALVES

Tese apresentada ao Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia da Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, como parte das exigências para obtenção do título de Doutora em Biotecnologia Vegetal.

Orientadora: Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dr<sup>a</sup>. Valdirene Moreira Gomes.

CAMPOS DOS GOYTACAZES – RJ MARÇO - 2024

#### FICHA CATALOGRÁFICA

UENF - Bibliotecas

Elaborada com os dados fornecidos pela autora.

G635 Gonçalves, Gabriella Rodrigues.

Caracterização e Atividade Antimicrobiana de Peptídeos com afinidade à Quitina de Sementes de Plantas do Gênero *Capsicum* / Gabriella Rodrigues Gonçalves. - Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, 2024.

152 f. : il. Inclui bibliografia.

Tese (Doutorado em Biotecnologia Vegetal) - Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia, 2024. Orientadora: Valdirene Moreira Gomes.

1. Peptídeos de ligação à quitina. 2. Gênero *Capsicum*. 3. Bioprospecção. 4. Atividade antimicrobiana. 5. Gênero *Candida*. I. Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro. II. Título.

CDD - 660.6

CARACTERIZAÇÃO E ATIVIDADE ANTIMICROBIANA DE PEPTÍDEOS COM AFINIDADE À QUITINA DE SEMENTES DE PLANTAS DO GÊNERO Capsicum

#### GABRIELLA RODRIGUES GONÇALVES

Tese apresentada ao Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia da Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, como parte das exigências para obtenção do título de Doutora em Biotecnologia Vegetal

Aprovada em 20 de março de 2024

Comissão Examinadora

aduana I Viction Prof<sup>a</sup>, Dr<sup>a</sup>, Adriana Ferreira Uchôa (D.Sc., Biociências e Biotecnologia) – UFRN

si hobres dat

## Prof. Dr. José Roberto da Silva (D.Sc., Biociências e Biotecnologia) – UFRJ

: Sale Funanch

Profª, Drª, Kátia Valevski Sales Fernandes (D.Sc., Bioquímica e Biologia Molecular de Plantas) - UENE

Iduny

Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dr<sup>a</sup>. Valdirene Moreira Gomes (D.Sc., Ciências Biológicas) - UENF (Orientadora)

#### AGRADECIMENTOS

À Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro juntamente ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biotecnologia Vegetal pela oportunidade de capacitação acadêmica e de pesquisa. À FAPERJ pela concessão da bolsa e demais instituições de fomento pelo financiamento de projetos de pesquisa.

À minha orientadora, Prof<sup>a</sup> Dr<sup>a</sup> Valdirene Gomes, Valzinha, que me aceitou nessa família e tão pacientemente me guiou ao longo dos últimos 4 anos. Pelos puxões de orelha com amor e pelo colo quando sabia que as coisas não iam bem. Você é meu exemplo de profissional, Val.

Agradeço aos professores Adriana Uchôa, José Roberto e Katia Valevski por tão gentilmente terem aceitado compor a banca examinadora da minha tese e pelas contribuições dadas.

Aos colaboradores dos trabalhos oriundos dessa tese, em especial a Prof<sup>a</sup> Dr<sup>a</sup> Antônia Elenir Amâncio Oliveira, pelas excelentes contribuições nos últimos 2 anos e por ter transformado 1 artigo em 3. Agradeço ao Prof. Dr. André Carvalho, ao Prof. Dr. Felipe Astolpho e ao Dr. Gabriel Taveira. Agradeço também a querida Msc. Sarah Rodrigues, pelo auxílio nos docking e por ter me passado tantos ensinamentos tão pacientemente durante esses quatro anos.

Aos professores e técnicos do LFBM, pelo auxilio, manutenção e organização do laboratório e aos demais alunos pelos momentos de descontração.

Aos alunos do Grupo Val-André-Érica, agradeço pela parceria e por tantos momentos compartilhados juntos, na bancada e nos churrascos da vida. Em especial aos grandes amigos que o grupo me deu, Jaqueline, Rodrigo e Lucinha. E por último, minha irmã científica e da vida, Ana Clara, por ter chorado, sorrido e cantado junto comigo. Principalmente por todos os docinhos que compartilhamos esses anos.

Ao Criador, pelo dom da vida e por ter me permitido concluir mais essa etapa.

Agradeço à minha família pelo suporte emocional e por entenderem a minha ausência em tantas datas importantes ao longo destes 10 anos de caminhada. Essa vitória eu dedico a vocês, que sonharam meu sonho e acreditaram que eu iria chegar lá. Principalmente à minha "vó" Carmen Muniz e minha mãe Genilza Rodrigues, que tão pacientemente ouviram tantos choros e desabafos e me deram forças para continuar a caminhada.

As minhas amigas, Dr<sup>a</sup>. Larissa Resende, Dr<sup>a</sup>. Layrana de Azevedo e Dr<sup>a</sup>. Marciele Souza, por terem me dado a mão e me ensinado a dar os primeiros passos no desenvolvimento dessa

pesquisa. Agradeço principalmente por todos os bate-papos e gargalhadas que compartilhamos nestes anos.

Às minhas irmãs de alma e companheiras de jornada, Mayara Cazadini e Patricia de Oliveira. Agradeço pelo amor, colo, choro e gargalhadas que compartilhamos ao longo desta jornada. Agradeço principalmente pelo Heitor e Vicente, dois presentes inesperados e tão amados que ganhei no doutorado.

Ao meu namorado Thomas Zacarone, por ser meu parceiro na vida e na ciência. Agradeço pela paciência, principalmente nesses últimos meses. Seu amor me curou inúmeras vezes e foi essencial para finalização de mais essa etapa.

Agradeço ao meu amigo Matheus Louzada, que sonha esse sonho junto comigo há mais de 10 anos. Pelo apoio durante toda minha jornada acadêmica e também pelo apoio que têm me dado durante os 28 anos que compartilhamos juntos. Obrigada por todas as palavras de apoio, por entender a minha ausência e pelas terapias em conjunto. Esse é mais um sonho que vamos realizar juntos.

À minha pscicóloga, Aline Eccher, agradeço por ser um exemplo de profissional e por ter me auxiliado durante esse trajeto. Sua ajuda foi essencial durante o desenvolvimento dessa pesquisa e é essencial para meu reconhecimento como pessoa e profissional.

Por último, agradeço a mim mesma, por ter aguentado tanto e ainda ter sido simpática. =)

## SUMÁRIO

RESUMOviii
ABSTRACTix
1.1 – Introdução geral11
1.2 – Proteínas e peptídeos de ligação à quitina com potencial antimicrobiano13
1.3 – Albumina 2S
1.4 – Proteínas transportadoras de lipídeos (LTPs)18
1.5 – Heveína
1.6 – Quitinases
1.7 – Plantas do gênero <i>Capsicum</i> como fonte de peptídeos antifúngicos25
2 – OBJETIVOS
2.1 Objetivo geral
2.2 Objetivos específicos
3 – CAPÍTULO 1
Graphical Abstract
Abstract
1 Introduction
2 Materials and methods 34
3 Results and discussion
4 Conclusion 43
References 43
4 - CAPÍTULO 2
Graphical Abstract
Abstract49
1 Introduction
2 Materials and methods52
3 Results and discussion61
4 Conclusion70
References71
5 – CAPÍTULO 395
Graphical Abstract97
Abstract
1 Introduction
vi

2 Materials and methods	
3 Results	
4 Discussion	
5 Conclusion	114
References	
6 – CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS E CONCLUSÕES	
Considerações Finais	
Conclusões Gerais	
REFERÊNCIAS	

#### RESUMO

GONÇALVES, Gabriella Rodrigues. D.Sc., Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro. Março de 2024; Caracterização e atividade antimicrobiana de peptídeos com afinidade à quitina de sementes de plantas do gênero *Capsicum*. Orientadora: Prof<sup>a</sup> Valdirene Moreira Gomes.

Nos últimos anos tem havido vários relatos da presença de proteínas antimicrobianas em espécies vegetais cultivadas ou silvestres, que estão implicadas nos mecanismos de defesa das plantas. A existência destas proteínas levanta a possibilidade de aplicações biotecnológicas dando origem ao desenvolvimento de novas técnicas para combater doenças causadas por fungos. Neste contexto, temos as proteínas de ligação à quitina. A quitina é um polímero de Nacetil-D-glucosamina, componente essencial da parede celular de fungos, sendo, portanto, as proteínas de ligação à quitina importantes no controle do crescimento desses organismos. Dessa forma, o objetivo desta tese foi isolar, caracterizar e avaliar o efeito antifúngico in vitro de peptídeos com propriedades de ligação à quitina, isolados de sementes de quatro espécies de Capsicum, no crescimento de fungos dos gêneros Candida e Fusarium e in vivo no modelo invertebrado de Galleria mellonella. Essa tese é dividida em três capítulos, sendo que o primeiro capítulo aborda a identificação e atividades biológicas in vitro e in vivo de uma fração de C. annuum ligante à quitina, denominada Ca-F2. O segundo capítulo refere-se a identificação e atividades biológicas in vitro e in vivo de frações com ligação à quitina isoladas de Capsicum, sendo Cb-F2 de C. baccatum e Cf-F2 de C. frutescens. E o terceiro e último capítulo da tese descreve o isolamento, caracterização e atividade de uma fração peptídica ligante à quitina isolada de C. chinense, denominada Cc-F2. Resumidamente, os resultados indicam que as frações identificadas nestes estudos possuem atividade antifúngica, causam a diminuição da viabilidade celular e podem causar permeabilização nas membranas de leveduras do gênero Candida. Peptídeos isolados de cada fração foram submetidos à espectrometria de massas. Os resultados mostraram que Ca-F2 apresentou similaridade com proteínas da família das albuminas 2S, as frações Cb-F2 e Cf-F2 apresentaram similaridade com proteínas transportadoras de lipídios (LTPs) e a fração Cc-F2 apresentou similaridade com heveína e endoquitinase. Ca-F2 não causou hemólise em células de mamíferos, e quando testadas in vivo, as frações Ca-F2, Cb-F2 e Cf-F2 não foram tóxicas em larvas de G. mellonella. Conclui-se que as frações contendo as proteínas identificadas possuem potencial para o desenvolvimento de novas moléculas antifúngicas, em especial contra espécies de importância médica do gênero Candida.

#### ABSTRACT

GONÇALVES, Gabriella Rodrigues. D.Sc., North Fluminense State University – Darcy Ribeiro. March 2024; Characterization and antimicrobial activity of peptides with affinity for chitin from seeds of *Capsicum plants*. Advisor: Prof. Valdirene Moreira Gomes.

In recent years, there have been several reports of the presence of antimicrobial proteins, which are implicated in plant defense mechanisms, in cultivated or wild plant species. The presence of these proteins raises the possibility of biotechnological applications leading to the development of new techniques to combat diseases caused by fungi. In this context, we have chitin-binding proteins. Chitin is a polymer of N-acetyl-D-glucosamine, an essential component of the fungal cell wall, and chitin-binding proteins are therefore important for controlling the growth of these organisms. Thus, the objective of this thesis was to isolate, characterize and evaluate the *in vitro* antifungal effects of peptides with chitin-binding properties isolated from seeds of four Capsicum species on the growth of fungi of the genera Candida and Fusarium and in vivo on the model invertebrate Galleria mellonella. This thesis is divided into three sections, with the first section addressing the identification and in vitro and in vivo biological activities of a C. annuum chitin-binding fraction called Ca-F2. The second chapter refers to the identification and *in vitro* and *in vivo* biological activities of chitin-binding fractions from C. baccatum called Cb-F2 and from C. frutescens called Cf-F2, and the third and final chapters of the thesis discuss the isolation, characterization and activity of a chitin-binding peptide fraction isolated from C. chinense, here called Cc-F2. Briefly, the results indicate that the fractions identified in this study have antifungal activity, cause a decrease in cell viability and can cause permeabilization of the membranes of yeasts of the genus Candida. Peptides isolated from each fraction were subjected to mass spectrometry. The results showed that Ca-F2 was similar to proteins from the 2S albumin family, that the Cb-F2 and Cf-F2 fractions were similar to lipid transfer proteins (LTPs), and that the Cc-F2 fraction was similar to hevein and endochitinase. Ca-F2 did not cause hemolysis in mammalian cells, and when tested in vivo, the Ca-F2, Cb-F2 and Cf-F2 fractions were not toxic to G. mellonella larvae. It is concluded that the fractions containing the identified proteins have potential for the development of new antifungal agents, especially against medically important species of the genus Candida.

# 1 - INTRODUÇÃO

#### 1.1 – Introdução geral

Infecções fúngicas sempre foram um grande problema mundial e nos últimos anos estas têm se agravado de forma sistemática. Elas variam de infecções superficiais a doenças sistêmicas que podem ser fatais, comumente são desafiadoras de serem diagnosticadas e tratadas nos estágios iniciais da doença, devido à complexidade dos fungos. Isso resulta no agravamento das infecções, tornando os procedimentos de tratamento mais complicados (Ramage *et al.*, 2009; Reddy *et al.*, 2022). Essas infecções, geralmente oportunistas, tendem a se manifestar principalmente em pacientes com sistema imunológico comprometido, como aqueles com HIV e câncer (Cui *et al.*, 2022; Reddy *et al.*, 2022).

O cenário ficou ainda pior devido à resistência crescente dos fungos aos medicamentos antifúngicos disponíveis, tanto para infecções humanas como animais, bem como para fitopatógenos, que interferem na produção de alimentos (Cui *et al.*, 2022; Guillot; Bond 2020; Wang *et al.*, 2022). Um dos fatores que contribuem para esse cenário de resistência, é o uso indevido e descontrolado de medicamentos, tornando ineficazes os tratamentos disponíveis atualmente (Akram *et al.*, 2023; Sharma *et al.*, 2018). A resistência microbiana emerge como uma grave preocupação à saúde pública (Berman; Krysan 2020), já que os fungos podem reduzir os efeitos dos medicamentos através de vários mecanismos de resistência, como o redirecionamento da droga, alteração da via metabólica, redução da absorção da concentração da droga, adaptação e alteração da parede celular e formação de biofilmes (Cui *et al.*, 2022).

As espécies do gênero *Candida*, em especial, representam uma ameaça global à saúde pública, com frequentes surtos em hospitais e altas taxas de mortalidade (Pinto-Magalhães *et al.*, 2019). Existem aproximadamente 150 espécies de *Candida* spp., mas um número pequeno foi considerado como patógeno humano. Essas leveduras fazem parte da microbiota humana normal e podem ser encontradas em membranas mucosas (30-60%), em tratos gastrointestinal e geniturinário de pessoas saudáveis, sendo que a interação microrganismo-hospedeiro ocorre ao longo da vida. Dessa forma, é possível que uma pessoa interaja com essa levedura diversas vezes sem grandes complicações (Perlroth *et al.*, 2006; Blanco; Garcia 2008; da Fonseca *et al.*, 2022). Entretanto, alterações na defesa do hospedeiro constituem fatores que podem favorecer a invasão sistêmica desse gênero de levedura em humanos, representando os principais agentes

envolvidos em infecções nosocomiais com alta taxa de mortalidade, principalmente em países subdesenvolvidos e em desenvolvimento (Salama; Gerstein, 2022).

Atualmente, existe um número limitado de medicamentos antifúngicos eficazes disponíveis, sendo que sua grande maioria causa efeitos adversos nos pacientes, limitando as opções terapêuticas (de Ullivarri *et al.*, 2020). A partir dessas informações, existe uma grande necessidade de desenvolvimento de novas moléculas ativas e eficazes para tratamentos bem-sucedidos (Campoy; Adrio 2017; Amaral *et al.*, 2021). Neste cenário, os peptídeos antimicrobianos (AMPs) estão entre os candidatos promissores para o desenvolvimento de novos agentes antifúngicos (Konakbayeva; Karlsson, 2023). Sua rápida ação, seletividade e por serem menos propícios a induzir seleção de resistência, tornam esse grupo um bom candidato ao desenvolvimento de novos agentes antifúngicos (Bradshaw, 2003). Esses peptídeos apresentam característica comuns, como pequenas sequências de aminoácidos (entre 10 e 100 resíduos), possuem carga líquida positiva e são moléculas anfipáticas, podendo interagir com diversas membranas e diversos alvos biológicos (Torres *et al.*, 2019).

Nesse contexto, entre as várias famílias em que os AMPs estão inseridos, temos a família dos peptídeos e proteínas de ligação à quitina, também chamadas de "chitin binding proteins" (*CBP family*). Essas moléculas possuem capacidade de ligação reversível à quitina, um polissacarídeo estrutural presente em diversos organismos, incluindo a parede celular fúngica. Estudos relatam a atividade antifúngica dos CBPs de plantas contra diversos patógenos fúngicos (Loo *et al.*, 2021; Saeed *et al.*, 2021) e *Candida* spp. (Gonçalves *et al.*, 2024; Lopes *et al.*, 2020).

Os peptídeos e/ou proteínas de ligação à quitina podem ser utilizados no controle de combate a microrganismos patogênicos, devido a sua atividade antimicrobiana. Também podem ser isolados de diversas fontes e de diversos órgãos de plantas (Al Akeel *et al.*, 2017). Um exemplo é a planta *Moringa oleifera*, que apresenta alto valor nutricional e medicinal. Suas sementes são coagulantes naturais, utilizados para purificar água turva, seus extratos aquosos e etanólicos de folhas são conhecidos por exibirem propriedades anti-inflamatórias, antimicrobianas, antidiabéticas e possuem efeito na redução do colesterol e na estabilização da pressão arterial. Existem diversos relatos na literatura de peptídeos de ligação à quitina isolados e caracterizados a partir de órgãos dessa planta. Em 2017, Kini *et al.*, caracterizaram dois novos peptídeos heveína-símile da casca da árvore de *M. oleifera*, denominados mO1 e mO2, que inibiram o crescimento de fungos

13

fitopatogênicos, corroborando com os relatos mencionados acima. Dessa forma, reforçase o grande potencial biotecnológico dessas moléculas.

#### 1.2 – Proteínas e peptídeos de ligação à quitina com potencial antimicrobiano

A quitina, um homopolímero insolúvel e formado por monômeros do tipo Nacetil-D-glucosamina unidos por ligações glicídicas  $\beta$ -1-4, é encontrado em exoesqueletos de insetos, carapaça de crustáceos, cascas de ovos de nematóides e representa um dos principais constituites das paredes celulares dos fungos. A elevada taxa de produção de quitina por esses organismos, faz com que ela seja o segundo polissacarídeo mais abundante da natureza, perdendo apenas para a celulose (Hashimoto *et al.*, 2000; Kadokura *et al.*, 2007; Kurita, 2001). Em fungos, a quitina constitui entre 3 a 60% da massa total da parede celular e é responsável pela rigidez, força física e formato específico da parede celular (Lipke; Ovalle, 1998).

Essas proteínas se ligam à quitina por apresentarem domínios de ligação à quitina (Chitin binding domain - CBD) (Asensio et al., 2000). Este domínio de ligação à quitina cuja sequência de aminoácidos é conhecida contêm um motivo estrutural comum de 30 a 43 aminoácidos com diversas cisteínas e glicinas em posições conservadas, também conhecidas como domínio heveínico (Raikhel; Lee, 1993; Trindade et al., 2006). As proteínas que fazem parte dessa família não se ligam única e exclusivamente à quitina, podendo ligar-se a vários complexos glicoconjugados contendo N-acetil-Dglicosamina ou ácido N-acetil-D-neuramínico. As plantas, especialmente nas sementes, desenvolveram um sistema de imunidade inata que atua como a primeira linha de defesa contra uma ampla variedade de patógenos microbianos, desempenhando um papel crucial na proteção contra várias agressões (Li et al., 2021). Essa defesa conta com a presença de metabólitos secundários e uma vasta gama de proteínas e peptídeos, entre estes as proteínas de ligação à quitina (CBP). Como exemplo de uma das principais famílias de proteínas de ligação à quitina, podemos citar as enzimas quitinolíticas, as quais hidrolisam as ligações glicosídicas  $\beta$ -1,4 e degradam a quitina. As quitinases mais conhecidas contêm duas partes distintas: um domínio de ligação à quitina (CBD) e um domínio catalítico. O CBD auxilia na ligação da enzima à quitina presente na parede celular fúngica, aumentando a atividade lítica do domínio catalítico (Huang et al., 1997; Iseli et al., 1993; Taira et al., 2002; Yan et al., 2008). Além das quitinases, os CBDs estão presentes em outras famílias de proteínas, como na heveína, em algumas lectinas e em algumas famílias de peptídeos antimicrobianos. Essas proteínas possuem suas características singulares, mas além disso, possuem atividade contra uma ampla gama de patógenos microbianos, incluindo patógenos fúngicos. Entre os peptídeos antimicrobianos, os *Ac*-AMP1 e o *Ac*-AMP2 foram os primeiros descritos. Estes apresentam 29 e 30 aminoácidos, respectivamente, e possuem sequências idênticas, exceto por um resíduo adicional de arginina na região C-terminal do *Ac*-AMP2. Os *Ac*-AMPs são principalmente ricos em cisteína (seis resíduos), glicina (sete resíduos) e aminoácidos básicos. A sequência de aminoácidos dos *Ac*-AMPs possui grande similaridade com os domínios ricos em cisteína/glicina das proteínas de ligação à quitina e apresentam três pontes dissulfeto (Broekaert *et al.*, 1992; De Bolle *et al.*, 1993). Os *Ac*-AMPs são as proteínas antifúngicas mais potentes da família de ligação à quitina. Estudos realizados por Broekaert *et al.*, (1992) abrangendo diferentes fungos fitopatogênicos, revelaram que as concentrações requeridas para obter 50% de inibição do crescimento fúngico variaram de 2 a 10  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>, dependendo do fungo testado.

Em relação a estes peptídeos, podemos citar e descrever algumas de suas importantes propriedades, tais como: Ac-AMP1 e Ac-AMP2, que foram isolados de sementes de Amaranthus caudatus e inibiram o crescimento de diferentes fungos fitopatogênicos, além de mostrarem atividade contra bactérias (Broekaert et al., 1992); e Pp-AMP1 e Pp-AMP2, que foram purificados a partir de brotos de Phyllostachys pubescens e tiveram sua atividade antimicrobiana avaliada contra Erwinia carotovora, Agrobacterium radiobacter, A. rhizogenes, Clavibacter michiganensis, Curtobacterium flaccumfacien, Fusarium oxysporum e Geotrichum candidume na concentração necessária para inibir 50% do crescimento (IC50) dos microrganismos, que variaram entre 2 a 25 (µg/mL) (Fujimura et al., 2005). Podemos citar ainda o LmCBP1 extraído de Brassica napus (Liu et al., 2020), o CBL (lectina ligante à quitina) extraído de Solanum integrifolium, que apresentou inibição do crescimento contra Colletotrichum gloeosporioides e Rhizoctonia solani com um diâmetro de inibição de zona de 8 mm e 12 mm, respectivamente (Chen et al., 2018), o SmAMP3 extraído de folhas de Stellaria media, que apresentou atividade antifúngica contra F. solani, Alternaria alternata, Botrytis cinerea, entre outros, com IC50 de 3,7, 5,0 e 1,6 mM, respectivamente (Rogozhin et al., 2015), e aSG1-3 e aSR1-3 extraídos de Alternanthera sessilis, que não tiveram atividade antibacteriana significativa em concentrações ≤100 µM. (Kini et *al.*, 2015). Tratando-se de plantas de pimenta, foi reportado o gene *Ca*ChiIV1, isolado de plantas de *Capsicum annuum* L., regula a resposta ao fungo *Phytophthora capsici* e estresses abióticos, como metil-jasmonato (MeJA), peróxido de hidrogênio (H2O2), melatonina e manitol (Ali *et al.*, 2019).

Outro exemplo é a proteína *Iu*-CBP, identificada e caracterizada a partir de sementes de *Iberis umbellata*. Ela apresenta baixa massa molecular e possui similaridade com albumina 2S e atividade antibacteriana contra *Bacillus subtilis*, *Xanthomonas oryzae*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Escherichia coli* e *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, em concentrações de 5,0 e 10,0 µg/disco. Esta proteína também inibiu o crescimento micelial de *Aspergillus flavus* na concentração de 20 µg/disco (Saeed *et al.*, 2021). Na Tabela 1 estão apresentados alguns dos principais peptídeos de ligação à quitina e proteínas de baixa massa molecular isolados de plantas nos últimos anos, bem como algumas das principais atividades biológicas.

СВР	Planta	Atividade	Referências		
Pn_AMP1 e 2	Pharbitis nil	Atividade antifúngica	Slavokhotova <i>et al.</i> , 2017		
Mo-CBP2	M. oleífera	Atividade contra <i>Candida</i>	Silva Neto <i>et al.</i> , 2020		
Mo-CBP3	M. oleífera	Atividade contra fitopatógenos	Freire <i>et al.</i> , 2015		
Mo-CBP4	M. oleífera	Trichophyton e Candida	Lopes et al., 2020		
WSMoL	M. oleífera	Atividade inseticida	de Oliveira <i>et al.</i> , 2017		
mO1 e mO2	M. oleífera	Atividade contra fitopatógenos	Kini et al., 2017		
Ee_CBP	Euonymus europaeus	Atividade contra fitopatógenos	Slavokhotova <i>et al.</i> , 2017		
CJP-4	Cryptomeria japônica	-	Takashima <i>et al.</i> , 2018		
6-Cys-CB- HLPs	Chenopodium quinoa	Atividade antifúngica	Loo et al., 2021		
Iu-CBP	I. umbellata	Atividade antibacteriana	Saeed et al., 2021		
DrChit	Drosera rotundifolia	Trichoderma viride	Durechova <i>et al.</i> , 2019		
EuCHIT2	E. ulmoides	Erysiphe cichoracearum	Dong et al., 2017		
CaChiIV1	C. annuum	Phytophthora capsici	Ali et al., 2019		
PsV	Pisum sativum	Atividade antifúngica	Saeed et al., 2022		
CBL	S. integrifolium	Atividade antifúngica	Chen et al., 2018		
MdPR4	Malus domestica	Atividade antifúngica	Zhou et al., 2021		
Ca-F2	C. annuum	Atividade contra <i>Candida</i>	Gonçalves <i>et al.</i> , 2024		

**Tabela 1**. Identificação de alguns peptídeos e proteínas de ligação à quitina isolados de plantas e algumas de suas atividades biológicas.

Em seguida, serão abordadas algumas famílias de peptídeos e proteínas que foram identificadas nesse trabalho e que apresentaram propriedades de ligação à matriz de quitina.

#### 1.3 – Albumina 2S

O termo albumina foi dado para um grupo restrito de proteínas solúveis em água (Osborne, 1924). Com o avanço dos estudos foi indicado a existência de um tipo de proteínas de armazenamento de sementes (SSPs) chamado albuminas 2S (Youle; Huang 1979). Posteriormente, comparações revelaram que albuminas 2S fazem parte de um grupo de proteínas classificadas na superfamília das prolaminas, na qual também estão incluídas as proteínas transportadoras de lipídeos (LTPs), inibidores bifuncionais de  $\alpha$ -amilase/serino proteases e prolaminas de cereais (Radauer; Breiteneder, 2007; Shewry *et al.*, 1995).

As albuminas 2S são proteínas de baixa massa molecular e alto teor de glutamina, arginina, asparagina e cisteína. Além disso, compartilham propriedades físico-químicas semelhantes, como a presença de resíduos catiônicos e alta estabilidade devido às ligações dissulfeto (Souza, 2020). Sua função principal é a de armazenamento, para ser utilizada na germinação e no crescimento das plantas, como fonte de nitrogênio, carbono e enxofre (Shewry *et al.*, 2006). Após a germinação, as albuminas 2S são degradadas a fim de fornecer aminoácidos para o desenvolvimento das sementes (Youle; Huang, 1979). Elas são divididas em duas subunidades: uma subunidade pequena, de 3–4 kDa, que contém os resíduos de cisteína 1 e 2, e uma subunidade grande, de 8–10 kDa, que contém os resíduos de cisteína 3 a 8 (Souza, 2020).

Várias albuminas 2S apresentam atividade inibitórias contra  $\alpha$ -amilases, serino proteases, crescimento bacteriano e fúngico, bem como atividade inseticida, o que indica o papel das albuminas 2S na defesa de sementes (Souza, 2020). Foi observado que Rc-2S-Alb, uma albumina 2S purificada de sementes de *Ricinus communis*, apresentou alta atividade contra *P. aeruginosa, Klebsiella pneumonae* e *B. subtilis*, sendo que 0,26  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> foi a concentração que apresentou a maior atividade inibitória sobre o crescimento de todas as bactérias testadas (Souza *et al.*, 2016). Além disso, sabe-se que Rc-2S-Alb é rica em resíduos de arginina, o que pode favorecer o potencial eletrostático positivo da proteína, aumentando a interação eletrostática com a porção negativa da

membrana bacteriana, levando a permeabilização da membrana, perda do conteúdo citoplasmático e morte celular.

As albuminas 2S apresentam atividade sobre fungos patogênicos humanos, como leveduras do gênero *Candida* e dermatófitos do gênero *Trichophyton*, além de bactérias (Lopes *et al.*, 2020). Uma albumina 2S foi purificada de sementes de pimenta (*C. annuum* L.) que apresentou atividade contra as leveduras *C. albicans*, *C. parapsilosis*, *C. tropicalis* e *C. guilliermondii*, responsáveis por infecções principalmente em pacientes imunossuprimidos (Ribeiro *et al.*, 2007). Também foi purificada uma proteína de ligação à quitina de *M. oleífera*, denominada Mo-CBP2, que apresentou similaridade com albumina 2S e demonstrou atividade anti-*Candida*. Foi observado que Mo-CBP2 induziu a formação de poros nas membranas celulares de *Candida* e induziu a superprodução de espécies reativas de oxigênio (ROS) (Neto *et al.*, 2017). Outro estudo revelou que proteínas de ligação à quitina isoladas de sementes de *C. annuum* apresentaram similaridade com albumina 2S e mostraram atividade sobre as leveduras *C. albicans* e *C. tropicalis*. Foi verificado nesse estudo que o possível mecanismo de ação pelo qual a proteína age sobre as leveduras é a permeabilização de membranas (Gonçalves *et al.*, 2024).

As albuminas 2S destacam-se como inibidoras de fungos fitopatogênicos, responsáveis por significativas perdas na agricultura. A atividade antifúngica dessas albuminas tem sido intensamente estudada e os resultados têm demonstrado notável inibição fúngica (Souza, 2020). A albumina 2S citada anteriormente como Rc-2S-Alb, apresentou atividade inibidora de tripsina e além disso, apresentou atividade sobre os fitopatógenos F. oxysporum e R. solani, sendo capaz de aglutinar os esporos dos patógenos citados (Souza et al., 2016). Foi também relatado que a proteína de ligação à quitina Mo-CBP3 apresentou potencial inibitório sobre F. solani, F. oxysporum, C. musae e C. gloesporioides, todos eles de elevada importância para a agricultura. Mo-CBP3 apresentou ação fungicida e fungistática, de acordo com a concentração utilizada e além disso, o mecanismo de ação apresentado pela proteína é apoiado pela interação com a superfície celular do fungo por meio de interações eletrostáticas, uma vez que o sal reduz seu efeito inibitório. A proteína induziu o aumento da produção de ROS e causou a formação de poros na membrana plasmática. Além do exposto, Mo-CBP3 não apresentou efeitos tóxicos para células humanas, indicando grande potencial para o desenvolvimento de novos medicamentos antifúngicos (Mota et al., 2019).

18

#### 1.4 – Proteínas transportadoras de lipídeos (LTPs)

As proteínas transportadoras de lipídios (LTP) foram inicialmente descritas em batata (*S. tuberosum*) por Kader, (1975). Elas possuem esse nome devido a sua capacidade em transportar fosfolipídeos e galactolipídeos entre um doador e uma membrana aceitadora durante ensaios *in vitro* (Kader, 1996). Elas possuem uma cavidade hidrofóbica similar a um túnel que é capaz de acomodar lipídeos e outros ligantes (Edqvist *et al.*, 2018). Acredita-se que muitas das funções desempenhadas pelas LTPs estão associadas à sua capacidade de se ligar e transportar lipídios e outras moléculas hidrofóbicas (Amador *et al.*, 2021). Existem vários tipos de nomenclaturas para difenciar as LTPs, porém, uma muito utilizada é de acordo com sua massa molecular. As LTP1 possuem massa molecular de aproximadamente 9 kDa, enquanto as LTP2 apresentam massa de 7 kDa. Além de serem diferentes na identidade da sequência primária (menos de 30% de similaridade), são também distintas na eficiência de transferência lipídica (Kader, 1996).

Sua região mais conservada é o motif 8CM, sendo que a diferença entre as LTPs é devida à natureza das ligações dissulfeto, com maior variação nas cisteínas 5 e 6, que auxiliam nos efeitos funcionais na estrutura terciária. Outra região conservada importante corresponde a uma glicina entre as hélices 1 e 2, que são conectadas por ligações dissulfeto entre C2 e C3 (Figura 1A). Resíduos que também são bastante conservados nas LTPs são a lisina e tirosina (Fleury *et al.*, 2019). Diferenças nessas regiões e motif podem tanto interferir nos seus mecanismos, como podem contribuir para suas estruturas e propriedades biológicas (Amador *et al.*, 2021).

A estrutura tridimensional das LTPs é identificada por possuir um domínio compacto que usualmente é composto por quatro hélices (H1-H4) conectadas por laços curtos (L1-L3), além de uma cauda C-terminal desestruturada (Amador *et al.*, 2021) (Figura 1B). Elas apresentam cavidade interna em formato de túnel para acomodar os lipídeos e que também auxiliam na estabilidade contra processamento térmico e digestivo (Liu *et al.*, 2010). Nas LTPs tipo 1, geralmente a H2 e H3 e o loop C-terminal são mais longos. O domínio é unido por diversas ligações de hidrogênio intramoleculares e por quatro pontes de enxofre conservadas nos padrões de C1-C6, C2-C3, C4-C7 e C5-C8 para LTPs1 (Gincel *et al.*, 1994) e C1-C5, C2-C3, C4-C7 e C6-C8 para as LTPs tipo 2 (Pons *et al.*, 2003).

As LTPs apresentam diferentes papéis nas plantas, destacando-se a defesa contra patógenos como um dos mais importantes. Diversos trabalhos relataram o isolamento e atividade dessas LTPs contra diversos microrganismos, como leveduras (Zottich *et al.*, 2011) e fitopatógenos. McLaughlin e colaboradores (2021) superexpressaram uma LTP em trigo transgênico que foi capaz de diminuir o crescimento de *F. graminearum* em duas linhagens, reduzindo também o tamanho de uma lesão fùngica em ensaios realizados em folhas. As LTPs também apresentam atividade antimicrobiana contra bactérias, como as CmLTPs isoladas de *Chelidonium majus* que demostraram atividade contra *Campylobacter jejuni, Listeria greyi* e *Clostridium perfringens* (Nawrot *et al.*, 2014). Seu mecanismo de ação também pode envolver a secreção destas proteínas no apoplasto permitindo que se liguem a moléculas lipídicas secretadas por plantas, como ácido jasmônico ou secretadas pelos patógenos (Finkina *et al.*, 2016). Dessa forma, esses peptídeos se tornaram candidatos promissores para o desenvolvimento de novas drogas para combater patógenos humanos e de importância agrícola (Souza *et al.*, 2018).

As LTPs também estão relacionadas com o desenvolvimento das sementes, germinação (Finkina *et al.*, 2016; Safi *et al.*, 2015), amadurecimento de frutos (Tomassen *et al.*, 2007 e estão envolvidas no estresse abiótico das plantas. Hairat et al. (2018), por exemplo, demonstraram que duas LTPs de trigo que foram superexpressas em *A. thaliana*, aumentaram a tolerância desses indivíduos transformados ao estresse salino. Além desses, outros papéis são designados para as LTPs (Amador *et al.*, 2021).



**Figura 1.** Sequências (A) e estruturas (B) de exemplos de proteínas transportadoras de lipídios. A estrutura secundária é representada por cores diferentes: azul -  $\alpha$ -hélice; rosa – espiral aleatória; amarelo - ligações dissulfeto (Tam *et al.*, 2015).

Devido a sua multifuncionalidade, essas moléculas são alvos de diversos estudos biotecnológicos para as plantas, já que estão envolvidas em importantes vias fisiológicas, defesa de plantas contra estresses bióticos e abióticos e sinalização celular (Van loon; Van strien, 1999). Também são utilizadas em estudos que envolvem tecnologias de transgenia e engenharia molecular, possibilitando melhorias em cultivares de interesse agronômico, tornando-os resistentes a estresses bióticos e abióticos (Amador et al., 2021). Podem desempenhar efeito protetor durante infecções bacterianas, diminuindo citocinas pró-inflamatórias (Souza et al., 2018); inibem α-amilase salivar humana, podendo ser utilizados no controle da obesidade, já que previnem a digestão pós-prandial de carboidratos em humanos (da Silva et al., 2018); possuem atividade antinociceptiva (Campos et al., 2016); estabilidade termodinâmica (Maghsoudi et al., 2013) e podem ser utilizados para fornecer estabilidade química e física a compostos farmacológicos, já que esses devem manter suas propriedades ao serem armazenados, até o momento da utilização pelo paciente (dos Santos et al., 2017). Com isso, novos estudos sobre essas moléculas são de grande importância, uma vez que elas possuem diversas aplicações biotecnológicas, incluindo a grande problemática da resistência microbiana.

#### 1.5 – Heveína

Os peptídeos semelhantes à heveína fazem parte de uma família de peptídeos com aproximadamente 29 a 45 aminoácidos, ricos em cisteína (com 3 a 5 pontes dissulfeto), que se ligam à quitina. A heveína recebeu esse nome devido ao seu isolamento do látex da seringueira do Pará (*Hevea brasiliensis*; Família: Euphorbiaceae) em 1960 (Slavokhotova *et al.*, 2017). Sua sequência de aminoácidos foi determinada anos depois (Walujono *et al.*, 1975), sendo extremamente parecida com a aglutinina de ligação à quitina (UDA) da urtiga (*Urtica dioica*; Família: Urticaceae) (Chapot *et al.*, 1986).

Esses peptídeos apresentam estruturas ricas em cisteína e glicina, juntamente com o domínio de ligação à quitina conservado, o que auxilia sua ligação com a quitina na parede celular dos fungos e no exoesqueleto dos artrópodes. As estruturas primárias e a quantidade de ligações dissulfeto (S-S) variam significativamente dentro dessa classe de peptídeos (Tam *et al.*, 2015). Eles são divididos em três subfamilias de acordo com a quantidade de resíduos de cisteína: 6C, 8C e 10C, embora os mais clássicos contenham oito resíduos de cisteína (Figura 2A). Em relação à sua estrutura secundária, compreendese um motif espiral- $\beta$ 1- $\beta$ 2-espiral- $\beta$ 3 com variações baseadas na presença de voltas curtas nas duas espirais longas e na fita  $\beta$ 3 (Slavokhotova *et al.*, 2017; Tam *et al.*, 2015). A folha  $\beta$  central do motif heveína é formada por duas cadeias  $\beta$  antiparalelas, enquanto a região central é mantida pelas ligações S–S (Figura 2B) (Tam *et al.*, 2015).

Nas plantas, essas moléculas são responsáveis pela defesa contra uma ampla gama de fungos patogênicos (Franco *et al.*, 2006). Diversos estudos relatam a atividade antifúngica de peptídeos semelhantes à heveína, muitos relacionados à atividade antimicrobiana contra patógenos animais e fitopatógenos. O efeito antifúngico deve-se principalmente à presença de um domínio conservado de ligação à quitina. (Srivastava *et al.*, 2021). Ar-AMP (Q512B2) isolada de *Amaranthus retroflexus* faz parte da subfamília 6C e possui atividade contra *B. cinerea, F. culmorum, Helminthosporium sativum, A. consortiale*, e *Rhizoctonia solani*. Em relação a subfamília 8C, podemos destacar Hevein (P02877) isolado de *H. brasiliensis*, que teve atividade sobre *B. cinerea, F. culmorum, F. oxysporum, Phycomyces blakesleeanus, Pyrenophora triticirepentis, Pyricularia oryzae, Septoria nodorum e Trichoderma hamatum*. Em relação a subfamília 10C, podemos citar EAFP2 isolado de *Eucommia ulmoides*, ativo contra *Aculops lycopersici, F. moniliforme, F. oxysporum* e *C. gossypii* (Slavokhotova *et al.*, 2017). Além disso, esses peptídeos podem atuar em conjunto com outro grupo de proteínas protetoras, as quitinases.



**Figura 2.** Sequências (A) e estruturas (B) de peptídeos semelhantes a heveína. A estrutura secundária é representada por cores diferentes: azul -  $\alpha$ -hélice; rosa – espiral aleatória; amarelo - ligações dissulfeto (Tam *et al.*, 2015).

Os peptídeos WAMP, por exemplo, são inibidores específicos da fungilisina, uma metaloprotease secretada pelos fungos do gênero *Fusarium*, protegendo uma quitinase vegetal da degradação pela enzima do patógeno fúngico (Odintsova *et al.*, 2020). É importante mencionar que o mecanismo de ação dos peptídeos semelhantes à heveína é baseado na sua interação com a quitina fúngica presente na célula. Essa interação é apoiada pelo domínio heveína presente nesses peptídeos, responsável pela interação da quitina e pelos danos causados à parede celular do fungo (Tam *et al.*, 2015), contudo, não se sabe se o mecanismo utilizado por esses peptídeos é ubíquo ou se é característico apenas para alguns deles.

Devido à grande atividade dos peptídeos semelhantes à heveina contra fungos fitopatogênicos, esses peptídeos são utilizados em biotecnologia para obtenção de plantas transgênicas com maior resistência a fitopatógenos, como, por exemplo, SmAMP1 e SmAMP2, que foram utilizados para expressão em plantas de tabaco e conferiram maior resistência contra os fungos *Bipolaris sorokiniana* e *Thielaviopsis basicola* (Shukurov *et al.*, 2012). São utilizadas regiões promotoras dos genes desses peptídeos para sua

produção de grandes quantidades, sendo uma classe de peptídeos promissora para o desenvolvimento de novos antimicrobianos naturais (Azmi *et al.*, 2021).

#### 1.6 – Quitinases

As quitinases (EC 3.2.1.14) são enzimas que hidrolisam as ligações  $\beta$ -1,4 na quitina. Com base na similaridade de sequência e diferentes mecanismos catalíticos, as quitinases são agrupadas nas famílias de glicosil hidrolases (GH) 18, 19 e 20 (Langner; Göhre, 2016). Os genes de quitinases são classificados em sete classes (I-VII) (Neuhaus, 1999; Sarma *et al.*, 2012). As quitinases das classes I, II, IV, VI e VII pertencem à família GH19, enquanto as quitinases das classes III e V são membros da família GH18 (Ohnuma *et al.*, 2012). Além disso, também são classificadas como proteínas relacionadas à patogênese (PR), sendo elas: PR-3, PR-4, PR-8 e PR-11 (Neuhaus, 1999).

Elas possuem massas moleculares bastante variadas e são bastante abundantes em plantas. Quitinases da classe I do feijão-caupi produzidas em *Pichia pastoris* apresentaram massa molecular de 34 e 37 kDa (Landim *et al.*, 2017). Uma quitinase isolada de sementes de feijão-caupi, que se mostrou tóxica para fungos fitopatogênicos, apresentou massa molecular de 22 kDa (Gomes *et al.*, 1996). Foi verificado também, que o genoma de *Arabidopsis* parece conter 25 quitinases ou proteínas semelhantes à quitinases. Seu tamanho varia de 211 a 430 aminoácidos, com massa molecular entre 20 e 50 kDa. Além disso, foi observado que o genoma do arroz apresenta 49 quitinases com 178 a 479 aminoácidos e massa molecular entre 18 e 50 kDa (Grover, 2012).

Algumas quitinases (especialmente as de classe I e que representam as PR-3) possuem um domínio de ligação à quitina (CBD), sendo responsável pela forte ligação da enzima ao substrato, aumentando assim sua atividade hidrolítica (Hoell *et al.*, 2010). O domínio de ligação à quitina ou domínio heveínico, como também é conhecido, como já relatado, contêm um motif estrutural comum de 30 a 43 aminoácidos com diversas cisteínas e glicinas em posições conservadas (Figura 3) (Raikhel; Lee, 1993; Trindade *et al.*, 2006). As quitinases não necessitam especialmente de um domínio de ligação à quitina para exercer atividade catalítica, como as de classe II, que não possuem CBD, mas possuem em contrapartida um domínio quitinolítico que se liga à quitina (Neuhaus, 1999).



**Figura 3.** Alinhamento proteico de quitinases homólogas (A). Estrutura do modelo de homologia Chit19, destacando ligações dissulfeto em amarelo (B). (B) e (C) representam a mesma estrutura, mas em (C) o ângulo instantâneo é girado para destacar os supostos locais catalíticos e as ligações dissulfeto do domínio central, bem como as cisteínas livres (Sinelnikov *et al.*, 2021).

As quitinases de plantas foram relatadas a partir de diversas fontes e espécies vegetais, como *Ficus carica* (Spano *et al.*, 2015), *Euphorbia characias* (Martos *et al.*, 2017), *C. annuum* (Liu *et al.*, 2017), *Avena chinensis* (Li *et al.*, 2019), *Carica papaya* L. (Lucas-Bautista *et al.*, 2020) e *Trichosanthes dioica* (Kabir *et al.*, 2016). Elas desempenham um papel durante o crescimento da planta e processos de desenvolvimento, como durante a germinação, senescência, polinização e embriogênese somática (Fráterová *et al.*, 2013; van Hengel *et al.*, 2001). Outra função das quitinases envolve respostas ao estresse abiótico. Alguns genes de quitinases são induzidos por uma variedade de estresses abióticos, incluindo estresse osmótico por frio, metais pesados e ferimentos (Dana *et al.*, 2006; Mészáros *et al.*, 2013; Guleria *et al.*, 2017; van Loon *et al.*, 2006). Muita atenção tem sido dada ao papel das quitinases na defesa contra a invasão de patógenos fúngicos (Graham; Sticklen, 1994).

Como exemplo de quitinase para controle de pragas e doenças, há um trabalho realizado por Durechova *et al.*, (2019), onde foi extraída uma quitinase de *Drosera rotundifolia* com posterior inserção em uma planta transgênica de tabaco para exploração do seu potencial antifúngico. A proteína encontrada foi denominada como DrChit, com

aproximadamente 32 kDa. A proteína purificada inibiu efetivamente o crescimento do fungo *T. viride*, indicando assim atividade quitinolítica e óbvio potencial antifúngico. Foi verificado ainda, que no ensaio antifúngico com as plantas transgênicas de tabaco, houve um atraso no crescimento fúngico em comparação com as plantas não transgênicas. Além dessa, outras quitinases isoladas que podem ser citadas são VcLysM1 e VcLysM2, extraídas de *Volvox carteri* (Kitaoku *et al.*, 2019), e Mo-chi1, extraída de *M. oleífera* (Bezerra *et al.*, 2018).

Outro trabalho relata uma quitinase purificada de sementes de aveia nua (*Avena chinensis*) usando técnicas cromatográficas simples. Sua massa molecular e seu ponto isoelétrico foram determinados em 35 kDa e 8,9, respectivamente. A análise parcial da sequência de aminoácidos e a pesquisa de homologia indicaram que provavelmente é uma quitinase de plantas de classe I, da família glicosil hidrolase 19. Com a quitina como substrato, o pH e a temperatura ótimos da quitinase foram pH 7,0 e 40 °C, respectivamente. Testes de atividade antifúngica *in vitro* demonstraram que esta quitinase purificada tinha atividade inibitória potente e dependente da dose sobre os fungos *Panus conchatus* e *T. reesei* (Li *et al.*, 2019).

Além da sua utilização no controle de patógenos fúngicos, as quitinases também podem ser empregadas no controle de insetos pragas, como é o caso de uma quitinase extraída do látex de *Euphorbia characias*, denominada como *Euphorbia* latex chitinase (ELC). Essa quitinase foi purificada e sua capacidade de degradar o exoesqueleto quitinoso de *Drosophila suzukii* foi testada. Foi relatado pelos autores que o tratamento com ELC causou redução do crescimento larval, maior mortalidade e degradação notável das estruturas externas do inseto. Dessa forma, a quitinase pode induzir um duplo efeito nas larvas de *D. suzukii*, uma lesão direta nos corpos larvais e uma ação como antinutritiva (Martos *et al.*, 2017).

#### 1.7 – Plantas do gênero *Capsicum* como fonte de peptídeos antifúngicos

As pimentas e pimentões nativos da América Central, da América do Sul e do México são pertencentes à família Solanaceae e ao gênero *Capsicum*. O gênero abrange 35 espécies, sendo elas domesticadas, semidomesticadas e silvestres. Cinco espécies foram domesticadas e exploradas devido a seus frutos pungentes utilizados como especiarias, são eles: *C. annuum* L., *C. frutescens* L., *C. chinense* Jacq., *C. baccatum* L.

e *C. pubescens* (Carrizo Garcia *et al.*, 2016; Sun *et al.*, 2014) (Figura 4). Atualmente estão dispersas por todo mundo, e no Brasil são cultivadas principalmente nos estados de Minas Gerais, Bahia, Goiás e Rio de Janeiro, sendo este último um importante centro de diversidade. As espécies do gênero possuem grande variabilidade quanto ao formato, tamanho, cor e posição de flores e frutos (Carvalho; Bianchetti, 2007; Bianchi *et al.*, 2016).

A cultura da pimenta apresenta grande importância econômica. Em 2018, a produção mundial foi de 40,9 milhões de toneladas, comercializadas como pimenta fresca ou seca, apresentando o sétimo lugar mundial em vegetais colhidos (Fao, 2019). Ela é muito utilizada na culinária tradicional, proporcionando cor, sabor e aroma em diversos pratos, além de ser utilizada na indústria cosmética e de apresentar potencial na medicina, por conter compostos como flavonoides, vitaminas C e E, carotenoides, minerais e capsaicinoides com efeitos antimicrobianos, analgésicos, anticarcinogênicos e antiobesidade (Batiha *et al.*, 2020; Hernández-Pérez *et al.*, 2020).

Nos últimos anos o gênero *Capsicum* vem sendo utilizado como modelo de estudo em muitos trabalhos, como nos descritos por Santos *et al.*, (2017), Baenas *et al.*, (2019), Moulin *et al.*, (2020), Bianchi *et al.*, (2020), entre outros. Dentro do nosso grupo, já foram isoladas e caracterizadas diversas famílias de peptídeos antimicrobianos pertencentes a este gênero, como: tionina-símile (Taveira *et al.*, 2014), defensina (Gebara *et al.*, 2020), proteínas transportadoras de lipídeos (LTPs) (Diz *et al.*, 2006); inibidores de proteinases (Silva *et al.*, 2021), peptídeos de ligação à quitina (Gonçalves *et al.*, 2024), entre outros. Na Tabela 2 estão listados peptídeos antimicrobianos e genes de peptídeos antimicrobianos identificados em diversos órgãos de plantas do gênero *Capsicum*. Já foi demonstrado que esses peptídeos apresentam atividade contra diversos tipos de microrganismos, incluindo bactérias, fungos fitopatogênicos e leveduras (Oliveira *et al.*, 2022).



**Figura 4. Espécies de pimenta utilizadas nessa pesquisa.** *C. annuum* (Acesso UENF 1381) (A), *C. baccatum* (Acesso UENF 1732) (B), *C. chinense* (Acesso UENF 1755) (C) e *C. frutescens* (Acesso UENF 1775) (D) (Fonte: Autor, 2023).

Para a criação de novos produtos biotecnológicos e ajudar a conter doenças microbianas, é de suma importância conhecer e preservar a flora, além de conhecer a etnofarmacologia do nosso país, como é o caso da utilização de plantas do gênero *Capsicum*. Sendo assim, o objetivo dessa tese foi isolar e caracterizar peptídeos de ligação à quitina de sementes de quatro espécies de *Capsicum*: *C. annuum*, *C. baccatum*, *C. chinense* e *C. frutescens* e posteriormente avaliar suas atividades antifúngicas e sua toxicidade *in vitro* e *in vivo* utilizando larvas de *Galleria mellonella* como modelo de estudo. A tese está organizada em três capítulos referentes a artigos científicos produzidos durante o doutorado. Cada capítulo conta com uma introdução, com os métodos utilizados, resultados e discussão. No final da tese estão apresentadas as principais conclusões do trabalho.

Gene name	Peptide name	Number of amino acid residues	Molecular mass	Family	Plant organ	Species	Antimicrobial activity in vitro	Reference
PepThi	-	-	-	Thionin- like	Fruits, Leaves, Stems, and Roots	C. anunum	not determined	Oh et al. (1999)
CATHIO N1	-	-	-	Thionin	Leave	C. annuum	not determined	Lee et al. (2000a)
-	<i>Ca</i> Thi	-	~ 6 kDa	Thionin	Fruit	C. annuum	F. solani, C. parapsilosis, C. pelliculosa, C. buinensis, C. mogii S. cerevisiae, C. albicans, C. tropicalis, E. coli P. aeruginosa	Taveira et al. (2014; 2016; 2017)
J1	J1	48	~ 5 kDa	Defensin	Fruit	C. annuum	F. oxsporum B. cinérea	Meyer et al. (1996)
j1-1 and j1-2				Defensin		C. annuum	not determined	(1990) Meyer et al. (1996); Houlné et al. (1998); Oh et al. (1999)
CADEF1	-	-	-	Defensin	Stem, Root, and Fruit of unripe peppers	C. annuum	not determined	Do et al. (2004)
CDef1	CDef1	47	5,2 kDa	Defensin	Fruit	C. annuum	not determined	Maarof et al. (2011)
-	IIFF7Ca	-	~ 5 kDa	Defensin	Fruit	C. annuum	C. gloeosporioides	Maraca- hipes et al. (2019a)
-	Cadef1	~ 40	5 kDa	Defensin	Fruit	C. annuum	C. gloeosporioides	Maraca- hipes et al. (2019b)
CanThio1	CanThio1	64	7,22 kDa	Defensin	Flowers	C. annuum	not determined	Nikte et al.
CanThio2	CanThio2	72	8,36 kDa					(2019)
CanThio3	CanThio3	63	7,13 kDa					
CanThio4	CanThio4	81	9,32 kDa					
CanThio5	CanThio5	59	6,73 kDa					
CanThio6	CanThio6	59	6,70 kDa					
CanThio7	CanThio7	59	6,73 kDa					
CanThio8 - -	CanThio8 CaDeF2.1 CaDeF2.2	59 40 40	6,81 kDa 5 kDa ~ 6 kDa	Defensin	Fruit	C. annuum	C. buinensis C. tropicalis C. parapsilosis M. tuberculosis	Gebara et al. (2020)
-	CcDef3	-	~ 6,5 kDa	Defensin	Fruit	C. chinense	C. albicans C. buinensis C. tropicalis	Aguieiras et al. (2021)
CALTPI CALTPII CALTPIII	- -	- -	- -	LTP	Leaves, Stalks, Fruit	C. annuum	not determined	Jung et al. (2003)

**Tabela 2**. Peptídeos antimicrobianos e genes de peptídeos antimicrobianos identificadosno gênero Capsicum (Adaptado de Oliveira et al., 2022)

# 2 – OBJETIVOS

#### 2.1 Objetivo geral

Isolar, caracterizar e avaliar a atividade antimicrobiana de peptídeos com propriedade de ligação à quitina sobre fungos fitopatogênicos e leveduras de interesse médico a partir de sementes do gênero *Capsicum*.

#### 2.2 Objetivos específicos

A: Purificar peptídeos de ligação à quitina de sementes de *C. annuum*, *C. baccatum*, *C. chinense* e *C. frutescens*;

B: Avaliar a atividade antimicrobiana dos peptídeos ligantes à quitina sobre leveduras do gênero *Candida* e fungos do gênero *Fusarium* e avaliar alguns dos possíveis mecanismos de ação;

C: Determinar a massa molecular e a estrutura primária dos peptídeos identificados;

D: Determinar a estrutura tridimensional dos peptídeos de ligação à quitina identificados e selecionados;

E: Analisar a hemotoxicidade *in vitro* dos peptídeos de ligação à quitina identificados e selecionados contra eritrócitos de carneiro;

F: Analisar a toxicidade *in vivo* dos peptídeos de ligação à quitina identificados e selecionados sobre larvas de *Galleria mellonella*.

# 3 – CAPÍTULO 1

Chitin-binding peptides from *Capsicum annuum* with antifungal activity and low toxicity to mammalian cells and *Galleria mellonella* larvae

#### **Chapter 1: Manuscript published**

# Chitin-binding peptides from *Capsicum annuum* with antifungal activity and low toxicity to mammalian cells and *Galleria mellonella* larvae

Gabriella Rodrigues Gonçalves<sup>1</sup> | Marciele Souza Silva<sup>1</sup> | Layrana Azevedo dos Santos<sup>1</sup> Larissa Maximiniano Resende<sup>1</sup> | Gabriel Bonan Taveira<sup>1</sup> | Thomas Zacarone Afonso Guimarães<sup>1</sup> | Sarah Rodrigues Ferreira<sup>2</sup> | Antonia Elenir Amancio Oliveira<sup>2</sup> | Celso Shiniti Nagano<sup>3</sup> | Renata Pinheiro Chaves<sup>3</sup> | André de Oliveira Carvalho<sup>1</sup> | Rosana Rodrigues<sup>4</sup> | Olney Vieira da Motta<sup>5</sup> | Valdirene Moreira Gomes<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Laboratório de Fisiologia e Bioquímica de Microrganismos, Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brazil, 28013-602.

<sup>2</sup>Laboratório de Química e Função de Proteínas e Peptídeos, Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brazil, 28013-602.

<sup>3</sup>Laboratório de Bioquímica Marinha (BioMar-Lab), Departamento de Engenharia de Pesca, Universidade Federal do Ceará (UFC), Ceará, Brazil, 60455-900.

<sup>4</sup>Laboratório de Melhoramento e Genética Vegetal, Centro de Ciências e Tecnologias Agropecuárias, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brazil, 28013-602.

<sup>5</sup>Laboratório de Sanidade Animal, Centro de Ciências e Tecnologias Agropecuárias, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brazil, 28013-602.



DOI: 10.1002/pep2.24338

#### ARTICLE

# Chitin-binding peptides from *Capsicum annuum* with antifungal activity and low toxicity to mammalian cells and *Galleria mellonella* larvae

Gabriella Rodrigues Gonçalves <sup>1</sup>   Marciele Souza Silva <sup>1</sup>
Layrana Azevedo dos Santos <sup>1</sup>   Larissa Maximiniano Resende <sup>1</sup>
Gabriel Bonan Taveira <sup>1</sup>   Thomas Zacarone Afonso Guimarães <sup>1</sup>
Sarah Rodrigues Ferreira <sup>2</sup>   Antonia Elenir Amancio Oliveira <sup>2</sup>
Celso Shiniti Nagano <sup>3</sup>   Renata Pinheiro Chaves <sup>3</sup>   André de Oliveira Carvalho <sup>1</sup>
Rosana Rodrigues <sup>4</sup>   Olney Vieira da Motta <sup>5</sup>   Valdirene Moreira Gomes <sup>1</sup> <sup>©</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Laboratório de Fisiologia e Bioquímica de Microrganismos, Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, Brazil

<sup>2</sup>Laboratório de Química e Função de Proteinas e Peptideos, Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, Brazil

<sup>3</sup>Laboratório de Bioquímica Marinha (BioMar-Lab), Departamento de Engenharia de Pesca, Universidade Federal do Ceará (UFC), Ceará, Brazil

<sup>4</sup>Laboratório de Melhoramento e Genética Vegetal, Centro de Ciências e Tecnologias Agropecuárias, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, Brazil

<sup>5</sup>Laboratório de Sanidade Animal, Centro de Ciências e Tecnologias Agropecuárias, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, Brazil

#### Correspondence

Valdirene Moreira Gomes, Laboratório de Fisiologia e Bioquímica de Microrganismos, Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ 28013-602, Brazil. Email: valmg@uenf.br

#### Funding information

Fundação Carlos Chagas Filho de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Grant/Award Number: E-26/200567/2023; E-26/210353/2022; Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico, Grant/Award Number: 307590/2021-6

#### Abstract

In recent years, there have been several reports of the presence of toxic proteins in cultivated or wild plant species, which are implicated in plant defense mechanisms. The existence of these proteins raises the possibility of biotechnological applications originating from the development of new techniques to combat diseases caused by fungi. In this context, there are chitin-binding proteins. Chitin is an essential component of the fungal cell wall, so chitin-binding proteins are important in controlling fungal growth. Thus, the objective of this study was to characterize and evaluate the in vitro antimicrobial effect of peptides with chitin binding properties isolated from Capsicum annuum seeds on the growth of the genus Candida. Initially, proteins were extracted in phosphate pH 5.4, and a chitin column was equilibrated with sodium acetate (0.08 M, pH 4.5), where 50 mg of the peptide-rich heated fraction from each species was applied. Subsequently, the retained material was eluted with 0.1 M HCI. Tricine SDS-PAGE was used to visualize the peptides. After chromatography, two fractions, F1 (not retained in the chitin column) and F2 (retained in the chitin column, named Ca-F2), were obtained. Electrophoresis showed major protein bands between 3 and 14 kDa. Electrophoresis from chitin affinity chromatography also showed major bands between 3 and 14 kDa, especially for Ca-F2 retained in the column. One peptide obtained from the F2 fraction was identified by mass spectrometry and showed

Pept Sci. 2024;e24338. https://doi.org/10.1002/pep2.24338 wileyonlinelibrary.com/peptidesci

© 2024 Wiley Periodicals LLC. 1 of 12

similarity to seed 2S albumin, named Ca-Alb2S. Ca-F2 inhibited the growth of C. albicans and C. tropicalis, was not toxic to mammalian cells and still had a high survival rate when tested in vivo on Galleria mellonella larvae. This is the first report of chitin-binding peptides isolated from Capsicum seeds through an affinity column and their biological activities. These studies are at an early stage; therefore, other tests are needed to study the mechanism of action of the fraction, since the findings indicate great potential for the development of new antifungal molecules.

#### KEYWORDS

2S albumin, antimicrobial activity, Capsicum, fungi

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

For many centuries, diseases caused by bacteria, viruses and protozoa have been considered major public health problems. In the last century, fungal diseases did not have as much impact on human health, but this has changed as the number of immunocompromised patients has increased, as these patients are highly susceptible to fungal infections.<sup>[1]</sup> In this context, the incidence of candidiasis has been observed in systemic infections (candidemia), which is a serious infectious disease with high mortality caused by yeasts of the genus Candida that are more susceptible in immunosuppressed patients.<sup>[2]</sup> It is predicted that if antimicrobial resistance continues to grow worldwide, by the year 2050, approximately 10 million people will die annually from drug-resistant infections.[3] In addition to the limited number of effective drugs available, most cause adverse effects in patients, preventing their prolonged use.[4] Yeasts of the Candida genus are highly adaptable microorganisms that are able to develop resistance following prolonged treatment with antifungals.<sup>[5]</sup> In this sense, it is necessary to study alternative compounds for efficient treatments of infectious diseases.

Currently, research focused on biotechnology must be thought within the idea of One Health, since human health is interdependent of other species and the environment,<sup>[6]</sup> which requires the creation of new substances of biotechnological interest that can provide sustainable development and positive impacts on the Brazilian and world economy.

Plants synthesize a variety of proteins capable of reversibly binding to matrices that have chitin in their composition. Chitin, an insoluble,  $\beta$ -1,4-linked homopolymer of N-acetyl-D-glucosamine, is found in insect exoskeletons, crustacean shells, and eggshells of nematodes and is one of the main constituents of fungal cell walls. The high rate of chitin production from these organisms makes it the second most abundant polysaccharide in nature, second only to cellulose.<sup>[7-9]</sup>

Classical members of this chitin-binding protein (CBP) family contain one or more chitin-binding domains. These proteins are found in different families, such as lectins, chitinases, heveins, vicilins and peptide families as the Ac-AMP type (*Amaranthus caudatus* antimicrobial peptides).<sup>[10]</sup> Previous studies have reported the antifungal activity of plant CBPs against phytopathogens<sup>[11,12]</sup> and Candida spp.<sup>[13,14]</sup> In Table 1, some chitin-binding peptides have been identified.

More recently, Mo-CBP3 and Mo-CBP4, two small chitinbinding albumin 2S-like proteins, were purified from *M. oleifera* seeds. Mo-CBP4 was able to cause an increase in permeability of the microconidia membrane and was shown to be a potent antidermatophytic protein causing membrane permeability, ROS overproduction and damage to the cell wall in fungi.<sup>[18,19]</sup> These works opened the door for the study of peptides or small proteins similar to reserve proteins and their antifungal properties, such as vicilins, vicilin-like and 2S albumins.

In the case of pepper plants, only a chitin-binding protein (CBP) family member *CaChiIV1* from C *annuum* L was reported. Evidence suggests that the *CaChiIV1* gene plays a prominent role in the defense mechanism of pepper plants against P. *capsici* infection.<sup>[23]</sup> In recent years, within our group, several *Capsicum* peptides have already been isolated and characterized, such as thionine-like,<sup>[24]</sup> defensin,<sup>[25]</sup> lipid transport proteins (LTPs)<sup>[24]</sup> and proteinase inhibitors.<sup>[27]</sup> In this study, for the first time, we used a chitin-binding column to purify peptiderich fractions from seeds of *C.annuum* with chitin-binding activity and antimicrobial activity against yeasts.

#### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 | Plant material

The seeds of C. annuum (Access UENF 1381) were provided by the Laboratório de Melhoramento Genético Vegetal (LMGV), Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Brazil. The seeds of C. annuum were sown in 72-cell polystyrene trays with substrate fertilized with formulation (4 N/14P/8 K) (Vivatto<sup>®</sup>). The trays were kept in a growth chamber at 28°C and irrigated once a day. After the emergence of two pairs of definitive leaves, the seedlings were transplanted individually into plastic pots (5 L) containing a mixture of soil and substrate (in a 2:1 ratio). Then, the pots were transferred to an acclimatized greenhouse. The plants were irrigated once a day until the harvest of the ripe fruits.
TABLE1 Identification of chitin-binding peptides, source from which they were extracted and microorganisms to which they have activity.

Chitin bindind peptides	Plant	Activity	Reference
Pn_AMP1 and Pn_AMP2	Pharbitis nil	Activity against Botrytis cinerea, Colletotrichum langenarium, Fusarium oxysporum, Phytophthora capsici, Saccharomyces cerevisiae	[15]
EAFP1 and EAFP2	Eucommia ulmoides	Aculops lycopersici, F. moniliforme, F. oxysporum, C. gossypii	[15]
Fa_AMP1 and Fa_AMP2	Fagopyrum esculentum	Clavibacter michiganensis, Agrobacterium rhizogenes, F. oxysporum, Geotrichum candidum	[15]
WSMoL	Moringa oleífera	Negative effect on the development of Anagasta kuehniella	[16]
mO1 and mO2	Moringa oleifera	Inhibits the growth of phytopathogenic fungi	[17]
Mo-CBP2	M. oleífera	Activity against Candida	[14]
Mo-CBP3	M. oleífera	Inhibits germination and mycelial growth of phytopathogenic fungus	[18]
Mo-CBP4	M. oleífera	In vitro activity against Trichophyton mentagrophytes	[19]
EuCHIT2	E. ulmoides Oliver	Increased resistance to Erysiphe cichoracearum in Tobacco plants	[20]
DrChit	Drosera rotundifolia	Trichoderma viride growth inhibition	[21]
CJP-4	Cryptomeria japônica	-	[22]
CaChilV1	C. annuum	P. capsici	[23]

### 2.2 | Microorganisms

The yeast cells were provided by were obtained of the biological collection of fungi from the Departamento de Biologia, Universidade Federal do Ceará, Fortaleza, Brazil. The yeast species *Candida albicans* (CE022) and *C. tropicalis* (CE017) were cultivated in Sabouraud medium and kept in a refrigerator at 4°C in the Laboratório de Fisiologia e Bioquímica de Microrganismos (LFBM), Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes–RJ.

# 2.3 | Protein extraction and precipitation with ammonium sulfate

Initially, 5 g of seeds was ground with the aid of a mortar, pestle, and liquid nitrogen to form very fine-grained flour. After obtaining the flour, the extraction of the proteins immediately followed. The proteins were extracted from the flour according to the methodology described by Diz et al.[26] First, the proteins were extracted in phosphate buffer (0.01 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.015 M NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 0.1 M KCl, 1.5% EDTA), pH 5.4, at a ratio of 1:10 (5 g flour: 50 mL buffer), for 3 h under constant stirring at 4°C. The homogenate was subjected to centrifugation (15,000g for 30 min), the residue was discarded, and ammonium sulfate was added to the supernatant for precipitation at 90% saturation. The solution was kept overnight at 4°C. After this process, the suspension was centrifuged again at 15,000 x g for 30 min. Proteins precipitated in the 0-90% ammonium sulfate saturation range were recovered by resuspension in 10 mL of distilled water and heated at 80°C for 15 min. Then, they were submitted to the last centrifugation (10.000g for 10 min). The supernatant was dialyzed against distilled water (avg. flat width 32 mm, 1.27 in.) at 4°C for 3 days and finally lyophilized.

### 2.4 | Protein quantification

Quantitative protein determinations were performed using the bicinchoninic acid method, according to Smith et al.,<sup>[28]</sup> with ovalbumin (Sigma) used as the standard protein.

### 2.5 | Isolation of proteins and peptides with affinity for chitin

The chitin (poly-(1  $\rightarrow$  4)- $\beta$ -N-acetyl-D-glucosamine) used for this study was obtained from shrimp shells-practical grade, powder and commercially available from Sigma-Aldrich. Chitin was chemically treated according to Miranda et al.<sup>[29]</sup> where 25 g of industrial chitin was acidified with 500 mL of 100 mM HCl. This mixture was incubated for 24 h at 4°C with periodic shaking. After 24 h, all HCl was removed, and 250 mL of 100 mM NaOH was added to the resulting precipitate. This mixture was heated at 100°C for 16 h. After heating. the NaOH was removed, and another 250 mL of NaOH was added to the precipitate for another 16 h of heating. This step was repeated once again, resulting in three 16 h warm-ups. After the last heating, all NaOH was removed, and 200 mM HCl was added to the precipitate. After the last acidification, the HCl was removed from the mixture, and distilled water was added to the precipitate for storage. A chitin column was equilibrated with sodium acetate buffer (0.1 M, pH 5.5), and a 50 mg peptide-rich heated fraction (PRHF), solubilized in the same sodium acetate buffer, was applied to the column. Chromatography was initially performed with equilibrium buffer. The retained fraction was eluted with HCI (0.05 M) solution, and the absorbance of the desorbed proteins was monitored at 280 nm. The flow rate used was 1 mL.min<sup>-1</sup>, and the volume used was 3 mL per tube. Protein peaks were collected and recovered after dialysis and lyophilization.<sup>[30]</sup>

### 2.6 | Tricine gel electrophoresis in the presence of SDS

Tricine-SDS-PAGE was performed according to the methodology described by Schägger and von Jagow.<sup>[31]</sup> For gel assembly, 8 × 10 cm and 7 × 10 cm glass plates and 0.75 mm spacers were used. The separating gel was prepared at a 16.4% acrylamide/bis-acrylamide concentration, and the concentration gel was prepared at 3.9%. The samples were heated for 5 min at 100°C and centrifuged at 15,000g for 5 min. After these procedures, 20  $\mu$ L of sample was applied to the gel. The run was performed at a constant voltage of 24 V for approximately 16 h. M3546 (Sigma-Aldrich) was used as a protein molecular weight marker. Molecular mass of proteins in Da (26.600; 17.000; 14.200; 6.500; 3.496; 1.060).

### 2.7 | Mass spectrometry

The identification of peptides present in Ca-F2 was carried out in collaboration with the Marine Biochemistry Laboratory (BioMar-Lab), Department of Fisheries Engineering, Federal University of Ceará (UFC), Ceará, Brazil. After tricine-SDS-PAGE, one band present in Ca-F2 was extracted, and then, tryptic peptides were obtained according to Shevchenko et al.[32] and subjected to LC-MS/MS analysis. The instrument used was a hybrid mass spectrometer (ESI-Q-ToF) (Synapt HDMS, Waters Corp, MA, USA). Data collection and processing parameters were adjusted as described by Carneiro et al.[33] The interpretation of the spectra was performed using the Mascot program, and the sequenced peptides were submitted to alignment using the BLASTp tool.[34] Sequences with a high percentage of identity were chosen and subjected to multiple alignments using the CLUSTAL Multiple Sequence Alignment by MUSCLE program (3.8).[35] The calculation of the percentages of positive and identical residues was carried out considering only the residues obtained by mass spectrometry.

### 2.8 | Docking of 2S albumin with the tetramer of N-acetylglucosamine (NAG)<sub>4</sub>

The peptide sequences identified were aligned using BLASTp with proteins deposited in the Protein Data Bank (PDB). The models of the protein with the greatest identity were used for the docking experiments. The docking of 2S albumin with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> was performed using the DockThor v.2 program.<sup>[36]</sup> The blind docking strategy was performed using a search space defined by a 40 Å  $\times$  40 Å  $\times$  40 Å cube, covering 100% of the protein surface. The NAG<sub>4</sub> model was created from PyMol, with the Azahar plug-in to design oligosaccharides. All rotations of the ligand were free to rotate while the atoms of the protein were kept rigid. The standard search algorithm of the site was used with 1,000,000 evaluations and 24 executions per experiment. The best 2S Albumin-ligand complex was evaluated using affinity energy value and submitted to the PLIP Web Tool program,<sup>[37]</sup> and to

the LigPlot+ v program. 2.2.4.<sup>[38]</sup> Noncovalent interactions between 2S albumin and (NAG)<sub>4</sub> were identified by the programs.

### 2.9 | Trypsin enzyme inhibition assay

The residual trypsin activity in the presence of Ca-F2 was measured based on the hydrolytic activity of commercial bovine trypsin on the N $\alpha$ -Benzoyl-DL-arginine 4-nitroanilide hydrochloride (BApNA) substrate after incubation with the fractions. For the assay, Tris-HCl buffer (50 mM, pH 8.0), 25 µL of BApNA substrate (5 mM), 10 µL of trypsin (1 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>) and aliquots of fraction (50 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>) in a final volume of 200 µL were used. The sample was incubated in a water bath (Quimis) at 37°C for 30 min. To stop the reaction, 30% acetic acid (100 µL) was added. Subsequently, photometric readings of the reactions were performed based on the p-nitroanilide released at a wavelength of 405 nm (Spectroquant Pharo 100, Merck).<sup>[39]</sup>

### 2.10 | Effect of peptides on fungal growth

With the aid of a seeding loop, an aliquot was removed from the petri dish containing C. albicans colonies, and another aliquot was removed from the petri dish containing C. tropicalis colonies. Subsequently, these aliquots were placed in new petri dishes containing Sabouraud agar (10 g. L peptone, 40 g. L D(+)glucose, 15 g. L agar) (Merck) to generate striations in the middle. These new plates were kept in an oven at 30°C for 24 h. After growth, the cells were removed from the petri dish with the aid of a seeding loop and homogenized in 10 mL of Sabouraud broth (10 g. L peptone, 20 g. L D(+)glucose) (Merck) for quantification in a Neubauer chamber (LaborOptik) with the aid of an optical microscope (Axiovison A2, Zeiss). Subsequently, the yeast (1 × 10<sup>4</sup> cel.mL<sup>-1</sup>) were incubated in Sabouraud broth containing different concentrations of the fractions obtained from the seeds. The assay was performed in cell culture microplates (96 wells) at 30°C for a period of 24 h. Cell growth was determined by optical density, monitored every 6 h, in a microplate reader at a wavelength of 620 nm. Each test was performed in triplicate. The entire procedure was performed under aseptic conditions in a laminar flow hood.[40] Cell growth without the addition of proteins was also determined.

### 2.11 | Plasma membrane permeabilization

The membrane permeabilization of *C. albicans* cells treated with 100  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> *Ca*-F2 was measured by SYTOX Green uptake. After 24 h of yeast cell incubation with protein fractions, control and treated cells were incubated with the fluorescent probe SYTOX Green (0.2  $\mu$ M) (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) for 10 min at 30°C and analyzed by DIC using an optical microscope (Axioplan. A2, Zeis, Germany) equipped with a fluorescence filter set for fluoresceni detection (excitation wavelengths 450–490 nm; emission 500 nm).<sup>[41]</sup> The percentage of permeabilized cells was calculated based on the

total number of cells in the differential interference contrast (DIC) and fluorescence images of five random microscopic fields for each sample, assuming the total cell number in bright field of each sample as 100%. The percentage of permeabilized cells was statistically determined using a one-way ANOVA with means differences at p < 0.05 considered to be significant.

### 2.12 | Cell viability analysis

To analyze the effect of *Ca*-F2 on the cell viability of *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* yeasts, a growth inhibition assay was initially performed to obtain colonies. For plating, after 24 h of incubation, the control cells (without *Ca*-F2) and the test cells (with *Ca*-F2) were diluted 1000×. A 60  $\mu$ L aliquot of the dilution was spread with a Drigalski loop over the surface from a Petri dish containing Sabouraud agar and cultivated at 30°C for 36 h. At the end of this period, the colony forming units were determined, and the Petri dishes were photographed.<sup>[42]</sup> The experiments were performed in triplicate, and the results are shown assuming that the control represents 100% cell viability.

### 2.13 | Hemolytic activity

The hemolytic activity of Ca-F2 was determined against defibrinated sheep red blood cells (sRBC) using the methodology described by Oren and Shai with modifications.<sup>[43]</sup> Fresh defibrinated sRBCs were rinsed with saline (0.15 M NaCl), followed by centrifugation for 10 min at 2400g and immediate resuspension in saline solution. Ca-F2 was prepared in microtubes containing saline solution. Subsequently, Ca-F2 at concentrations of 200, 100, and 50 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> was incubated at 37°C for 1 h with the sRBC suspension (50 µL) (final erythrocyte concentration, 1% vol/vol). After incubation, the samples were centrifuged at 2400g for 10 min, and the supernatant was transferred to a well in a 96-well microplate. Free hemoglobin content was measured at 405 nm (ABS405). A solution containing Triton X-100 (1%) was used as a positive hemolysis control (C+), and erythrocytes in saline were used as a negative control (C-). The percentage of hemolytic activity was calculated assuming that the positive control represents 100% hemolysis according to the formula: % of hemolytic activity =  $100 \times (Ca-F2)$ ABS405 - C- ABS405/(C+ ABS405 - C- ABS405). The results presented are mean values obtained in the experiment, carried out in triplicate. Dose-response curves were constructed, and \*p < 0.05 compared to the group treated with Triton X-100 (100% hemolytic activity) by Tukey's test.

### 2.14 | Effect of Ca-F2 toxicity on G. Mellonella larvae

Assays were performed as described by Mylonakis et al.<sup>[44]</sup> with modifications. Twenty last-instar G. *mellonella* larvae ranging from 250 to 300 mg in weight and 2 cm were used in each of the treatment and control groups. A Hamilton syringe was used to inject 10  $\mu$ L of each concentration of *Ca*-F2 (200 and 400  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1</sup>) into the hemocoel of each caterpillar through the last proleg. Two groups were included as controls for the general viability of the larvae: one group was inoculated with PBS, and the other suffered only the injury of the injection needle. After the injection, the larvae were incubated in Petri dishes at 37°C, and the number of dead larvae was counted every 24 hours for a period of 7 days. During this incubation period, the larvae were kept without any type of nutrition. The larvae were considered dead when they showed no movement in response to touch. Percent survival curves were plotted, and estimates of differences in survival (log rank Mantel-Cox and Breslow-Wilcoxon tests) were analyzed by the Kaplan-Meier method using software (GraphPad Software, Inc., California, CA, USA). The assay was performed in duplicate.

### 2.15 | Statistical analysis

Data from yeast and filamentous fungi growth inhibition assays were evaluated by one-way ANOVA. Differences in means of p < 0.05were considered significant All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism software (version 5.0 for Windows).

### 3 | RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

### 3.1 | Chitin affinity chromatography and electrophoretic profile

Chitin binding proteins were obtained from aqueous extracts of *C. annuum* by chitin affinity chromatography. The chromatogram showed that the extract was fractionated into two major peaks called F1 and F2 (named Ca-F2), with F1 being the nonretained fraction in the column and F2 being the fraction retained in the column for *C. annuum* (Figure 1a). These results indicate the presence of proteins and peptides with chitin binding capability. The electrophoretic profile of the fractions obtained by chromatography can be seen in Figure 1b. We can observe that the bands in both fractions (F1 and F2) have molecular masses in the marker range between 3.0 and 26.6 kDa (Figure 1b); however, there are bands in the two fractions with molecular masses above the 26.4 kDa band.

Other works have already demonstrated the presence of different peptides with antimicrobial activity in *Capsicum* seeds, but these peptides have been isolated through methodologies other than chitin affinity columns.<sup>[27,39,45,46]</sup> Therefore, this is the first work that uses a chitin column to obtain peptide-rich fractions with antimicrobial activity from the seeds of the *Capsicum* genus. In other plant species, low molecular weight proteins have been purified using a chitin affinity column. One of the main examples is the antifungal protein Mo-CBP3. This is a thermostable chitin-binding protein (14.3 kDa) with antifungal activity isolated from *M. oleifera* seeds. Mo-CBP3 is a potent fungicidal agent inhibiting both the spore germination and

### <sup>6 of 12</sup> WILEY-PeptideScience-



FIGURE 1 Chromatogram obtained after chitin affinity chromatography of fractions of C. annumm. (a) Protein elution was monitored by absorbance at 280 nm. The flow was 0.5 mL.min<sup>-1</sup>, and the volume used was 3 mL per tube. Electropheheretic visualization by SDS-tricine-PAGE of the peptide-enriched F1 fraction (b) and peptide-enriched F2 fraction (c). M: Low mass molecular marker (kDa). Arrows indicate the bands that were subjected to mass spectrometry.

mycelial growth of F. solani.<sup>[18,47]</sup> The Ca-F2 described in this work showed similar molecular weights to Mo-CBP3.

### 3.2 | Mass spectrometry sequencing

For the identification of some peptides obtained in Ca-F2, some main bands were submitted to mass spectrometry. However, only one sample obtained a result with similarity to proteins in the databases: the major band of Ca-F2 (above 6.5 kDa) named Ca.1 (20 µg). The spectra were interpreted by Mascot software, and fragments of peptide residue sequences were obtained. All residues were subjected to identification of similar proteins in the NCBI BLASTP database. The obtained peptides MMMMRMQQEEMQPR (Ca.1) were similar to 2S albumin, a seed storage protein (Figure 2). After this process, we named the peptide Ca-Alb2S.

Mass spectrometry sequencing of the Ca.1 band of Ca-F2 showed similarity with proteins of the 2S albumin family (Figure 2). Seed 2S albumins constitute an important class of low-molecularweight, multifunctional reserve proteins that generally constitute 20–50% of the total protein content of seeds.<sup>[48]</sup> They have been reported as proteins that have toxic properties against several organisms, including parasites.<sup>[49]</sup> Recent studies report that chitin-binding proteins may show similarities with 2S albumins, as shown for Mo-CBP3 and Mo-CBP4 proteins.<sup>[12,19]</sup>

## 3.3 | Docking of 2S albumin with the tetramer of N-acetylglucosamine (NAG)<sub>4</sub>

The peptide sequences obtained from С. annuum. MMMMRMQQEEMQPR (Figure 2), showed 85,71% identity and 92% coverage with the 2S albumin of Bertholletia excelsa (2LVF\_A). The 2S albumin structure was submitted to a blind molecular docking with (NAG)4, and the best model showed negative values of affinity energy (-7.075 kcal/mol), indicating spontaneous binding. The results from docking experiments showed that the 2S albumin amino acids GLU92, ASN93, SER96, and PHE114 form hydrogen bonds with (NAG)4 (Figure 3b; Table 2). These amino acids are present in the 5<sup>a</sup> alpha helix exposed in the model surface (Figure 3a). Hydrophobic interactions of 2S Albumin residues MET42 and ARG97 with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> were identified by LigPlot+ v. 2.2.4 program (Table 2). These amino acids are present in loop regions (Figure 3c).

In silico molecular modeling of 2S albumin isolated from C. annuum was performed using 2S albumin from B. excelsa as a template. The docking of 2S albumin with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> showed negative affinity energy values (-7.075 kcal/mol), indicating spontaneous binding and interactions by hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions. The affinity energy value obtained here can be compared, for example, to the bond between the chitinase enzyme that hydrolyzes its substrate formed by N-acetylglucosamine monomers, between -4.7 and -9.2 kcal/mol, depending on the amount of monomers in the oligomer.<sup>[50]</sup> Previous work, such as that by Miranda et al.<sup>[29]</sup> and Ventury et al., [51] also demonstrated molecular docking, however, with the vicilin protein. In the work carried out by Miranda et al.,[29] the chitin binding site with (NAG)4 also indicated spontaneous binding, with negative energy values (-6.793 kcal/mol). Interactions by hydrogen bonds, salt bridges and hydrophobicity involving amino acids from this chitin binding site and (NAG)<sub>4</sub> have also been demonstrated. The docking performed by Ventury et al.[51] also demonstrated spontaneous binding, with energy values of (-7.527 kcal/mol), and interactions by hydrogen bonds, salt bridges and hydrophobicity. In the work carried out, an alpha-helix region was bound to chitin. Similar results were observed in the work carried out by Miranda et al.<sup>[29]</sup>

### 3.4 | Effect of Ca-F2 on the inhibition of trypsin enzyme activity

A residual trypsin activity assay for Ca-F2 was performed (data not shown). Ca-F2 showed 15% inhibition of trypsin enzymatic activity at a concentration of 50 μg.mL<sup>-1</sup>.

This work also evaluated the ability of Ca-F2 obtained after affinity chromatography to inhibit the activity of trypsin, an enzyme of the serine protease class that can be found in pathogenic organisms that colonize plant tissues.<sup>[52]</sup> According to the results obtained, it was

PeptideScience_WILEY 7 of 12
The address former former
 ноным-одляндия14 I(h) Р(h)

Bn-L1a	C		and a first of the second s			+ [4]	\$ 1.41
Bn-L1b	2 LVF_A	EA EAQ EEC REQNOR QOMLS HORINING ONE EST YOT MPRIRGHEP HMS ECC EQLEGINDE SOR CEGLR	MMM-RIMOGREMOTR	GEOMREMMELAENTE SECOLS PHECENGG STAGE	114	79	85
BB-LZ  MOM-RINGOZEKO INCESSIONO NALALMI.  57  79    B 6EU 54  FRAT VTT TVV ELEN- DOC PEDMOR QUMLS HOLMMINGHARES PYDTMIRIEREP HOS EOC EQLEGINE SOCIEGILR.  MOM-RINGOZEKO INCESSIONO NALALMI.  57  79    P 044 03  FRAT VTT TVV ELEN- DOC PEDMOR QUMLS HOLMMINGHARES PYDTMIRIEREP HOS EOC EQLEGINE SOCIEGILR.  MOM-RINGOZEKO INCESSIONO NALALMI.  57  79	Bn-L1s	PREGNEP HIS ECC EULEGNOE ECR CEG LR	MINNEN-QQIENQIP	GROMREMMENAE NL	57	100	100
B 6EU 54 FRAT VTT TWVEE EN- ODC PEDMOR OOMLS HCHMMRIQUEKESP YOT MURIEGNED INS ECCEDILEGMEE SCRCEGIR	Bn-L1b	PREGMEP IMS ECC EQLEGMEE YCR CEG LR	MMM-RM-QQFEMQPR	SEQUERIMENTAL	56	93	92
P044 03 FRAT VTT TWVEEEBQEECREQMQRQQMLS HCRMMNQQMEESPYQTMPRIGMEPBAS ECCEQLEGMEE SCRCEGIR	Bn-LZ		MMM-RMQQ(ENQIR	GROMRRAMAR NL	57	79	85
	B-6EU 54	FPAT VTT TVV EE EN- QDC PEQMOR QOMLS HCRIMIN ROMMKESP YQT MPRIRGMEP HMS ECC EQLEGINDE SCR CEG LR	MMM-RMMQQ(EMQPR	SEQUERMINERARIES FOR SECOLS FOR CPINAG SNA GF	145	79	85
xp_059664177 TTTTTTTVDEEDANQOSORRCRD_FORQOOLSHCENTLSSSSYELEVNNQOODELROCCOLENNED	P04403	FPAT VTT TVV EE ENQ EEC REQ MOR QOMLS HORIMIN RQOME ESP YQT NPR RGMEP EMS ECC EQL EGMDE SOR CEG LR	MINNEN-QQFENQIP	SEQMERIMER LARNIP SECOLS PRECINGES IA GP	146	100	100
	XP_059664177	T TIT TTT VDE ED ANQ QSQ PRC RDQ FQ RQQ QLS HCE MYL SS SSQ YEL EVMINQ QQQ HLR QCC QQL ENMDE QCR CEG LR	MMM-RROODEG-OMR	SEEM REMINE EAQ OLD DRC NMR PR RCQ NQR SWF	145	64	71

FIGURE 2 Alignment of amino acid residues of the tryptic peptide of a Ca-F2 protein band obtained from C. annuum seeds by chitin affinity chromatography (the band subjected to mass spectrometry is indicated by an arrow in Figure 1c). The band showed similarity with 2S albumin proteins from *Bertholletia excelsa* (UniProt accession code: 2LVF\_A), *Bertholletia excelsa* H.B. K (Bn-L1a, Bn-L1b, Bn-L2), *Bertholletia excelsa* – Brazil Nut (UniProt accession code: B6EU54 and P04403) and *Cornus florida* (UniProt accession code: XP\_059664177.1). The red box indicates the region of similarity between the peptide identified by masses and some 2S albumin. I indicates the percentage of identical residues highlighted in the red box region, and P indicates the percentage of positive residues, that is, those that have the same biochemical characteristics.



FIGURE 3 Docking of 2S albumin with the tetramer of N-acetylglucosamine (NAG)<sub>4</sub>. (a) Three-dimensional structure of the 2S albumin protein interacting with (NAG)<sub>4</sub>. (b) Zoom of the region of the 2S albumin-(NAG)<sub>4</sub> interaction. Dashed blue lines = hydrogen bonds, dark blue rods = nitrogen atoms, red rods = oxygen atoms. (c) 2D diagram representing the interactions between amino acid residues of 2S albumin with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> (LigPlot + program v 2.2.4). Green arcs = hydrophobic interactions, blue dotted lines = hydrogen bonds, the numbers express the distance (Å) of the hydrogen bonds, black spheres = carbon atom and blue spheres = nitrogen atoms, red spheres = oxygen atoms.

clear that of the fractions tested, Ca-F2 was able to inhibit the activity of the trypsin enzyme (data not shown). It has already been described that peptides isolated from Capsicum seeds can present inhibitory

GONÇALVES ET AL

Identification

activity against serine proteases, such as the peptide isolated by Ribeiro et al.<sup>[53]</sup> a peptide from C annuum seeds. Some works describe that plant peptides can act as bifunctional inhibitors with

inhibitory activity for trypsin and  $\alpha$ -amylase. Lipid transfer proteins, for example, can act as inhibitors, especially inhibiting  $\alpha$ -amylase, as already reported for LTPs from *Capsicum* seeds.<sup>[54]</sup> Studies also point to the antimicrobial effects of low molecular weight trypsin inhibitors on different species of fungi. Ribeiro et al.<sup>[53]</sup> and Silva et al.<sup>[55]</sup> isolated trypsin inhibitors from seeds of the genus *Capsicum* capable of inhibiting the growth of yeasts and phytopathogenic fungi, with the exception of the growth of fungi of the genus *Fusarium*.

### 3.5 | Effect of Ca-F2 on the growth of yeast

Initially, an antimicrobial assay was carried out to assess the effect of Ca-F2 on the growth of C. albicans and C. tropicalis yeasts in the presence of 12.5, 25, 50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> for 24 h (Figure 4). Ca-F2 inhibited the growth of C. albicans and C. tropicalis, especially at

TABLE 2 Interactions between 2S albumin amino acids residues and (NAG)<sub>4</sub>.

Residue	AA	Distance
Hydrophobic interactions <sup>a</sup>		
42	MET	3.56
97	ARG	3.55
Hydrogen bonds <sup>b</sup>		
92	GLU	2.38
93	ASN	3.06
93	ASN	2.10
96	SER	2.19
96	SER	2.06
114	PHE	2.58

\*Distance between interactions carbon atoms.

<sup>b</sup>Distance between hydrogen and acceptor atoms.

concentrations of 50, 100, and 200 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>, where we can see a percentage close to 100% inhibition for *C. tropicalis*. At low concentrations, the peptide may induce the formation of pseudohyphae, which will result in a higher absorbance reading since there is no presence of pseudohyphae in control cells (Figure 4).

Concerning antimicrobial activity, chitin-binding proteins have antimicrobial activity, especially against fungi.<sup>[19,56,57]</sup> Reserve proteins such as the 2S albumin family are also characterized by antimicrobial activity against a wide spectrum of pathogens. It has *in vitro* inhibitory activity against several microorganisms.<sup>[58]</sup> In addition, it is also important to emphasize that these proteins, in addition to presenting different functions, ranging from storage, enzyme inhibition and lipid transfer to cell wall structure, can be grouped in relation to a defined number of cysteine residues (eight-cysteine motif) located in distinct positions of their sequences, suggesting a common ancestor for these families.<sup>[59]</sup>

### 3.6 | Plasma membrane permeabilization

Since *Ca*-F2 showed greater inhibition potential for all tested yeasts, we investigated whether it alters the membrane integrity of the yeast *C. albicans* by fluorescence microscopy. We observed that the *C. albicans* cells treated with 100  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> *Ca*-F2 presented prominent labeling for Sytox green fluorescent dye, indicating that this peptide was able to affect the structural integrity of the plasma membrane, allowing the entry and labeling of the dye. In the control (in the absence of *Ca*-F2), no fluorescence was observed. We observed that, in addition to the reduction in the number of cells, the yeast *C. albicans* had 25.0% permeabilization (Figure 5). We also observed cells forming clumps when treated with *Ca*-F2.

In a recent work carried out by Lopes et al,<sup>[19]</sup> chitin binding proteins with fungicidal activity, called Mo-CBP4, which has similarity with 2S albumin, have an inhibition mechanism for the fungus



**FIGURE 4** Effect of *Ca*-F2 on the growth of *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* at concentrations of 12.5, 25, 50, 100 and 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> for 24 h. Values are the means (± SD) of triplicates. Asterisks indicate significant differences (*p* < 0.05) between treatments and controls. Values above the bars indicate the percentage of growth inhibition.



Species of yeast	Sample	Cell number in DIC	Cell number in fluorescence	% of permeabilized cells (Sytox Green+)
C. albicans	Control	1409.0±412.1	0±0	0
[	Ca-F2	122.2±21.04	30.6±3.5	25.0*

FIGURE 5 Membrane permeabilization assay. (a) Images of C. *albicans* cells after membrane permeabilization using the fluorescent probe SYTOX green. Cells were treated with Ca-F2 for 24 h. Control cells were treated only with SYTOX green. Bars =  $20 \mu m$ . (b) The percentage of permeabilized cells was quantified by the cell number in five random fields of the DIC and fluorescence views of the samples, with the cell number in the DIC of each sample considered 100%. \* significant differences by one-way ANOVA, p < 0.05.

T. mentagrophytes associated with an increase in membrane permeability, overproduction of ROS and damage to the cell wall leading to the death of microconidia. Chitin-binding proteins are rich in positively charged residues (such as arginine) and can interfere with negatively charged cell membrane components that cause membrane disarrangement and lead to cell lysis. [60,61] We observed the ability of Ca-F2 to induce plasma membrane permeabilization of C. albicans (Figure 5). SYTOX Green is a high-affinity nucleic acid stain that easily penetrates cells with compromised plasma membranes and does not cross intact cell membranes. For this reason, it can be used to investigate whether certain agents act as fungicides causing cell death by promoting leakage of intracellular content, leading to an imbalance in cell homeostasis. Our findings corroborate other works, such as Lopes et al.<sup>[19]</sup> showing that this class of proteins can maintain the integrity of the membrane, leading to the death of different fungal species. It was also observed that another chitin-binding protein called lu-CBP was isolated from Iberis umbellata seeds, and in addition to demonstrating activity against several bacteria, it also showed activity against the fungus Aspergillus flavus.<sup>[62]</sup> In addition to the families reported above showing activity against phytopathogenic yeasts and fungi,<sup>[19]</sup> other chitin-binding proteins, such as lectins, vicilins and chitinases, have been reported to be toxic to insects.<sup>[16,29,63]</sup>

### 3.7 | Cell viability

Based on the antimicrobial activity of *Ca*-F2, the cells were plated in a new culture medium, and after 36 h, the colony forming units (CFU) were counted, and the viability of C *albicans* and C *tropicalis* yeasts was analyzed (Figure 6). *Ca*-F2 at 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> produced a severe reduction in the number of colony forming units (CFU) for C *albicans* after 36 h of incubation, indicating a lethal dose of 82%. For *C. tropicalis*, *Ca*-F2 also produced a reduction in the number of CFUs of 100%, indicating that the inhibitory effect of *Ca*-F2 on this yeast is fungicidal.

After obtaining the binding fraction on chitin (Ca-F2), antifungal tests were performed to evaluate the antimicrobial activity against yeasts. According to the results obtained (Figure 4), Ca-F2 showed antimicrobial activity against the yeasts *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* at the different concentrations tested. The inhibitory effect of *Ca*-F2 on *C. tropicalis* yeast was fungicidal. The fact that *Ca*-F2 exerts a fungicidal effect on the tested yeasts is an important feature when thinking



FIGURE 6 Cell viability of the yeasts (a) *C. albicans* and (b) *C. tropicalis.* Petri dish images showing the growth of colonies in the control (without the addition of *Ca*-F2) and after treatment with 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> *Ca*-F2 for 36 h. The cell death percentage was calculated in relation to the control, untreated cell (cell viability-100%). The experiments were performed in triplicate. CFU = colony forming unit. Numbers under the images indicate the percentage of cell death.

34758187, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiky.com/doi/1010/2/psp2.34738 by CAPES, Wiky Chline Library on [05/02/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiky.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiky Online Library for nules of use, OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons Lionnes

about the development of new pathogen control measures, since fungistatic compounds can contribute to the development of resistant microorganisms.<sup>[64]</sup>

### 3.8 | Hemolytic potential on sheep red blood cells and toxicity effect on *G. mellonella* larvae of *Ca*-F2

The ability of *Ca*-F2 to cause lysis in mammalian cells was evaluated. It was verified that *Ca*-F2 has very low hemotoxicity against mammalian cells, even when dealing with high concentrations. A percentage of hemolysis of 1.37%, 1.37%, and 3.5% was verified for the concentrations of 50, 100 and 200 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, as shown in Figure 7a. The ability of *Ca*-F2 to cause toxicity in *G. mellonella* larvae was also evaluated. Larvae inoculated with *Ca*-F2 had a low rate of toxicity. At a concentration of 200 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>, there was a 15.6% rate of toxicity; however, when the concentration was increased, there was a greater increase in the rate of *Ca*-F2 toxicity on *G. mellonella* larvae. When the concentration of 400 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> was tested, the toxicity rate became 45.5% (Figure 7b), showing that at very high concentrations, *Ca*-F2 can be toxic.

A major concern in the development of therapeutic drugs is their high toxicity to mammalian cells, even when dealing with natural peptides extracted from plants.<sup>[66]</sup> With the results obtained, we observed that even at high concentrations (200 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>), *Ca*-F2 did not cause hemolysis in the cells tested (Figure 7a). Taveira et al.<sup>[66]</sup> found similar results in their work. They tested a bioinspired peptide on defense from *C. annuum* fruits called CaDef2.1G27-K44. Four concentrations were evaluated (200, 100, 50, and 25 µM), and the results indicated that the peptide has very low cytotoxicity and hemotoxicity against mammalian cells, even at the highest concentration tested, with the percentage of hemolysis being 19% for the concentration of 200 µM. In another work carried out by Toledo et al.,<sup>[67]</sup> two peptides



FIGURE 7 (a) Effect of *Ca*-F2 on sheep red blood cells. Data are presented as a percentage of hemolytic activity of cells treated with *Ca*-F2 (50, 100 and 200 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>), untreated as a negative control (Control–[0.15 M NaCI]) and positive control (Control +) treated with 1% (vol/vol) Triton X-100 detergent at 37°C for 1 h. Hemolytic activity percentage was calculated in relation to the positive control (hemolytic activity–0%). The results presented are mean values obtained over one experiment, performed in triplicate. Asterisks indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between treatments and Control +. (b) Effect of *Ca*-F2 in vivo on *G. mellonella* larvae. Survival curve of *G. mellonella* larvae inoculated with *Ca*-F2 at 200 and 400 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>. Phosphate saline buffer (PBS) and needle wounds were used as controls. Statistical significance was calculated using the Gehan-Breslow-Wilcoxon test p < 0.05.

called RR and RW were designed, where the charge and hydrophobicity were increased, resulting in better antifungal activity and less toxicity for mammalian cells, and the antifungal activity was even more highlighted in the more hydrophobic and cationic peptide (WR).

Figure 7b shows that the concentration of 200 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> Ca-F2 showed a low rate of toxicity for G. mellonella larvae; however, when we increased the concentration, the mortality rate of the larvae increased significantly. These results are probably because the peritrophic membrane (PM) present in the midgut of the larvae is rich in chitin; thus, Ca-F2 may bind to this matrix, breaking it. PM has often become the target of studies that discuss plant defense against insects because by interfering with chitin metabolism, nutrients are neither absorbed nor transported on a regular basis, impairing insect development.[68] In work carried out by Qin et al.[69] it was observed that a chitin-binding protein CBPA present in Bacillus thuringiensis bacteria could help direct the bacteria to the PM of G. mellonella larvae, confirming that chitin-binding proteins interfere with the PM of insects. However, it is important to emphasize that our objective is the low toxicity of Ca-F2; therefore, further studies will be carried out with the concentration that had low toxicity on the larvae. With the information presented and with further studies, Ca-F2 presents important characteristics for the development of new drugs.

### 4 | CONCLUSION

For the first time, chitin affinity chromatography was carried out in pepper plants. We evaluated the *in vitro* and *in vivo* activity of the chitin-binding fraction Ca-F2 from C. annuum. Ca-F2 had antimicrobial activity against C. albicans and C tropicalis and did not present toxicity to mammalian cells and G. mellonella larvae, indicating a promising candidate in the development of new treatments for fungal control.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The study was conceived by Valdirene Moreira Gomes and Gabriella Rodrigues Gonçalves. Experimental procedures were carried out by Gabriella Rodrigues Gonçalves, Marciele Souza Silva, Layrana Azevedo dos Santos, Thomas Zacarone Afonso Guimarães, Sarah Rodrigues Ferreira, Celso Shiniti Nagano, and Renata Pinheiro Chaves. Data analyses were performed by Valdirene Moreira Gomes, André de Oliveira Carvalho, Gabriel Bonan Taveira, Rosana Rodrigues, and Olney Vieira da Motta. The article was written by Gabriella Rodrigues Gonçalves, Valdirene Moreira Gomes, and Gabriel Bonan Taveira. All authors reviewed the manuscript.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was performed at the Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro (UENF). We wish to thank LC.D. Souza and V.M. Kokis for technical assistance.

### CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors state that there is no conflict of interest in this work.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data are available upon request to the authors.

### ETHICS STATEMENT

This article does not contain any studies with human or animal subjects.

#### ORCID

Valdirene Moreira Gomes 🖸 https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4145-428X

### REFERENCES

- [1] M. L. Rodrigues, J. D. Nosanchuk, PLoS Negl. Trop. 2021, 14, e0007964.
- [2] H. Kato, Y. Yoshimura, Y. Suido, K. Ide, Y. Matsuno, H. Nakajima, Infection 2018, 46, 635.
- [3] Is Global homepage. 2023. https://www.isglobal.org/documents/ 10179/5808947/Informe+Resistencia+Antimicrobiana+EN/a42555 c8-f387-4bde-bb1c-f9b13941543e
- [4] S. Campoy, J. L. Adrio, Biochem. Pharmacol. 2017, 133, 86.
- [5] S. Costa-de-Oliveira, A. G. Rodrigues, Microorganisms 2020, 8, 154.
- [6] J. S. Mackenzie, M. Jeggo, Trop. Med. Inf. Dis. 2019, 4, 5.
- [7] M. Hashimoto, T. Ikegami, S. Seino, N. Ohuchi, H. Fukada, J. Sugiyama, M. Shirakawa, T. Watanabe, J. Bacteriol. 2000, 182, 3045.
- [8] K. Kurita, Prog. Polym. Sci. 1921, 2001, 26.
- [9] K. Kadokura, Y. Sakamoto, K. Saito, T. Ikegami, T. Hirano, W. Hakamata, T. Oku, T. Nishio, *Biotechnol. Lett.* 2007, 29, 1209.
- [10] X. Huang, W. Xie, Z. Gong, FEBS Lett. 2000, 478, 123.
- [11] A. B. Batista, J. T. Oliveira, J. M. Gifoni, M. L. Pereira, M. G. G. Almeida, V. M. Gomes, M. D. Cunha, S. F. F. Ribeiro, G. B. Dias, L. M. Beltramini, J. L. S. Lopes, T. B. Grangeiro, I. K. Vasconcelos, *PLoS One* 2014, 9, e111427.
- [12] C. D. Freitas, C. A. Viana, I. M. Vasconcelos, F. B. B. Moreno, J. V. Lima-Filho, H. D. Oliveira, R. A. Moreira, A. C. O. Monteiro-Moreira, M. V. Ramos, *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 2016, 108, 361.
- [13] K. Berthelot, F. Peruch, S. Lecomte, Biochimie 2016, 127, 258.
- [14] J. X. Silva Neto, H. P. S. da Costa, I. M. Vasconcelos, M. L. Pereira, J. T. A. Oliveira, T. D. P. Lopes, L. P. Dias, N. M. S. Araújo, L. F. W. G. Moura, M. F. V. Tilburg, M. I. F. Guedes, L. A. Lopes, E. G. Morais, D. O. B. Sousa, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 2020, 143, 814.
- [15] A. A. Slavokhotova, A. A. Shelenkov, Y. A. Andreev, T. I. Odintsova, Biochemistry 2017, 82, 1659.
- [16] C. F. R. de Oliveira, M. C. de Moura, T. H. Napoleão, P. M. G. Paiva, L. C. B. B. Coelho, M. L. R. Macedo, Anagasta Kuehniella. Pestic. Biochem. Phys. 2017, 142, 67.
- [17] S. G. Kini, K. H. Wong, W. L. Tan, T. Xiao, J. P. Tam, BMC Plant Biol. 2017, 17, 68.
- [18] J. E. Freire, I. M. Vasconcelos, F. B. Moreno, A. B. Batista, M. D. P. Lobo, M. L. Pereira, J. P. M. S. Lima, R. V. M. Almeida, A J. S. Sousa, A C. O. Moteiro-Moreira, J. T. A. Oliveira, T. B. Grangeiro, *PLoS One* 2015, 10, e0119871.
- [19] T. D. P. Lopes, H. P. S. da Costa, M. L. Pereira, J. X. Silva-Neto, P. C. de Paula, R. S. N. Brilhante, J. T. A. Oliveira, I. M. Vasconcelos, D. O. B. Sousa, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 2020, 149, 432.
- [20] X. Dong, Y. Zhao, X. Ran, L. Guo, D-G. Zhao, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2017, 18, 2361.
- [21] D. Durechova, M. Jopcik, M. Rajninec, J. Moravcikova, J. Libantova, Mol. Biotechnol. 2019, 61, 916.
- [22] T. Takashima, T. Ohnuma, T. Fukamizo, Carbohydr. Res. 2018, 458, 52.
- [23] M. Ali, W. X. Gai, A. M. Khattak, A. Khan, S. U. Haq, X. Ma, A. M. Wei, I. Muhammad, I. Jan, Z. H. Gong, *Mol. Genet. Genomics* **2019**, 294, 1311.

### <sup>12 of 12</sup> WILEY\_PeptideScience

34758817, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/pep2.34338 by CAP BS, Wiley Online Library on [05/02/2024] See the Terms and Canditions

(https://mlinelibary.wiley.com/terms-and-cond-tions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons

- [24] G. B. Taveira, L. S. Mathias, O. V. da Motta, O. L. T. Machado, R. Rodrigues, A. O. Carvalho, A. Teixeira-Ferreira, J. Perales, I. M. Vasconcelos, V. M. Gomes, *Pept. Sci.* 2014, 102, 30.
- [25] R. S. Gebara, G. B. Taveira, L. A. dos Santos, S. D. Calixto, T. L. V. B. Simão, E. Lassounskaia, M. F. Muzitano, A. Teixeira-Ferreira, J. Perales, R. Rodrigues, A. O. Carvalho, V. M. Gomes, *Probiotics Antimi*crob. 2020, 12, 1253.
- [26] M. S. S. Diz, A. O. Carvalho, R. Rodrigues, A. G. Neves-Ferreira, M. Da Cunha, E. W. Alves, A. L. Okorokova-Façanha, M. A. Oliveira, J. Perales, O. L. T. Machado, V. M. Gomes, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 2006, 1760, 1323.
- [27] M. S. Silva, V. M. Gomes, G. B. Taveira, L. A. dos Santos, Á. C. Maracahipes, R. Rodrigues, A. O. Carvalho, K. V. Fernandes, A. E. A. Oliveira, *Protein Pept. Lett.* 2020, 28, 149.
- [28] P. K. Smith, G. T. Hermanson, A. K. Maallia, F. H. Gartner, M. D. Provenzano, E. K. Fujimoto, N. M. Goeke, B. J. Olson, D. C. Klenk, *Anal. Biochem.* **1985**, 150, 76.
- [29] M. R. A. Miranda, A. F. Uchča, S. R. Ferreira, K. E. Ventury, E. P. Costa, P. R. L. Carmo, O. L. T. Machado, K. V. S. Fernandes, A. E. A. Oliveira, J. Agric. Food Chem. 2020, 68, 5596.
- [30] S. R. Ferreira, Toxicidade de proteínas com afinidade à quitina de cultivares de Vigna unguiculata para o inseto Callosobruchus maculatus. Monografia, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro (Campos dos Goytacazes). 2018.
- [31] H. Schägger, G. Von Jagow, Anal. Biochem. 1987, 166, 368.
- [32] A. Shevchenko, H. Tomas, J. Havli, J. V. Olsen, M. Mann, Nat. Protoc. 2006, 1, 2856.
- [33] R. F. Cameiro, J. T. Viana, R. C. F. Torres, L. T. da Silva, A. L. Andrade, M. A. de Vasconcelos, U. Pinheiro, E. H. Teixeira, C. S. Nagano, A. H. Sampaio, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 2019, 662, 169.
- [34] S. F. Altschul, W. Gish, W. Miller, E. W. Myers, D. J. Lipman, J. Mol. Biol. 1990, 215, 403.
- [35] M. A. Larkin, G. Blackshields, N. P. Brown, R. Chenna, P. A. McGettigan, H. McWilliam, F. Valentin, I. M. Wallace, A. Wilm, R. Lopez, J. D. Thompson, T. J. Gibson, D. G. Higgins, *Bioinformatics* 2007, 23, 2947.
- [36] K. B. Santos, I. A. Guedes, A. L. Karl, L. E. Dardenne, J. Chem. Inf. Model. 2020, 60, 667.
- [37] S. Salentin, S. Schreiber, V. J. Haupt, M. F. Adasme, M. Schroeder, Nucleic Acids Res. 2015, 43, W443.
- [38] R. A. Laskowski, M. B. Swindells, J. Chem. Inf. Model. 2011, 2778, 2778.
- [39] S. F. F. Ribeiro, K. V. S. Fernandes, I. S. Santos, G. B. Taveira, A. O. Carvalho, J. L. S. Lopes, L. M. Beltramini, R. Rodrigues, I. M. Vasconcelos, M. da Cunha, G. A. Souza-Filho, V. M. Gomes, *Pept. Sci.* 2013, 100, 132.
- [40] W. F. Broekaert, F. R. G. Terras, B. P. A. Cammue, J. Vanderleyden, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 1990, 69, 55.
- [41] K. Thevissen, F. R. Terras, W. F. Broekaert, Appl. Env. Microbiol. 1999, 65, 5451.
- [42] J. R. Soares, E. J. T. de Melo, M. da Cunha, K. V. S. Fernandes, G. B. Taveira, L. S. Pereira, S. Pimenta, F. G. Trindade, M. Regente, M. Pinedo, L. de la Canal, V. M. Gomes, A. O. Carvalho, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj.* 2017, 1861, 3429.
- [43] Z. Oren, Y. Shai, Biochemistry 1826, 1997, 36.
- [44] E. Mylonakis, R. Moreno, J. B. El Khoury, A. Idnurm, J. Heitman, S. B. Calderwood, F. M. Ausubel, A. Diener, Infect. Immun. 2005, 73, 3842.
- [45] G. C. Vieira Bard, V. V. Nascimento, A. E. A. Oliveira, R. Rodrigues, M. da Cunha, G. B. Dias, I. M. Vasconcelos, A. O. Carvalho, V. M. Gomes, *Pept. Sci.* 2015, 102, 335.
- [46] G. B. Dias, V. M. Gomes, U. Zottich, S. F. F. Ribeiro, A. O. Carvalho, R. Rodrigues, O. L. T. Machado, K. V. S. Fernandes, A. T. S. Ferreira, J. Perales, M. da Cunha, *Protein J.* 2013, 32, 15.
- [47] J. M. Gifoni, J. T. Oliveira, H. D. Oliveira, A. B. Batista, M. L. Pereira, A. S. Gomes, H. P. Oliveira, T. B. Grangeiro, I. M. Vasconcelos, *Pept. Sci.* 2012, 98, 406.

- [48] J. Guéguen, Y. Popineau, I. N. Anisimova, R. J. Fido, P. R. Shewry, A S. Tatham, J. Agric. Food Chem. 1996, 44, 1184.
- [49] J. M. Fardin, L. P. Carvalho, V. V. Nascimento, E. J. T. Melo, V. M. Gomes, O. L. T. Machado, F. C. V. da Silva, A. O. Carvalho, World J. Pharm. Res. 2016, 5, 233300.
- [50] A. L. Norberg, V. Karlsen, I. A. Hoell, I. Bakke, V. G. Eijsink, M. Sørlie, FEBS Lett. 2010, 584, 4581.
- [51] K. E. Ventury, S. R. Ferreira, M. de Moura Rocha, G. A. Gravina, A. T. S. Ferreira, J. Perales, K. V. S. Fernandes, A. E. A. Oliveira, J. Stored Prod. Res. 2022, 95, 101925.
- [52] K. Sharma, Int. J. Curr. Res. Aca. Rev. 2015, 3, 55.
- [53] S. F. F. Ribeiro, A. O. Carvalho, M. da Cunha, R. Rodrigues, L. P. Cruz, V. M. M. Melo, I. M. Vasconcelos, E. J. T. Melo, V. M. Gomes, *Toxicon* 2007, 50, 600.
- [54] M. S. Diz, A. O. Carvalho, S. F. F. Ribeiro, M. da Cunha, L. Beltramini, R. Rodrigues, V. V. Nascimento, O. L. T. Machado, V. M. Gomes, *Physiol. Plant.* 2011, 142, 233.
- [55] M. S. Silva, S. F. F. Ribeiro, G. B. Taveira, R. Rodrigues, K. V. S. Fernandes, A. O. Carvalho, I. M. Vasconcelos, E. O. Mello, V. M. Gomes, J. Sci. Food Agric. 2017, 97, 3790.
- [56] S. R. Kabir, M. M. Rahman, S. Tasnim, M. R. Karim, N. Khatun, I. Hasan, R. Amin, S. S. Islam, M. Nurujjaman, A. H. Kabir, N. K. Sana, Y. Ozeki, A. K. M. Asaduzzaman, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 2016, 84, 62.
- [57] C. S. Chen, C. Y. Chen, D. M. Ravinath, A. Bungahot, C. P. Cheng, R. I. You, BMC Plant Biol. 2018, 18, 1.
- [58] B. T. Meneguetti, L. D. S. Machado, K. G. Oshiro, M. L. Nogueira, C. M. E. Carvalho, O. L. Franco, Front. Microbiol. 2017, 7, 2136.
- [59] M. José-Estanyol, F. X. Gomis-Rüth, P. Puigdomènech, Plant Physiol. Biochem. 2004, 42, 355.
- [60] H. Choi, D. G. Lee, Biochimie 2014, 105, 58.
- [61] A. Ullah, R. B. Mariutti, R. Masood, I. P. Caruso, G. H. G. Costa, C. M. Freitas, C. R. Santos, L. M. Zanphorlin, M. J. R. Mutton, M. T. Murakami, R. K. Arni, *Biochem. Biophys.* 2015, 468, 365.
- [62] A. Saeed, Z. Rafiq, Q. Saeed, B. Khaliq, A. Ullah, S. Mehmood, Z. Ali, M. Y. Ashraf, A. Akrem, Pak J. Bot. 2021, 53, 1515.
- [63] M. Suganthi, P. Senthilkumar, S. Arvinth, K. N. Chandrashekara, J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol. 2017, 2016, 11.
- [64] A Kotaczkowska, M. Kotaczkowski, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 2016, 71, 1438.
- [65] I. Greco, N. Molchanova, E. Holmedal, H. Jenssen, B. D. Hummel, J. L. Watts, J. Hakansson, P. R. Hansen, J. Svenson, *Sci. Rep.* 2020, 10, 13206.
- [66] G. B. Taveira, E. O. Mello, T. L. B. V. Simão, M. B. Cherene, A. O. Carvalho, M. F. Muzitano, E. Lassounskaia, S. Pireda, E. C. Miguel, L. G. M. Basso, M. da Cunha, O. V. da Motta, V. M. Gomes, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj.* 2022, 1866, 130218.
- [67] E. B. Toledo, D. R. Lucas, T. L. B. V. Simão, S. D. Calixto, E. Lassounskaia, M. F. Muzitano, F. Z. Damica, V. M. Gomes, A. O. Carvalho, *Amino Acids* 2021, 53, 219.
- [68] G. Tetreau, P. Wang, Targeting Chitin-containing Organisms, Springer, Singapore 2019.
- [69] J. Qin, Z. Tong, Y. Zhan, C. Buisson, F. Song, K. He, C. Nielsen-LeRoux, S. Guo, *Taxins* 2020, 12, 252.

How to cite this article: G. R. Gonçalves, M. S. Silva, L. A. dos Santos, L. M. Resende, G. B. Taveira, T. Z. A. Guimarães, S. R. Ferreira, A. E. A. Oliveira,

C. S. Nagano, R. P. Chaves, A. de Oliveira Carvalho,

R. Rodrigues, O. V. da Motta, V. M. Gomes, Pept. Sci. 2024,

e24338. https://doi.org/10.1002/pep2.24338

# 4 – CAPÍTULO 2

Structural and functional characterization of of lipid transfer proteins (LTPs) with chitin-binding properties: insights from protein structure prediction, molecular docking and antifungal activity Structural and functional characterization of of lipid transfer proteins (LTPs) with chitin-binding properties: insights from protein structure prediction, molecular docking and antifungal activity

Gabriella Rodrigues Gonçalves<sup>1</sup> · Marciele Souza da Silva<sup>1</sup> · Layrana Azevedo dos Santos<sup>1</sup> · Thomas Zacarone Afonso Guimarães<sup>1</sup> · Gabriel Bonan Taveira<sup>1</sup> · Felipe Astolpho Almeida<sup>2</sup> · Sarah Rodrigues Ferreira<sup>2</sup> · Antonia Elenir Amancio Oliveira<sup>2</sup> · Celso Shiniti Nagano<sup>3</sup> · Renata Pinheiro Chaves<sup>3</sup> · Vanildo Silveira<sup>4</sup> · André de Oliveira Carvalho<sup>1</sup> · Rosana Rodrigues<sup>5</sup> · Valdirene Moreira Gomes<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Laboratório de Fisiologia e Bioquímica de Microrganismos, Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brazil, 28013-602.

<sup>2</sup>Laboratório de Química e Função de Proteínas e Peptídeos, Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brazil, 28013-602

<sup>3</sup>Laboratório de Bioquímica Marinha (BioMar-Lab), Departamento de Engenharia de Pesca, Universidade Federal do Ceará (UFC), Ceará, Brazil, 60455-900.

<sup>4</sup>Laboratório de Biotecnologia, Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brazil, 28013-602.

<sup>5</sup>Laboratório de Melhoramento e Genética Vegetal, Centro de Ciências e Tecnologias Agropecuárias, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brazil, 28013-602.

### **Graphical Abstract**



Faced with the emergence of multiresistant microorganisms that affect human health, microbial agents have become a serious global threat, affecting human health and various plant crops. Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) have attracted significant attention in research for the development of new microbial control agents. The objective of this work was to characterize and evaluate the antimicrobial activity of peptides with affinity for chitin isolated from seeds of Capsicum baccatum and C. frutescens on the growth of Candida and Fusarium species. Proteins were extracted in phosphate buffer pH 5.4 and subjected to chitin column chromatography. After chitin affinity chromatography, two fractions were obtained for each species, Cb-F1 and Cf-F1 and Cb-F2 and Cf-F2, respectively. The Cb-F1 (C. baccatum) and Cf-F1 (C. frutescens) fractions did not bind to the chitin column. The electrophoresis obtained after chromatography showed two major protein bands between 3.4 and 14.2 kDa for Cb-F2. For Cf-F2, three major bands were identified between 6.5 and 14.2 kDa. One band from each species was subjected to mass spectrometry and both bands showed similarity to non-specific lipid transfer protein (LTP). Cb-F2 inhibited the growth of C. albicans and C. tropicalis. Cf-F2 inhibited the growth of C. albicans but did not inhibit the growth of C. tropicalis. Both fractions were unable to inhibit the growth of Fusarium species. The toxicity of the fractions was tested in vivo on Galleria mellonella larvae, and both showed a low toxicity rate at high concentrations. Therefore, the fractions have great potential for the development of new antifungal molecules.

**KEYWORDS** chitin binding peptides, antimicrobial peptides, *Capsicum*, *Galleria mellonella*, *Candida* 

### **1 | INTRODUCTION**

Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) are a group of molecules that occur spontaneously in all living organisms and act in defense against pathogens, including fungi and bacteria.<sup>(1)</sup> They have a low molecular weight and net positive charge and are rich in hydrophobic amino acids.<sup>(2,3)</sup> In plants, they are part of the innate defense, acting as the first line of defense against infections caused by pathogenic microorganisms and are present in all plant organs.<sup>(4)</sup> This group includes thionins, defensins, cyclotides and lipid transport proteins (LTPs). Another class of plant-isolated proteins with antifungal activity is the chitin-binding proteins (CBPs). These molecules have the ability to reversibly bind chitin, a structural polysaccharide present in various organisms, such as the cell wall of fungi. Studies have reported the antifungal activity of plant CBPs against phytopathogens<sup>(5,6)</sup> and *Candida* spp.<sup>(7,8)</sup> This group includes hevein-like, 2S albumin and chitinases. To date, the presence of chitin-binding LTPs has not been reported so far.

LTP, also known as nonspecific lipid transfer protein (nsLTP), is produced by several types of plants. LTPs are quite abundant, rich in cysteine residues with conserved positions, are secretory and soluble and have a molecular mass of less than 10 kDa.<sup>(9-12)</sup> Structurally, LTPs have four to five  $\alpha$ -helices, which are stabilized through four relatively conserved disulfide bonds with the pattern of C – Xn – C – Xn – CC – Xn – CXC – Xn – C – Xn – C. Helix folding results in a central hydrophobic cleft suitable for binding to various lipids, including fatty acids and phospholipids.<sup>(13)</sup> Based on their molecular weight, LTPs are divided into two groups: LTP type 1, which has approximately 7 kDa, and LTP type 2, which has approximately 10 kDa.<sup>(14)</sup> The disulfide bonding pattern in type 1 is C1–C6 and C5–C8, whereas in type 2, C1–C5 and C6–C8. They differ in tertiary structure, such as the long tunnel hydrophobic cavity in type 1, but in type 2, LTPs are composed of two head-to-head hydrophobic cavities.<sup>(15,16)</sup>

LTPs perform several functions simultaneously. One of the most reported functions is the defense function in plants against pathogens. It is possible that the response mechanism involves the secretion of nsLTP in the apoplast so that they bind to lipid molecules secreted by the plants or to molecules secreted by the microorganisms.<sup>(17)</sup> nsLTP are also involved in biological processes such as fruit ripening,<sup>(18)</sup> seed growth and germination,<sup>(17,19)</sup> lipid barrier assembly,<sup>(13,17)</sup> and lipid transport<sup>(20)</sup> and are also associated with abiotic stress in plants, what was demonstrated by the increase of overexpression tolerance in a saline stress environment.<sup>(21)</sup> Furthermore, there are no reports of nsLTP exhibiting toxicity against plant or animal cells.

Several works have reported the isolation of these biomolecules from different species of plants and from different organs. Schmitt et al.<sup>(22)</sup> isolated BrLTP2.1, which was extracted from the nectar of *Brassica rapa*, and its antifungal activity was reported. McLTP1 was extracted from *Morinda citrifolia* seeds showing antibacterial and anti-inflammatory activity and improved survival in lethal sepsis.<sup>(23,24)</sup> The nsLTP1 protein isolated from *Trachyspermum ammi* seeds has also been described, but there is no description of antimicrobial activities.<sup>(25)</sup> Regarding plants of the genus *Capsicum*, we can highlight an LTP isolated from *C. annuum* seeds with inhibitory activity against  $\alpha$ -amylase, serine proteinases and fungi.<sup>(26)</sup>

Microbial resistance to drugs continues to rise around the world increasing the demand for new bioactive molecules that have a wide spectrum of activities. Therefore, the discovery of new antifungal agents, particularly those produced by plants, is of great importance.<sup>(27)</sup> In this scenario, research on plant chitin binding proteins with applications in the medical field was intensified. Thus, the objective of this work was to isolate and characterize chitin-binding peptides from seeds of *C. baccatum* (Accession UENF 1732)

and *C. frutescens* (Accession UENF 1775) and to analyze their possible biological activities.

### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 2.1 | Plant material

The seeds of *C. baccatum* (Access UENF 1732) and *C. frutescens* (Access UENF 1775) were provided by the Laboratory for Plant Genetic Improvement (LMGV), Center for Agricultural Sciences and Technologies, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Brazil. The seeds were sown in 72-cell polystyrene trays with substrate fertilized with formulation (4 N/14P/8K) (Vivatto®). The trays were kept in a growth chamber at 28°C and irrigated once a day. After the emergence of two pairs of definitive leaves, the seedlings were transplanted individually into plastic pots (5 L) containing a mixture of soil and substrate (in a 2:1 ratio). Then, the pots were transferred to an acclimatized greenhouse. The plants were irrigated once a day until the ripe fruits were harvested.

### 2.2 | Microorganisms

The yeast species *C. albicans* (CE022), *C. tropicalis* (CE017) and the filamentous fungi *F. oxysporum* and *F. solani* were cultivated in Sabouraud medium and kept in a refrigerator at 4°C in the Laboratory of Physiology and Biochemistry of Microorganisms (LFBM) of the Center for Biosciences and Biotechnology (CBB), from the State University of North Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes - RJ.

### 2.3 | Protein extraction and precipitation with ammonium sulfate

First, the seeds (5 g) were ground until a very fine-grained flour was obtained. The proteins were extracted in phosphate buffer (0.01 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.015 M NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 0.1 KCl, 1.5% EDTA), pH 5.4, at a ratio of 1:10 (5 g flour: 50 mL buffer) for 3 h under constant stirring at 4°C. The homogenate was subjected to centrifugation (15,000 x g for 30 min), the precipitate was discarded, and ammonium sulfate was added to the supernatant for precipitation at 90% saturation. The solution was kept overnight at 4°C. After this process, the suspension was centrifuged again at 15,000 x g for 30 min. Proteins precipitated in the 0-90% ammonium sulfate saturation range were recovered by resuspension in 10 mL of distilled water and heated at 80°C for 15 min. Subsequently, a final centrifugation (10,000 x g for 10 min) was performed. The supernatant was dialyzed against distilled water (avg. flat width 32 mm, 1.27 in. – Sigma–Aldrich) at 4°C for 3 days and finally lyophilized<sup>(28)</sup>.

### 2.4 | Protein quantification

Quantitative protein determinations were performed using the bicinchoninic acid method,<sup>(29)</sup> with ovalbumin (Sigma–Aldrich) used as the standard protein.

### 2.5 | Isolation of proteins and peptides with affinity for chitin

Poly- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ - $\beta$ -N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (chitin) was obtained from shrimp shells – practical grade, powder and commercially available from Sigma–Aldrich. Initially, a chemical treatment of chitin was performed,<sup>(30)</sup> in which 25 g of industrial chitin was acidified with 500 mL of 100 mM HCl. This mixture was incubated for 24 h at 4°C with constant shaking. After 24 h, all HCl was removed, and 250 mL of 100 mM NaOH was

added to the resulting precipitate. This mixture was heated at 100°C for 16 h. After heating, the NaOH was removed, and another 250 mL of NaOH was added to the precipitate for another 16 h of heating. This step was repeated once again, totaling three 16 h warm-ups. After the last heating, all NaOH was removed, and 200 mM HCl was added to the precipitate. The HCl was then removed from the mixture, and distilled water was added to the precipitate for storage. Subsequently, a chitin column was equilibrated with sodium acetate buffer (0.1 M, pH 5.5), and a 50 mg peptide-rich heated fraction, solubilized in the same sodium acetate buffer, was applied to the column. The chromatography was performed with equilibration buffer and the retained fraction was eluted with 0.05 M HCl solution. The absorbance of the desorbed proteins was monitored at 280 nm. The flow rate used was 1 mL.min<sup>-1</sup>. Protein peaks were collected and recovered after dialysis and lyophilization.

### 2.6 | Tricine gel electrophoresis in the presence of SDS

To perform the tricine-SDS–PAGE gel, a gel was mounted using glass plates of 8 x 10 cm and 7 x 10 cm, and 0.75 mm spacers were used. The separating gel was prepared at a 16.4% acrylamide/bis-acrylamide concentration, and the gel concentration was 3.9%. The samples were mixed with the sample buffer and then heated for 5 min at 100°C and centrifuged at 15,000 x *g* for 5 min. Subsequently, the equivalent to  $20 \,\mu g/mL^{-1}$  of sample was applied to the gel. A constant voltage of 24 V was used for running for approximately 16 h.<sup>(31)</sup> M3546 (Sigma–Aldrich) was used as a protein molecular weight marker. Molecular mass of proteins in kDa (26.600; 17.000; 14.200; 6.500; 3.496; 1.060).

Western blotting was performed according to the methodology described by Towbin et al.<sup>(32)</sup> After electrotransfer, the membranes were incubated in blocking buffer containing 2% skimmed-milk poder in phosphate-buffered saline for 16 h at 4°C. The membranes were washed ten times for 5 min in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>10  $\mu$ M, NaCl 0.15 M, pH 7.4) at room temperature and then incubated with a primary anti-LTP antibody (1:1000) in blocking buffer. After that, the membranes were washed as before and incubated with the secondary antibody (1:500) in blocking buffer for 1 h at room temperature under gentle agitation and washed as described above. The membranes were developed with 3,30'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) in a developing solution (40  $\mu$ M Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 1 mg/mL<sup>-1</sup> DAB, 100  $\mu$ M imidazole, and 0.03% hydrogen peroxide) until the stained bands were visualized.

### 2.8 | In-gel digestion

Using a scalpel, the gel bands were cut into slices and then into tiny cubes of ~1 mm<sup>3</sup>. Each cubed slice was placed in a separate 1.5 mL tube, and 1000  $\mu$ L of destaining solution (50 mM AmBic/50% ACN - 1:1) was added to each sample. The tubes were gently agitated on a Thermomixer at room temperature overnight. After removing the solution, 200  $\mu$ L of fresh destaining solution was added for 1 h before removal. Gel bands were then dehydrated by adding 500  $\mu$ L of 100% ACN to each tube for 1 min, followed by a repeated step. For protein reduction, 200  $\mu$ L of a solution containing 10 mM DTT/100 mM AmBic was added to each tube and incubated at 55°C for 30 min with gentle agitation on a Thermomixer. Subsequently, 500  $\mu$ L of 100% ACN was added to each tube for 4 min followed by the addition of 200  $\mu$ L of alkylation solution (55 mM

iodoacetamide-IAA/100 mM AmBic). The tubes were kept in the dark on a Thermomixer at room temperature for 30 min.

For protein digestion, 200  $\mu$ L of cold trypsin solution (digestion solution containing trypsin in 10 mM AmBic/10% ACN) was used. The tubes were kept at 4°C for 30 min and then transferred to a Thermomixer at 37°C overnight for complete digestion. Then, 200  $\mu$ L of extraction buffer (containing 1:2 of 5% formic acid to 100% ACN) was added and incubated at 37°C for 30 min in a Thermomixer. The samples were then evaporated in a SpeedVac until completely dried. Prior to mass spectrometry analysis, the samples were resuspended in 50  $\mu$ L of 0.1% formic acid in 50 mM AmBic.<sup>(33)</sup>

### 2.9 | Mass spectrometry analysis

The identification of peptides present in *Cb*-F2 was carried out in collaboration with the Marine Biochemistry Laboratory (BioMar-Lab), Department of Fisheries Engineering, Federal University of Ceará (UFC), Ceará, Brazil. After tricine-SDS–PAGE, one band present in *Cb*-F2 was extracted, and then, tryptic peptides were obtained<sup>(33)</sup> and subjected to LC–MS/MS analysis. The instrument used was a hybrid mass spectrometer (ESI-Q-ToF) (Synapt HDMS, Waters Corp, MA, USA). Data collection and processing parameters were adjusted as described by Carneiro et al.<sup>(34)</sup> Trypsin-digested peptides were analyzed by matrix-assisted laser desorption (ESI-Quad-ToF) mass spectrometry. The interpretation of the spectra was performed using the Mascot program, and the sequenced peptides were submitted to alignment using the BLASTp tool.<sup>(35)</sup> Sequences with a high percentage of identity were chosen and subjected to multiple alignments using the CLUSTAL Multiple Sequence Alignment by MUSCLE program (3.8).<sup>(36)</sup> The

56

For identification of peptides present in Cf-F2, ESI-LC-MS/MS analyzes were performed at Unit of Integrative Biology, Genomic and Proteomics Sector (UENF), using a nanoAcquity UPLC coupled to a Synapt G2-Si HDMS mass spectrometer (Waters, Manchester, United Kingdom). During separation, samples were loaded onto the nanoAcquity UPLC 5 µm C18 trap column (180 µm x 20 mm) at 5 µL/min<sup>-1</sup> for 3 min and then onto the nanoAcquity HSS T31 1.8 µm analytical reversed-phase column (75  $\mu$ m x 150 mm) at 400 nL/min<sup>-1</sup>, with a column temperature of 45°C. For peptide elution, a binary gradient was used, with mobile phase A (water and 0.1% formic acid) and mobile phase B (acetonitrile and 0.1% formic acid). The gradient elution started at 7% B, then ramped from 7% B to 40% B until 92.72 min, then remained at 99.9% until 106.00 min, then decreased to 7% B until 106.1 min, and finally remained at 7% B until the end of the experiment at 120 min. Mass spectrometry was performed in positive and resolution mode (V mode), 35,000 FWHM, with ion mobility and independent-data acquisition mode (HDMS<sup>E</sup>). The ion mobility wave was adjusted to a velocity of 600 m s<sup>-1</sup>; the transfer collision energy ramped from 19 V to 55 V in high-energy mode; the cone and capillary voltages were 30 V and 2750 V, respectively; and the source temperature was 70°C. For the TOF parameters, the scan time was set to 0.5 s in continuum mode with a mass range from 50 to 2000 Da. Human [Glu1]-fibrinopeptide B (Sigma–Aldrich) at 100 fmol/µL<sup>-1</sup> was used as an external calibrant, and lock mass acquisition was performed every 30 s. Mass spectra were acquired by MassLynx v4.0 software.<sup>(37)</sup>

### 2.10 | Proteomic data analysis

For spectral processing and database searching, the ProteinLynx Global Server (PLGS; version 3.0.2) (Waters, USA) and ISSO Quant workflow software were used.<sup>(38,39)</sup> The PLGS was processed using a low-energy threshold of 150 (counts), an elevated-energy threshold of 50 and an intensity threshold of 750. In addition, the analysis was performed using the following parameters: two missed cleavages, a minimum fragment ion per peptide equal to 3, a minimum fragment ion per protein equal to 7, a minimum peptide per protein equal to 2, fixed modifications of carbamidomethyl and variable modifications of oxidation and phosphoryl. The false discovery rate was set to a maximum of 1%. The proteomics data were processed against the *C. annumm* protein database from UniProt (https://www.uniprot.org/proteomes/UP000222542) for *C. frutescens*.

### 2.11 | Protein structure analysis

The predicted structural model for the identified proteins was generated using the FASTA sequences in the AlphaFold Protein Structure Database. AlphaFold is an AI system that predicts a protein's 3D structure from its amino acid sequence. The generated models were further edited using the UCSF Chimera molecular graphics program (https://www.rbvi.ucsf.edu/chimera) to highlight the regions of interest in the protein structure.

### 2.12 | Docking of LTP with the tetramer of N-acetylglucosamine (NAG)4

The docking of LTP with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> was performed using the DockThor v.2 program.<sup>(40)</sup> The blind docking strategy was performed using a search space defined by a 40 Å x 40 Å x 40 Å cube, covering 100% of the protein surface. The (NAG)<sub>4</sub> model was created from PyMol with the Azahar plug-in to design oligosaccharides. All rotations of the ligand were free to rotate while the atoms of the protein were kept rigid. The standard search algorithm of the site was used with 1,000,000 evaluations and 24 executions per experiment. The best lipid transfer protein (LTP)-ligand complex was evaluated using the affinity energy value and submitted to the PLIP Web Tool program<sup>(41)</sup> and to the LigPlot+ v program. 2.2.4.<sup>(42)</sup> Noncovalent interactions between lipid transfer protein (LTP) and (NAG)<sub>4</sub> were identified by the programs.

### 2.13 | Effect of peptides on fungal growth

An aliquot was removed from the petri dish containing *C. albicans* colonies, and another aliquot was removed from the petri dish containing *C. tropicalis* colonies. Subsequently, these aliquots were placed in new petri dishes containing Sabouraud agar (10 g. L peptone, 40 g. L D(+)glucose, 15 g. L agar) (Merck) to generate striations in the middle. These new plates were kept in an oven at 30°C for 24 h. Subsequently, the cells were removed from the petri dish and homogenized in 10 mL of Sabouraud broth (10 g. L peptone, 20 g. L D(+)glucose) (Merck) for quantification in a Neubauer chamber (LaborOptik) with the aid of an optical microscope (Axiovison A2, Zeiss). Regarding filamentous fungi, the inocula were transferred from the stock and placed to grow in petri dishes containing Sabouraud agar (Merck) for 11 days at 30°C. After growth, the spores were also removed and homogenized in 10 mL of Sabouraud broth for further quantification in a Neubauer chamber. Yeast (1 x  $10^4$  cel/mL<sup>-1</sup>) and fungal cells (1 x  $10^3$  cel/mL<sup>-1</sup>) were incubated in Sabouraud broth containing different concentrations of the fractions obtained from the seeds. The assay was performed in cell culture microplates

(96 wells) at 30°C for a period of 24 h for yeast and 36 h for filamentous fungi. Cell growth was determined by optical density, monitored every 6 h, in a microplate reader at a wavelength of 620 nm. Each test was performed in triplicate. The entire procedure was performed under aseptic conditions in a laminar extractor according to the methodology adapted from Broekaert et al.<sup>(43)</sup> Cell growth without the addition of proteins was also determined.

### 2.14 | Cell viability analysis

To evaluate the effect of *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 on the cell viability of *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* yeasts, a growth inhibition assay was initially performed to obtain colonies. For plating, after 24 h of incubation, the control cells (without *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2) and the test cells (with *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2) were diluted 1000x. A 60  $\mu$ L aliquot of the dilution was spread with a Drigalski loop over the surface from a Petri dish containing Sabouraud agar and cultivated at 30°C for 36 h. At the end of this period, the colony forming units were determined, and the Petri dishes were photographed.<sup>(44)</sup> The experiments were performed in triplicate, and the results were presented considering that the control represents 100% cell viability.

### 2.15 | Effect of Cb-F2 and Cf-F2 toxicity on G. mellonella larvae

For this assay, twenty last instar larvae of *G. mellonella* were used for the control and treatments, and larvae that weighed between 250 and 300 mg were selected. To inject 10  $\mu$ L of *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 (200  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1</sup>) into the larval hemocoel through the last proled, a Hamilton syringe was used. Two control groups were used: one group was inoculated

with PBS, and another group suffered only injury caused by the injection needle. Subsequently, the larvae were incubated at 37°C in Petri dishes for 7 days, and the number of dead larvae was counted at every 24 hours. Larvae were considered dead when they did not show any movement in response to touch. Percent survival curves were plotted, and estimates of differences in survival (log rank Mantel–Cox and Breslow-Wilcoxon tests) were analyzed by the Kaplan–Meier method using the GraphPad software (Inc., California, CA, USA). The assay was performed in duplicate.<sup>(45)</sup>

### 2.16 | Statistical analysis

Data from yeast and filamentous fungi growth inhibition assays were evaluated by oneway ANOVA. Differences in means of p < 0.05 were considered significant. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism software (version 5.0 for Windows).

### **3 | RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

# 3.1 | Chitin affinity chromatography, electrophoretic profile and detection of LTP by western blotting

The chromatogram reveals that protein extracts from the *C. baccatum* and *C. frutescens* species were fractionated, yielding two major peaks for each species (Figure 1). The fractions called *Cb*-F1 (*C. baccatum*) and *Cf*-F1 (*C. frutescens*) did not bind to the chitin column. The fractions named *Cb*-F2 (*C. baccatum*) and *Cf*-F2 (*C. frutescens*) were the fractions that bound to the chitin column (Figure 1A, C). Thus, the presence of peptides that have the ability to bind to chitin was verified.

The electrophoretic profile of the fractions obtained by the chromatography can be visualized in Figure 1B, D. In Figure 1B, which indicates the electrophoretic profile of *C. baccatum*, we can observe the protein bands for both fractions. *Cb*-F1 has bands in the marker range between 3.4 and 26.6 kDa, but there is a band above the 26.6 kDa marker. For *Cb*-F2, two major protein bands are demonstrated, between 3.4 and 14.2 kDa (Figure 1B). For *C. frutescens*, we can observe the electrophoretic profile in Figure 1D. In *Cf*-F1, we can observe major bands in the molecular marker range and bands above the 26.6 marker. For *Cf*-F2, we observed major protein bands between 6.5 and 14.2 kDa (Figure 1D).

The presence of LTP in the *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 fractions was demonstrated using antinsLTP serum by western blotting. The control used was an LTP of *C. chinense* seeds (Figure 2).

Other studies reported the presence of chitin-binding peptides isolated from plant seeds, such as Fa\_AMP1 and Fa\_AMP2, extracted from *Fagopyrum esculentum*, were purified by gel filtration on Sephadex G75, ion-exchange HPLC on SP COSMOGEL, and reverse-phase HPLC. They had molecular masses of 3,879 Da and 3,906 Da respectively<sup>(46)</sup> and Mo-CBP4 (11.78 kDa) was purified after protein extraction and chromatography on chitin and CM Sepharose<sup>TM</sup> columns, from *Moringa oleifera*<sup>(6)</sup> In the case of species of the genus *Capsicum*, little is known about chitin-binding peptides and their possible activities.

### 3.2 | Peptide identification by mass spectrometry

For the identification of peptides obtained in the *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 fractions, major bands obtained by electrophoresis (20  $\mu$ g) were submitted to mass spectrometry. The bands subjected to the technique are identified by an arrow in Figure 1B, D. The spectra were

interpreted by Mascot and PLGS software, and fragments of peptide residue sequences were obtained. The residues were subjected to identification of similar proteins in the NCBI and UniProt BLASTP databases. The obtained peptides CGVQLSVPISR (*C. baccatum*), TLSGLAQSTDERRYANLKDDAAQALPGKCGVALNVPISR and CEQQFQRTCDDYLRCEGLTQIIHQEQQAAVLQGRAEAFQTAQALPGLCRHCSIP SLS (*C. frutescens*) were similar to the type 1 lipid transfer protein (LTP-1) (Figure 3), and the results were reinforced by western blotting.

Mass spectrometry sequencing of the bands of the *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 fractions showed similarity with proteins of the LTP family (Figure 3). The presence of peptides related to the LTP family was also confirmed by western blotting (Figure 2). This result shows for the first time the property of LTPs to associate with the chitin matrix. The relevance of this finding will be investigated later.

Other works reported the isolation and characterization of nsLTPs, which involves extraction of proteins with saline buffer or acidic solution, fractionation in ammonium sulfate (~80%)<sup>(47-49, 25)</sup> and subsequent chromatography, which may include ion exchange (DEAE-Sephadex), size exclusion chromatography (Sephadex G-50) or reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography (RP- HPLC).<sup>(47,50,51,12)</sup> This is the first work that reports the isolation of LTPs through chitin affinity chromatography.

### 3.3 | Three-dimensional structure

Three LTPs were identified in this work, one from *C. baccatum* and two from *C. frutescens*. Based on the amino acid sequence, a search was performed on the NCBI for *C. baccatum* and the UniProt database for *C. annuum*, where we performed a prediction of the three-dimensional structure of the peptides (Figure 4). For all proteins, in green,

we have the region identified from mass spectrometry; in orange, we have an area highlighted that concerns the alpha helices found, while the regions in gray represent the coil regions.

The most conserved region is the 8CM motif, and the difference between the types of LTP is defined by the nature of the disulfide bonds, with variation in the C5 and C6 cysteines, leading to functional effects on the tertiary structure. Some amino acids are also important to define type I nsLTPs from the others, such as the conservation of a glycine between helix 1 and 2, connected by the disulfide bridge between C2 and C3. It is also known that lysine and tyrosine residues are conserved among type I nsLTPs. These differences contribute to the structures and can interfere with their mechanisms.<sup>(52)</sup> Generally, the three-dimensional structure of nsLTPs presents a compact domain composed of four helices (H1-H4) connected by short loops (L1-L3) and an unstructured C-terminal tail.<sup>(52)</sup> Helices 1 and 2 and the C-terminus are generally longer in type I nsLTPs. The domain is joined by several intramolecular hydrogen bonds and by four disulfide bridges conserved in the patterns: (1): C1-C6, C2-C3, C4-C7 and C5-C8 for type I nsLTPs<sup>(53)</sup> and (2): C1-C5, C2-C3, C4-C7 and C6-C8 for type II nsLTPs.<sup>(54)</sup> Furthermore, the three-dimensional structures have an internal tunnel-shaped cavity that will accommodate different types of lipids, in addition to being stable against thermal and digestive processing.<sup>(55)</sup>

### 3.4 | Docking of the LTPs with (NAG)<sub>4</sub>

The LTP three-dimensional structure most similar to *Cb*-F2 (Acession: PHT58787) was submitted to a blind molecular docking with (NAG)<sub>4</sub>, and the best model showed negative values of affinity energy (-8.085 kcal/mol), indicating spontaneous binding (Figure 5A).

Amino acid residues participating in the interaction with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> VAL83, ALA84, LEU85, ASN86 and PRO88 are located in the 5° loop region. ARG52 is present in the 3<sup>a</sup> alpha helix, while PRO78 and SER79 are exposed in the 4<sup>a</sup> alpha helix of the model surface (Figure 5A). The results from docking experiments showed that the LTP amino acids VAL83, LEU85 and ASN86 form hydrogen bonds with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> (Figure 6A, Table 1). Hydrophobic interactions of LTP residues ARG52, PRO78, SER79, VAL83, ALA84 and PRO88 with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> are represented in Figure 6-B, Table 1.

The best docking of the LTP three-dimensional structure similar to *Cf*-F2 (Acession: A0A2G3AMC5) with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> also showed a negative value of affinity energy (-7.516 kcal/mol), indicating spontaneous binding (Figure 5B). Amino acid residues participating in the GLN6, THR7, GLY8 and ILE9 interactions are present in the first loop region of the protein model, while ASP96 is present in the last loop region. CYS11 is located in the 1<sup>a</sup> alpha helix, and the amino acid residues THR54, ASN57, CYS58 and LYS60 are in the 3<sup>a</sup> alpha helix exposed in the model surface (Figure 5B). The LTP-(NAG)<sub>4</sub> complex suggests that the amino acid residues GLN6, THR7, ILE9, CYS11, ASN57 and ASP96 form hydrogen bonds with (NAG)<sub>4</sub>. (Figure 6C, Table 1). Amino acid residues THR7, GLY8, CYS11, THR54, ASN57, CSY58 and LYS60 interact hydrophobically with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> (Figure 6D, Table 1).

Amino acid residues identified from *Cf*-F2 were also similar to another LTP (Acession: A0A2G3AE21). The docking performed showed a negative interaction energy (-7.749 kcal/mol), indicating spontaneous binding (Figure 5C). Amino acid residues participating in the interaction with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> ILE2, ALA3, ASP4, ASN5 and GLU9 are present in the first loop region of the protein model. ARG32 is present in the 2<sup>a</sup> alpha helix, while GLN81, GLU82, GLN84 and ALA85 are present in the 6<sup>a</sup> alpha helix exposed in the model surface (Figure 5C). The results from docking experiments showed

that amino acid residues ASP4, ASN5, GLU9, ARG32, GLN81, GLU82 and GLN84 form hydrogen bonds with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> (Figure 6E, Table 1). Amino acid residues ILE2, ALA3, ASN5, ARG32, GLN81 and ALA85 interact with (NAG)<sub>4</sub> through hydrophic interactions (Figure 6E, Table 1).

The LTP three-dimensional structures most similar to *Cb*-F2 (Acession: PHT58787), *Cf*-F2 (Acession: A0A2G3AMC5) and *Cf*-F2 (Acession: A0A2G3AE21) isolated from *C. baccatum* and *C. frutescens*, respectively, were submitted to a blind molecular docking with (NAG)4. The docking of LTP with (NAG)4 showed negative affinity energy values (-8,085 kcal/mol), (-7,516 kcal/mol) and (-7,749 kcal/mol), respectively, for the previously described accessions, indicating spontaneous binding and interactions by hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions. The amino acids participating in the interaction with (NAG)4 were VAL83, ALA84, LEU85, ASN86, PRO88, ARG52, PRO78 and SER79 for the first access, GLN6, THR7, GLY8, ILE9 ASP96, CYS11, THR54, ASN57, CYS58 and LYS60 for the second access and ILE2, ALA3, ASP4, ASN5, GLU9, ARG32, GLN81, GLU82, GLN84 and ALA85 for the third access.

In a previous work, Ventury et al.<sup>(56)</sup> demonstrated that vicilin from *Vigna unguiculata* seeds (50 kDa), with chitin-binding, presented spontaneous binding, with energy values of (-7,527 kcal/mol), and interactions by hydrogen bonds, salt bridges and hydrophobicity. In another study carried out by Nazeer et al., <sup>(25)</sup> LTP was isolated from *T. ammi* seeds. The three-dimensional structure predicted for the isolated protein is composed of four  $\alpha$ -helices stabilized by four disulfide bonds and a long C-terminal tail. Docking was also carried out with two different ligands (myristic acid and oleic acid). The amino acids Leu11, Leu12, Ala55, Ala56, Val15, Tyr59 and Leu62 are suggested to be essential for the binding of lipid molecules. This binding pattern involving specific

residues with ligands is variable, what has been proven by many 3D structures of LTPs solved.

### 3.5 | Effect of Cb-F2 and Cf-F2 on the growth of yeast and fungi

To verify whether the fractions have antimicrobial activity, a growth inhibition assay was performed on the yeasts *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* at concentrations of 12.5, 25, 50, 100 and 200  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1</sup> for 24 h and on the fungi phytopathogenic *F. oxysporum* and *F. solani* at a concentration of 200  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1</sup> for 36 h. *Cb*-F2 inhibited the growth of *C. albicans* at concentrations of 50, 100 and 200  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1</sup> and inhibited the growth of *C. tropicalis* only at a concentration of 200  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1</sup>; however, it inhibited 100% of the growth of this yeast. *Cf*-F2, on the other hand, only inhibited the growth of the yeast *C. albicans* at concentrations of 50, 100 and 200  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1</sup>. It was also found that the retained (*Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2) and nonretained (*Cb*-F1 and *Cf*-F1) fractions did not show activity against phytopathogenic fungi at the tested concentrations (Figure 7).

The nsLTPs have been the subject of several antimicrobial studies. Although its *in vivo* studies are little explored, it is known that they are capable of inhibiting the growth of important pathogenic microorganisms *in vitro*. For example, nsLTPs from *C. anuumm* seeds demonstrated activity against *Colletotrichum lindemunthianum* and *C. tropicalis* with efficacy demonstrated at a concentration of 400  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1</sup> for both species. This concentration corresponds to a lethal dose for 70% of *C. tropicalis* cells. In contrast, when using *Cb*-F2, we observed 100% cell mortality using only half the concentration (200  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1</sup>) compared to *C. annuum* nsLTP.<sup>(57)</sup> In another study with the same species, the authors demonstrated that the identified LTP had activity against *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, *Pichia membranifaciens*, *C. tropicalis* and *C. albicans*,<sup>(58)</sup> while the LTP

identified in *Coffea canephora* demonstrated activity against *C. albicans* at a concentration of 400  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1,</sup> inhibiting only 50% of cell growth,<sup>(59)</sup> while *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 inhibited 84 and 62% at a concentration of 200  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1,</sup> respectively.

The defense response mechanism probably involves the secretion of nsLTP in the apoplast, allowing its connection with molecules secreted by microorganisms.<sup>(17)</sup> Therefore, they interact with receptors such as serine/threonine protein kinases, which have an extracellular leucine-rich repeat (LRR) domain, as well as a transmembrane region and a cytoplasmic protein kinase (PK). This interaction activates a cascade of protein kinases (MAPKs), inducing protective factors, such as PR proteins (related to pathogenesis), AMPs and SARs (acquired systemic resistance).<sup>(52)</sup>

### 3.6 | Cell viability

Due to the antimicrobial activity of the fractions, the cell viability of the yeasts *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* was determined at 200  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1</sup> with an incubation period of 36 h (Figure 8). *Cb*-F2 reduced the number of colony forming units (CFU) for *C. albicans*, showing 85.15% loss of viability. For *C. tropicalis*, the fraction showed an even greater reduction of 99.4%, indicating a fungicidal effect for this species. *Cf*-F2, on the other hand, showed a lethal dose of 84.3% for *C. albicans*. As expected, there was no CFU reduction for *C. tropicalis*.

To be considered fungicidal, an antifungal must reduce the number of colonies by 99% in CFU.mL, and to be considered fungistatic, it must reduce the number of colonies by <99% in CFU.mL in relation to the initial inoculum.<sup>(60)</sup>

### 3.7 | Toxicity effect on G. mellonella larvae of Cb-F2 and Cf-F2

The ability of *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 to cause toxicity in *G. mellonella* larvae at a concentration of 200  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>-1</sup> was evaluated. Both fractions demonstrated a low level of toxicity in inoculated larvae. For *Cb*-F2, it was verified that at the tested concentration, there was a 95% larval survival rate. For the *Cf*-F2 fraction, it was verified that at the same concentration, there was a lower survival rate, of 85% (Figure 9).

The toxicity of fractions to G. mellonella larvae was assessed in this study. These larvae are used as an alternative to traditional experimental models that use murines, as there are positive correlations between the results obtained in G. mellonella and murine models. This approach reduces experimental time and costs in addition to eliminating the need for authorization by ethics committees.<sup>(61)</sup> Although the peritrophic membrane (PM) present in the midgut of larvae is rich in chitin, we found that at this concentration, the fractions do not have the capacity to fully bind to this matrix and rupture it. Other studies report that chitin-affinity proteins can interfere with insect PM. The CBP fraction from V. unguiculata seeds was able to interfere with the development of Callosobruchus maculatus, reducing larval mass and length.<sup>(62)</sup> In another work, it is reported that CBPA, a chitin-binding protein, was expressed and purified from Escherichia coli. The interaction of this protein with the intestine and the PM in vivo was evaluated in G. *mellonella*, focusing on the initial objectives of the infection. From the results, the authors indicated that there is a possible interaction between CBPA and chitin-rich PM. Chitinases or other proteins can be produced and destabilize the chitin structure of the PM, along with the role of active pore-forming toxins known to damage midgut cells, resulting in reduced PM turnover.<sup>(63)</sup> As it has already been reported that chitin-binding proteins can interfere with PM, further analyses at different concentrations must be performed to confirm their low toxicity.

Infectious diseases and problems with antimicrobial resistance are increasingly serious, raising a demand for new antimicrobial molecules that have a broad spectrum of activity with few side effects.<sup>(64)</sup> As a result, AMPs have been sought as a promising alternative to traditional antibiotics, including nsLTPs, which have several actions, such as antibacterial, antiviral, enzymatic and antifungal activity.<sup>(65)</sup> Its positive charge favors its binding to negatively charged molecules, such as phospholipids and lipopolysaccharides, resulting in cell death.<sup>(15)</sup> As seen in this work, the *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 fractions are promising candidates for studying the development of effective methods for fungal control. However, further studies must be carried out to improve the results obtained.

### 4 | CONCLUSION

Two fractions of the species *C. baccatum* and *C. frutescens* were identified after chitin affinity chromatography, and their fungicidal activity and cytotoxicity *in vitro* and *in vivo*, respectively, were evaluated. Both fractions demonstrated *in vitro* antimicrobial activity against *C. albicans*, and only the *Cf*-F2 fraction did not show activity against *C. tropicalis*. After mass spectrometry, it was verified that both fractions were similar to LTPs, a group that has several functions in plants, including antifungal action. The *in vivo* toxicity of the fractions towards *G. mellonella* larvae was also evaluated. It was verified that at the concentration tested, neither fraction presented relevant a toxic effect on the larvae, indicating that they are candidates for the development of new therapeutic agents.

**ACKNOWLEDGMENTS** This study forms a part of the postdoctoral MSS and was carried out at the Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense. We wish to thank L.C.D. Souza and V.M. Kokis for technical assistance.

**AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS** The study was conceived by VMG and GRG. Experimental procedures were carried out by GRG, MSS, LAS, TZAF, FAA, SRF, CSN, and RPC. Data analyses were performed by VMG, AOC, GBT, RR, ARAO and VS. The article was written by GRG, VMG, and GBT. All authors reviewed the manuscript.

FUNDING This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior – Brasil (CAPES) – Finance Code 001. We acknowledge the financial support from the Brazilian agencies CNPq (307590/2021-6) FAPERJ (E-26/200567/2023; E-26/210.353/2022).

**DATA AVAILABILITY** All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this published article.

**CONFLICT OF INTEREST** The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

**ETHICAL APPROVAL** This article does not contain any studies with human or animal subjects.

### REFERENCES

- B. H. Gan, J. Gaynord , S. M. Rowe, T. Deingruber, D. R. Spring, The multifaceted nature of antimicrobial peptides: Current synthetic chemistry approaches and future directions. *Chem Soc Rev* 2021, https://doi.org/10.1039/D0CS00729C
- Y. Huan, Q. Kong, H. Mou, H. Yi, Antimicrobial peptides: classification, design, application and research progress in multiple fields. *Front Microbial* 2020, https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.582779
- M. Mahlapuu, J. Håkansson, L. Ringstad, C. Björn, Antimicrobial peptides: an emerging category of therapeutic agents. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* 2016, https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2016.00194
- J. Li, S. Hu, W. Jian, C. Xie, X. Yang, Plant antimicrobial peptides: structures, functions, and applications. *Bot Stud* 2021, https://doi.org/10.1186/s40529-021-00312-x
- 5. C. D. Freitas, C. A. Viana, I. M. Vasconcelos, F. B. Moreno, J. V. Lima-Filho, H. D. Oliveira, R. A. Moreira, A. C. O. Monteiro-Moreira, M. V. Ramos, First insights into the diversity and functional properties of chitinases of the latex of *Calotropis procera*. *Plant Physiol Biochem* **2016**, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2016.07.028
- 6. T. D. P. Lopes, H. P. S. da Costa, M. L. Pereira, J. X. da Silva Neto, P. C. de Paula, R. S. N. Brilhante, J. T. A. Oliveira, I. M. Vasconcelos, D. O. B. Sousa, Mo-CBP4, a purified chitin-binding protein from *Moringa oleifera* seeds, is a potent antidermatophytic protein: *In vitro* mechanisms of action, *in vivo* effect against infection, and clinical application as a hydrogel for skin infection. *Int J Biol Macromol* 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.01.257
- K. Berthelot, F. Peruch, S. Lecomte, Highlights on *Hevea brasiliensis* (pro) hevein proteins. *Biochim* 2016, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2016.06.006
- 8. J. X. Silva Neto, H. P. S. da Costa, I. M. Vasconcelos, M. L. Pereira, J. T. A. Oliveira, T. D. P. Lopes, L. P. Dias, N. M. S. Araújo, L. F. W. G. Moura, M. F. V. Tilburg, M. I. F. Guedes, L. A. Lopes, E. G. Morais, D. O. B. de Sousa, Role of membrane sterol and redox system in the anti-candida activity reported for Mo-CBP2, a protein from *Moringa oleifera* seeds. *Int J Biol Macromol* 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.09.142
- J. C. Kader, Proteins and the intracellular exchange of lipids. I. Stimulation of phospholipid exchange between mitochondria and microsomal fractions by proteins isolated from potato tuber. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1975.

- A. Molina, A. Segura, F. García-Olmedo, Lipid transfer proteins (nsLTPs) from barley and maize leaves are potent inhibitors of bacterial and fungal plant pathogens. *FEBS Lett* 1993, https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(93)81198-9
- P. Sterk, H. Booij, G. A. Schellekens, A. Van Kammen, S. C. De Vries, Cell-specific expression of the carrot EP2 lipid transfer protein-encoding gene. *The Plant Cell* 1991, https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.3.9.907
- F. R. Terras, I. J. Goderis, F. Van Leuven, J. Vanderleyden, B. P. Cammue, W. F. Broekaert, *In vitro* antifungal activity of a radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.) seed protein homologous to nonspecific lipid transfer proteins. *Plant Physiol* 1992, https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.100.2.1055
- J. Edqvist, K. Blomqvist, J. Nieuwland, T. A. Salminen, Plant lipid transfer proteins: are we finally closing in on the roles of these enigmatic proteins? *Journal of lipid research* 2018, https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R083139
- T. A. Salminen, K. Blomqvist, J. Edqvist, Lipid transfer proteins: classification, nomenclature, structure, and function. *Planta* 2016, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-016-2585-4
- 15. A. O. Carvalho, V. M. Gomes, Role of plant lipid transfer proteins in plant cell physiology-A concise review. *Peptides* 2007, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2007.03.004
- 16. F. Liu, X. Zhang, C. Lu, X. Zeng, Y. Li, D. Fu, G. Wu, Nonspecific lipid transfer proteins in plants: presenting new advances and an integrated functional analysis. J *Exp Bot* 2015, https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erv313
- 17. E. I. Finkina, D. N. Melnikova, I. V. Bogdanov, Lipid transfer proteins as components of the plant innate immune system: structure, functions, and applications. *Acta Naturae* (англоязычная версия) **2016**

- M. M. Tomassen, D. M. Barrett, H. C. van der Valk, E. J. Woltering, Isolation and characterization of a tomato nonspecific lipid transfer protein involved in polygalacturonase-mediated pectin degradation. J Exp Bot 2007, https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erl288
- H. Safi, W. Saibi, M. M. Alaoui, A. Hmyene, K. Masmoudi, M. Hanin, F. Brini, A wheat lipid transfer protein (TdLTP4) promotes tolerance to abiotic and biotic stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Physiol Biochem* 2015, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2015.02.008
- 20. T. I. Odintsova, M. P. Slezina, E. A. Istomina, T. V. Korostyleva, A. S. Kovtun, A. S. Kasianov, L. A. Shcherbakova, A. M. Kudryavtsev, Nonspecific lipid transfer proteins in *Triticum kiharae* Dorof. et Migush.: Identification, characterization and expression profiling in response to pathogens and resistance inducers. *Pathogens* 2019, https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens8040221
- 21. S. Hairat, V. K. Baranwal, P. Khurana, Identification of *Triticum aestivum* nsLTPs and functional validation of two members in development and stress mitigation roles. *Plant Physiol Biochem* **2018**, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2018.07.030
- 22. A. J. Schmitt, A. E. Sathoff, C. Holl, B. Bauer, D. A. Samac, C. J. Carter, The major nectar protein of *Brassica rapa* is a nonspecific lipid transfer protein, BrLTP2. 1, with strong antifungal activity. *J Exp Bot* 2018, https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ery319
- 23. A. A. Souza, A. S. Costa, D. C. Campos, A. H. Batista, G. W. Sales, N. A. P. Nogueira, K. M. M. Alves, A. N. Coelho-de-Souza, H. D. Oliveira, Lipid transfer protein isolated from noni seeds displays antibacterial activity *in vitro* and improves survival in lethal sepsis induced by CLP in mice. *Biochim* 2018, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2018.03.011

- 24. D. C. Campos, A. S. Costa, P. B. Luz, P. M. Soares, N. M. Alencar, H. D. Oliveira, *Morinda citrifolia* lipid transfer protein 1 exhibits anti-inflammatory activity by modulation of pro-and anti-inflammatory cytokines. *Int J Biol Macromol* 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2017.05.148
- 25. M. Nazeer, H. Waheed, M. Saeed, S. Y. Ali, M. I. Choudhary, Z. Ul-Haq, A. Ahmed, Purification and characterization of a nonspecific lipid transfer protein 1 (nsLTP1) from Ajwain (*Trachyspermum ammi*) seeds. *Sci Rep* 2019, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-40574-x
- 26. G. C. Vieira Bard, V. V. Nascimento, S. F. Ribeiro, R. Rodrigues, J. Perales, A. Teixeira-Ferreira, A. O. Carvalho, K. V. S. Fernandes, V. M. Gomes, Characterization of peptides from *Capsicum annuum* hybrid seeds with inhibitory activity against α-amylase, serine proteinases and fungi. *Protein J* 2015, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10930-015-9604-3
- 27. M. Divyashree, M. K. Mani, D. Reddy, R. Kumavath, P. Ghosh, V. Azevedo, D. Barh,
  Clinical applications of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs): where do we stand now? *Protein Pept Lett* 2020, https://doi.org/10.2174/0929866526666190925152957
- 28. S. F. Ribeiro, A. O. Carvalho, M. Da Cunha, R. Rodrigues, L. P. Cruz, V. M. M. Melo, I. M. Vasconcelos, E. J. T. Melo, V. M. Gomes, Isolation and characterization of novel peptides from chilli pepper seeds: antimicrobial activities against pathogenic yeasts. *Toxicon* 2007, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxicon.2007.05.005
- P. E. Smith, R. I. Krohn, G. T. Hermanson, A. K. Mallia, F. H. Gartner, M. Provenzano, E. K. Fujimoto, N. M. Goeke, B. J. Olson, D. C. Klenk, Measurement of protein using bicinchoninic acid. *Anal Biochem* 1985, https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(85)90442-7

- 30. M. R. A. Miranda, A. F. Uchôa, S. R. Ferreira, K. E. Ventury, E. P. Costa, P. R. L. Carmo, O. L. T. Machado, K. V. S. Fernandes, A. E. Amancio Oliveira, Chemical modifications of vicilins interfere with chitin-binding affinity and toxicity to *Callosobruchus maculatus* (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) insect: A combined *in vitro* and in silico analysis. *J Agric Food Chem* 2020, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.9b08034
- 31. H. Schägger, G. Von Jagow, Tricine-sodium dodecyl sulfate–polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis for the separation of proteins in the range from 1 to 100 kDa. *Anal Biochem* 1987, https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(87)90587-2
- H. Towbin, T. Staehelin, J. Gordon, Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. *PNAS* 1979, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.76.9.4350
- 33. A. Shevchenko, H. Tomas, J. Havli, J. V. Olsen, M. Mann, In-gel digestion for mass spectrometric characterization of proteins and proteomes. *Nat Protoc* 2006, https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2006.468
- 34. R. F. Carneiro, J. T. Viana, R. C. F. Torres, L. T. da Silva, A. L. Andrade, M. A. de Vasconcelos, U. Pinheiro, E. H. Teixeira, C. S. Nagano, A. H. Sampaio, A new mucinbinding lectin from the marine sponge *Aplysina fulva* (AFL) exhibits antibiofilm effects. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys* 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2018.12.014
- 35. S. F. Altschul, W. Gish, W. Miller, E. W. Myers, D. J. Lipman, Basic local alignment search tool. *J Mol Biol* 1990, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2836(05)80360-2
- 36. M. A. Larkin, G. Blackshields, N. P. Brown, R. Chenna, P. A. McGettigan, H. McWilliam, F. Valentin, I. M. Wallace, A. Wilm, R. Lopez, J. D. Thompson, T. J. Gibson, D. G. Higgins, Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. *Bioinform* 2007, https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btm404

- 37. N. Botini, F. A. Almeida, K. Z. C. M. Cruz, R. S. Reis, E. M. Vale, A. B. Garcia, C. Santa-Catarina, V. Silveira, Stage-specific protein regulation during somatic embryo development of *Carica papaya* L. 'Golden'. *Biochim Biophys Acta, Proteins and Proteomics* 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap.2020.140561
- U. Distler, J. Kuharev, P. Navarro, S. Tenzer, Label-free quantification in ion mobility–enhanced data-independent acquisition proteomics. *Nat Protoc* 2016, https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2016.042
- 39. U. Distler, J. Kuharev, P. Navarro, Y. Levin, H. Schild, S. Tenzer, Drift time-specific collision energies enable deep-coverage data-independent acquisition proteomics. *Nat Methods* 2014, https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2767
- 40. K. B. Santos, I. A. Guedes, A. L. Karl, L. E. Dardenne, Highly flexible ligand docking: Benchmarking of the DockThor program on the LEADS-PEP protein–peptide data set. *J Chem Inf Model* 2020, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jcim.9b00905
- 41. S. Salentin, S. Schreiber, V. J. Haupt, M. F. Adasme, M. Schroeder, PLIP: fully automated protein–ligand interaction profiler. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2015, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv315
- 42. R. A. Laskowski, M. B. Swindells, LigPlot+: multiple ligand–protein interaction diagrams for drug discovery. *J Chem Inf Model* 2011, https://doi.org/10.1021/ci200227u
- 43. W. F. Broekaert, F. R. Terras, B. P. Cammue, J. Vanderleyden, An automated quantitative assay for fungal growth inhibition. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **1990**, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1990.tb04174.x
- 44. J. R. Soares, E. J. T. de Melo, M. da Cunha, K. V. S. Fernandes, G. B. Taveira, L. da Silva Pereira, S. Pimenta, F. G. Trindade, M. Regente, M. Pinedo, L. de la Canal, V. M. Gomes, A. O. Carvalho, Interaction between the plant ApDef1 defensin and

*Saccharomyces cerevisiae* results in yeast death through a cell cycle-and caspasedependent process occurring via uncontrolled oxidative stress. *Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj* **2017**, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2016.09.005

- 45. E. Mylonakis, R. Moreno, J. B. El Khoury, A. Idnurm, J. Heitman, S. B. Calderwood,
  F. M. Ausubel, A. Diener, *Galleria mellonella* as a model system to study *Cryptococcus neoformans* pathogenesis. *Infect Immun* 2005, https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.73.7.3842-3850.2005
- 46. M. Fujimura, Y. Minami, K. Watanabe, K. Tadera, Purification, characterization, and sequencing of a novel type of antimicrobial peptides, Fa-AMP1 and Fa-AMP2, from seeds of buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum* Moench.). *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* 2003, https://doi.org/10.1271/bbb.67.1636
- 47. B. P. A. Cammue, K. Thevissen, M. Hendriks, K. Eggermont, I. J. Goderis, P. Proost, J. Van Damme, R. W. Osborn, F. Guerbette, K. C. Kader, W. F. Broekaert, A potent antimicrobial protein from onion seeds showing sequence homology to plant lipid transfer proteins. *Plant Physiol* **1995**, https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.109.2.445
- 48. R. Nawrot, D. Józefiak, A. Sip, D. Kuźma, O. Musidlak, A. Goździcka-Józefiak, Isolation and characterization of a nonspecific lipid transfer protein from *Chelidonium majus* L. latex. *Int J Biol Macromol* 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2017.06.057
- 49. S. Y. Wang, J. H. Wu, T. B. Ng, X. Y. Ye, P. F. Rao, A nonspecific lipid transfer protein with antifungal and antibacterial activities from the mung bean. *Peptides* 2004, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2004.06.004
- 50. D. C. Campos, A. S. Costa, A. D. Lima, F. D. Silva, M. D. Lobo, A. C. O. Monteiro-Moreira, R. A. Moreira, L. K. A. M. Leal, D. Miron, I. M. Vasconcelos, H. D. Oliveira, First isolation and antinociceptive activity of a lipid transfer protein from noni

(*Morinda citrifolia*) seeds. *Int J Biol Macromol* **2016**, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2016.01.029

- 51. I. V. Bogdanov, Z. O. Shenkarev, E. I. Finkina, D. N. Melnikova, E. I. Rumynskiy, A. S. Arseniev, T. V. Ovchinnikova, A novel lipid transfer protein from the pea *Pisum sativum*: isolation, recombinant expression, solution structure, antifungal activity, lipid binding, and allergenic properties. *BMC Plant Biol* 2016, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-016-0792-6
- V. C. Amador, C. A. D. Santos-Silva, L. M. B. Vilela, M. Oliveira-Lima, M. de Santana Rêgo, R. S. Roldan-Filho, R. L. Oliveira-Silva, A. B. Lemos, W. D. Oliveira, J. R. C. Ferreira-Neto, S. Crovella, A. M. Benko-Iseppon, Lipid transfer proteins (LTPs)—Structure, diversity and roles beyond antimicrobial activity. *Antibiotics* 2021, https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10111281
- 53. E. Gincel, J. P. Simorre, A. Caille, D. Marion, M. Ptak, F. Vovelle, Three-dimensional structure in solution of a wheat lipid-transfer protein from multidimensional 1H-NMR Data: A New Folding for Lipid Carriers. *Eur J Biochem* 1994, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1994.tb20066.x
- 54. J. L. Pons, F. De Lamotte, M. F. Gautier, M. A. Delsuc, Refined solution structure of a liganded type 2 wheat nonspecific lipid transfer protein. J Biol Chem 2003, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M211683200
- 55. W. Liu, D. Huang, K. Liu, S. Hu, J. Yu, G. Gao, S. Song, Discovery, identification and comparative analysis of nonspecific lipid transfer protein (nsLtp) family in *Solanaceae. Genom Proteom Bioinform* 2010, https://doi.org/10.1016/S1672-0229(10)60024-1
- 56. K. E. Ventury, S. R. Ferreira, M. de Moura Rocha, G. do Amaral Gravina, A. T. da Silva Ferreira, J. Perales, K. V. S. Fernandes, A. E. A. Oliveira, Performance of

cowpea weevil *Callosobruchus maculatus* (F.) infesting seeds of different *Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walpers genotypes: The association between bruchid resistance and chitin binding proteins. *J Stored Prod Res* **2022**, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jspr.2021.101925

- 57. M. S. Diz, A. O. Carvalho, S. F. Ribeiro, M. Da Cunha, L. Beltramini, R. Rodrigues,
  V. V. Nascimento, O. L. T. Machado, V. M. Gomes, Characterization,
  immunolocalization and antifungal activity of a lipid transfer protein from chili pepper
  (*Capsicum annuum*) seeds with novel α-amylase inhibitory properties. *Physiol Plant*2011, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2011.01464.x
- 58. L. P. Cruz, S. F. Ribeiro, A. O. Carvalho, I. M. Vasconcelos, R. Rodrigues, M. D. Cunha, V. M. Gomes, Isolation and partial characterization of a novel lipid transfer protein (LTP) and antifungal activity of peptides from chilli pepper seeds. *Protein Pept Lett* 2010, https://doi.org/10.2174/092986610790780305
- 59. U. Zottich, M. Da Cunha, A. O. Carvalho, G. B. Dias, N. C. Silva, I. S. Santos, V. V. Nascimento, E. C. Miguel, O. L. T. Machado, V. M. Gomes, Purification, biochemical characterization and antifungal activity of a new lipid transfer protein (LTP) from *Coffea canephora* seeds with α-amylase inhibitor properties. *Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj* **2011**, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2010.12.002
- 60. M. A. Pfaller, D. J. Sheehan, J. H. Rex, Determination of fungicidal activities against yeasts and molds: lessons learned from bactericidal testing and the need for standardization. *Clin. Microbiol. ver* **2004**, https://doi.org/10.1128/cmr.17.2.268-280.2004
- 61. S. Jemel, J. Guillot, K. Kallel, F. Botterel, E. Dannaoui, *Galleria mellonella* for the evaluation of antifungal efficacy against medically important fungi, a narrative review. *Microorganisms* 2020, https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8030390

- 62. S. R. Ferreira, M. de Moura Rocha, K. J. Damasceno-Silva, A. T. Ferreira, J. Perales,
  K. V. S. Fernandes, A. E. A. Oliveira, The resistance of the cowpea cv. BRS Xiquexique to infestation by cowpea weevil is related to the presence of toxic chitin-binding proteins. *Pestic Biochem Physiol* 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2021.104782
- 63. J. Qin, Z. Tong, Y. Zhan, C. Buisson, F. Song, K. He, C. Nielsen-LeRoux, S. Guo, A *Bacillus thuringiensis* chitin-binding protein is involved in insect peritrophic matrix adhesion and takes part in the infection process. *Toxins* 2020, https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins12040252
- 64. K. H. Luepke, K. J. Suda, H. Boucher, R. L. Russo, M. W. Bonney, T. D. Hunt, J. F. Mohr III, Past, present, and future of antibacterial economics: increasing bacterial resistance, limited antibiotic pipeline, and societal implications. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy* 2017, https://doi.org/10.1002/phar.1868
- 65. E. I. Finkina, D. N. Melnikova, I. V. Bogdanov, T. V. Ovchinnikova, Plant pathogenesis-related proteins PR-10 and PR-14 as components of innate immunity system and ubiquitous allergens. *Curr Med Chem* 2017, https://doi.org/10.2174/0929867323666161026154111

#### Legends

**FIGURE 1** Chromatograms obtained after chitin affinity chromatography of fractions *C*. *baccatum* (A) and *C. frutescens* (C). Protein elution was monitored by absorbance at 280 nm. The flow was 0.5 mL.min<sup>-1</sup>. Electropheheretic visualization by SDS-tricine-PAGE of peptide-enriched fractions. *Cb*-F1 (1) and *Cb*-F2 (2): *C. baccatum* (B) and *Cf*-F1 (1) and *Cf*-F2 (2): *C. frutescens* (D). M: Low mass molecular marker (kDa). Arrows indicate the bands that were subjected to mass spectrometry

**FIGURE 2** Western blotting of F2 fraction proteins extracted from different *Capsicum* species, *C. baccatum* (*Cb*-F2) and *C. frutescens* (*Cf*-F2), revealed by anti-LTP antibody. The positive control consisted of an LTP-rich fraction of *C. chinense* seeds

**FIGURE 3** Alignment of amino acid residues of the tryptic peptides of the major protein bands from *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 seeds obtained by chitin affinity chromatography (protein band marked with an arrow in Figure 1B, D) showed similarity with LTP protein type 1. Gray highlights represent regions of similarity, while black highlights represent identical regions

**FIGURE 4** Three-dimensional structure of the proteins identified in this work. PHT58787.1\_NsLTP1, A0A2G3AE21, and A0A2G3AMC5 refer to nonspecific lipid transfer proteins. The fasta sequences of each identified protein were used as input for protein modeling in the SWISS-MODEL server. The PHT58787.1\_NsLTP1 accession was obtained from NCBI for *C. baccatum*. Both A0A2G3AE21 and A0A2G3AMC5 were obtained from the UniProt database for *C. annuum*. The peptide sequences identified in this work are highlighted in green. The structures colored in orange refer to alpha-helix regions, while the gray color refers to the coil regions **FIGURE 5** Three-dimensional structure of the LTP protein interacting with (NAG)<sub>4</sub>. A: LTP with similarity to *Cb*-F2, *C. baccatum*, accession: PHT58787. Alpha helices are represented in blue; loop regions are represented in gray. B: LTP with similarity to *Cf*-F2, *C. frutescens*, accession: A0A2G3AMC5. Alpha helices are represented in green; loop regions are represented in gray. C: LTP with similarity to *Cf*-F2, *C. frutescens*, accession: A0A2G3AE21. Alpha helices are represented in pink; loop regions are represented in gray. The N-acetylglucosamine tetramer is represented in orange. Dashed blue lines = hydrogen bonds

**FIGURE 6** Docking of LTP with the tetramer of N-acetylglucosamine (NAG)<sub>4</sub>. Region of LTP: PHT58787 – (NAG)<sub>4</sub> interaction through (A) hydrogen bonds and (B) hydrophobic interactions. Region of LTP: A0A2G3AMC5 – (NAG)<sub>4</sub> interaction through (C) hydrogen bonds and (D) hydrophobic interactions. Region of LTP: A0A2G3AE21 – (NAG)<sub>4</sub> interaction through (E) hydrogen bonds and (F) hydrophobic interactions. Amino acid residues in lines participate in the interaction through hydrogen bonds; dashed blue lines are hydrogen bonds; amino acid residues in spheres participate in the interaction hydrophobically

**FIGURE 7** Effect of the *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 fractions from *C. baccatum* and *C. frutescens* on the growth of *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* at concentrations of 12.5, 25, 50, 100 and 200 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> for 24 h and the effect of *Cb*-F1, *Cf*-F1, *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 on the growth of *F. oxysporum* and *F. solani* at concentrations of 200 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> for 36 h. Values are the means ( $\pm$  SD) of triplicates. Asterisks indicate significant differences (*p* < 0.05) between treatments and controls. Values above the bars indicate the percentage of growth inhibition

**FIGURE 8** Cell viability of the yeasts *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis*. Petri dish images showing the growth of colonies in control (without addition of the F2 fraction) and after

treatment with 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> of *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 fraction for 36 h. Percentage of cell death was calculated in relation to the control, untreated cell (cell viability – 100%). The experiments were performed in triplicate. CFU = colony forming unit. Numbers under the images indicate the percentage of cell death

**FIGURE 9** Effect of *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 *in vivo* on *G. mellonella* larvae. Survival curve of *G. mellonella* larvae inoculated with *Cb*-F2 and *Cf*-F2 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>. Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and needle wounds were used as controls. Statistical significance was calculated using the Gehan-Breslow-Wilcoxon test *p* < 0.05

**TABLE 1** LTP amino acid residues involved in the interaction with the N-acetylglucosamine tetramer.

	PHT58787	A0A2G3AMC5	A0A2G3AE21
Hydrogen Bonds	VAL83	GLN6	ASP4
	LEU85	THR7	ASN5
	ASN86	ILE9	GLU9
		CYS11	ARG32
		ASN57	GLN81
		ASP96	GLU82
			GLN84
	ARG52	THR7	ILE2
Hydrophobic Interactions	PRO78	GLY8	ALA3
	SER79	CYS11	ASN5
	VAL83	THR54	ARG32
	ALA84	ASN57	GLN81
	PRO88	CYS58	ALA85
		LYS60	

























.





# 5 – CAPÍTULO 3

Purification, structural characterization, and anticandidal activity of a chitin-binding peptide with high similarity to hevein and endochitinase from pepper seeds

Purification, structural characterization, and anticandidal activity of a chitinbinding peptide with high similarity to hevein and endochitinase isolated from pepper seeds

Gabriella Rodrigues Gonçalves<sup>1</sup>, Layrana de Azevedo dos Santos<sup>1</sup>, Marciele Souza da Silva<sup>1</sup>, Gabriel Bonan Taveira<sup>1</sup>, Thamyres Marvila da Silva<sup>1</sup>, Felipe Astolpho Almeida<sup>2</sup>, Sarah Rodrigues Ferreira<sup>2</sup>, Antonia Elenir Amancio Oliveira<sup>2</sup>, Vanildo Silveira<sup>3</sup>, André de Oliveira Carvalho<sup>1</sup>, Rosana Rodrigues<sup>4</sup>, Valdirene Moreira Gomes<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Laboratório de Fisiologia e Bioquímica de Microrganismos, Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos

Goytacazes, RJ, Brazil, 28013-602.

<sup>2</sup>Laboratório de Química e Função de Proteínas e Peptídeos, Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brazil, 28013-602.

<sup>3</sup>Laboratório de Biotecnologia, Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brazil, 28013-602.

<sup>4</sup>Laboratório de Melhoramento e Genética Vegetal, Centro de Ciências e Tecnologias Agropecuárias, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro, Campos dos Goytacazes, RJ, Brazil, 28013-602.

# **Graphical Abstract**



With the emergence of multidrug-resistant microorganisms, antimicrobial agents have become a serious global threat, affecting human health and various plants. Thus, new therapeutic alternatives, such as chitin-binding proteins with fungicidal activity, are necessary. Chitin is an essential component of the fungal cell wall, and chitin-binding proteins exhibit antifungal activity. Thus, in the present study, chitin-binding peptides isolated from Capsicum chinense seeds were characterized and evaluated for their in vitro antimicrobial effect against the growth of *Candida* and *Fusarium* fungi. First, the proteins were extracted in phosphate at pH 5.4, and a chitin column was equilibrated with sodium acetate (0.08 M, pH 4.5), in which 50 mg of the fraction rich in peptides was applied. Subsequently, the retained material was eluted with 0.1 M HCl. Tricine SDS–PAGE was used to visualize the peptides. Growth inhibition assays were performed to evaluate the ability of the peptides to inhibit microorganism growth. After chromatography, two fractions, Cc-F1 (not retained on the column) and Cc-F2 (retained on the column), were obtained. Electrophoresis revealed major protein bands between 6.5 and 26.6 kDa for Cc-F1 and only one ~6.5 kDa protein band for Cc-F2, which was subsequently subjected to mass spectrometry. The protein showed similarity with hevein-like and endochitinase and was subsequently named Cc-Hev. Then, we predicted the three-dimensional structure of the peptides and performed a peptide docking with (NAG)<sub>3</sub>. Cc-Hev inhibited the growth of C. albicans and C. tropicalis and induced a 65% decrease in cell viability. Based on these results, new techniques to combat diseases caused by fungi could be developed through biotechnological applications; therefore, further studies are needed.

**Keywords** Antimicrobial peptides · *Capsicum chinense*, Fungi, *Candida albicans*, *Candida tropicalis* 

#### Introduction

Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) are a group of molecules that occur naturally in all living organisms and help them to defend against various pathogens, including fungi, bacteria and viruses (1). AMPs have a low molecular mass (~2-50 amino acids), are rich in hydrophobic amino acids and have a net positive charge (2). Some stable antimicrobial peptides can bind to chitin, an insoluble homopolymer present in several types of biological materials, such as the cell wall of fungi, insects and crustacean shells; however, chitin is not present in plants. Some peptides, including chitinases, vicilins, lectins, 2S albumins and hevein-like peptides, can bind to a matrix composed of chitin.

These peptides exhibit antimicrobial activity against bacteria and fungal pathogens, and they interact with fungal chitin through the chitin binding site, which plays a significant role in inhibiting fungal growth (3). The binding site shares structural similarity with hevein, an antimicrobial peptide from the latex of *Hevea brasiliensis* (Willd. exA. Juss.) Müll. Arg. The main element of all hevein-like peptides is that a conservative chitin-binding site is one of their essential structural modules (4, 5).

Hevein-like peptides are AMPs that are rich in cysteine, contain 29-45 amino acids and 5-7 residues contain glycine. A main feature of hevein-like peptides is a conservative chitin binding site with the amino acid sequence SXFGY/SXYGY, in which X is any amino acid residue (6). In addition, these peptides are present in the plant cysteine-rich antimicrobial peptide superfamily, are 2-6 kDa in weight, contain 6-10 Cys residues and contain three to five disulfide bridges (7). They also possess structural motifs composed of three antiparallel beta sheets and a short  $\alpha$ -helix, which are stabilized by 3-5 disulfide bonds (8). Previously, hevein-like peptides have been reported to exhibit activity against several fungal microorganisms with or without chitin in their cell wall (3). The mechanism underlying the activity of hevein-like peptides is mainly through depolarization of hyphae membrane (5).

Recently, several hevein-like peptides have been isolated from several plant species, such as wheat (8), quinoa (9) and moringa (10). These peptides exhibited activity against a range of microorganisms, such as *F. oxysporum*, *F. culmorum*, *Bipolaris sorokininana*, *Alternaria alternata* and *Cladosporium cucumerinum* (8). These findings have encouraged further studies on the application of these molecules against pathogenic fungi, as the molecules exhibit great activity and could be used to create new antifungal medications.

Peppers and chilies originate from the tropical Americas and belong to 22 families of *Solanaceae* and the genus *Capsicum*; 35 of these species have been domesticated, while the others remain semidomesticated and wild. The plants are dispersed worldwide, and in Brazil, they are cultivated mainly in the states of Rio de Janeiro, Minas Gerais, Bahia and Goiás; among the various locations, Rio de Janeiro is a special center of diversity (11). These plants are essential solanaceous vegetables with high world economic value. However, the growth, quality and yield of these plants are reduced by biotic (fungal, bactéria and virus infections and pests) and abiotic (drought, salinity and extreme temperatures) factors (12, 13).

Several AMPs have been isolated from different organs of plants within the *Capsicum* genus (14). For example, a hevein-like peptide was identified from *C. annuum* leaves; this peptide is approximately 4.2 kDa and was named HEVCAN. In addition, the peptide belongs to the chitin-binding domain family and exhibits antimicrobial activity (14). Our research group has previously isolated and identified several other antimicrobial peptides, such as defensin (15), LTP (16), protease inhibitors (17) and chitin-binding peptides (18), from *Capsicum* seeds. In this study, we used a chitin affinity column to

purify peptide fractions from *C. chinense* seeds, and these fractions exhibited chitinbinding capacity and activity against yeasts.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### **Plant Material**

The seeds of *C. chinense* (Access UENF 1755) were provided by the Laboratório de Melhoramento Genético Vegetal (LMGV), Centro de Ciências e Tecnologias Agropecuárias (CCTA), Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro (UENF), Campos dos Goytacazes – Rio de Janeiro (RJ). The seeds of *C. chinense* were sown in 72-cell polystyrene trays with substrate fertilized with the formulation (4 N/14P/8K) (Vivatto®). The trays were kept in a growth chamber at 28°C and irrigated once a day. After the emergence of two pairs of definitive leaves, the plants were transplanted individually into plastic pots (5 L) containing a mixture of soil and substrate (at a 2:1 ratio). The plants were subsequently transferred to an acclimatized greenhouse. The plants were irrigated once a day until the ripe fruits were harvested.

## Microorganisms

The yeast species *C. albicans* (CE022) and *C. tropicalis* (CE017) and the filamentous fungi *F. oxysporum* and *F. solani* were cultivated in Sabouraud agar (10 g/L peptone, 40 g/L D(+)glucose, 15 g/L agar) (Merck) and kept in a refrigerator at 4°C in the Laboratório de Fisiologia e Bioquímica de Microrganismos (LFBM) of the Centro de Biociências e Biotecnologia (CBB) from UENF.

First, 5 g of seeds was ground with the aid of a mortar, pestle and liquid nitrogen to form very fine-grained flour. After the flour was obtained, the proteins were extracted immediately (19). Initially, the proteins were extracted in phosphate buffer (0.01 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.015 M NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 0.1 M KCl, 1.5% EDTA), pH 5.4, at a ratio of 1:10 (5 g flour: 50 mL buffer) for 3 h under constant stirring at 4°C. The homogenate was subjected to centrifugation (15.000 × g for 30 min), the residue was discarded, and ammonium sulfate was added to the supernatant for precipitation at 0-90% saturation. The solution was kept overnight at 4 °C. After this process, the suspension was centrifuged again at 15.000 × g for 30 min. Proteins precipitated were recovered by resuspension in 10 mL of distilled water and heated at 80 °C for 15 min. Then, the mixture was subjected to the last centrifugation (10.000 × g for 10 min). The supernatant was dialyzed against distilled water (avg. flat width 32 mm, 1.27 in.) at 4 °C for 3 days and finally lyophilized.

#### **Protein Quantification**

Quantitative protein determinations were performed using the bicinchoninic acid method (20), with ovalbumin (Sigma) used as the standard protein.

#### Isolation of Proteins and Peptides with Affinity for Chitin

The chitin (poly- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ - $\beta$ -N-acetyl-D-glucosamine) used for this study was obtained from practical grade, powder and commercially available shrimp shells from Sigma– Aldrich. Chitin was chemically treated (21), where 25 g of industrial chitin was acidified with 500 mL of 100 mM HCl. This mixture was incubated for 24 h at 4 °C with periodic shaking. After 24 h, all the HCl was removed, and 250 mL of 100 mM NaOH was added to the resulting precipitate. This mixture was heated at 100 °C for 16 h. After heating, the NaOH was removed, and another 250 mL of NaOH was added to the precipitate for another 16 h of heating. This step was repeated once again, resulting in three 16-h warm-ups. After the last heating, all the NaOH was removed, and 200 mM HCl was added to the precipitate. The HCl was then removed from the mixture, and distilled water was added to the precipitate for storage. A chitin column was equilibrated with sodium acetate buffer (0.1 M, pH 5.5), and a 50 mg peptide-rich heated fraction solubilized in the same sodium acetate buffer was applied to the column. Chromatography was initially performed with equilibrium buffer. The retained fraction was eluted with 0.05 M HCl solution, and the absorbance of the desorbed proteins was monitored at 280 nm. The flow rate used was 1 mL.min<sup>-1,</sup> and the volume used was 3 mL per tube. Protein peaks were collected and recovered after dialysis and lyophilization.

#### **Tricine Gel Electrophoresis in the Presence of SDS**

For gel assembly,  $8 \times 10$  cm and  $7 \times 10$  cm glass plates and 0.75 mm spacers were used. The separating gel was prepared at a 16.4% acrylamide/bis-acrylamide concentration, and the concentration was 3.9%. The samples were heated for 5 min at 100 °C and centrifuged at 15,000 × g for 5 min. After these procedures, 20 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> of sample was added to the gel. The reaction was performed at a constant voltage of 24 V for approximately 16 h. Ultra-low Range Molecular Weight Marker (Sigma–Aldrich) was used as a protein molecular weight marker. The molecular masses of the proteins are shown in Da (26.600; 17.000; 14.200; 6.500; 3.496; 1.060) (22).

#### **In-Gel Digestion**

Using a scalpel, the gel bands were cut into slices and then into tiny cubes of ~1mm<sup>3</sup>. Each cubed slice was placed in a separate 1.5 mL tube, and 1000  $\mu$ L of destaining solution (50 mM AmBic/50% ACN - 1:1) was added to each sample. The tubes were gently agitated on a Thermomixer at room temperature overnight. After removing the solution, 200  $\mu$ L of fresh destaining solution was added for 1 h before removal. The gel bands were then dehydrated by adding 500  $\mu$ L of 100% ACN to each tube for 1 min, followed by a repeated step. For protein reduction, 200  $\mu$ L of a solution containing 10 mM DTT/100 mM AmBic was added to each tube and incubated at 55 °C for 30 min with gentle agitation on a thermometer. Subsequently, 500  $\mu$ L of 100% ACN was added to each tube for dehydration, followed by the addition of 200  $\mu$ L of alkylation solution (55 mM iodoacetamide-IAA/100 mM AmBic). The tubes were kept in the dark on a thermomixer at room temperature for 30 min.

For protein digestion, 200  $\mu$ L of cold trypsin solution (digestion solution containing trypsin in 10 mM AmBic/10% ACN) was used. The tubes were kept at 4 °C for 30 min and then transferred to a Thermomixer at 37 °C overnight for complete digestion. Afterwards, 200  $\mu$ L of extraction buffer (containing 1:2 of 5% formic acid to 100% ACN) was added, and the mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 30 min in a thermomixer. The samples were then evaporated in a SpeedVac until completely dry. Prior to mass spectrometry analysis, the samples were resuspended in 50  $\mu$ L of 0.1% formic acid in 50 mM AmBic (23).

A nanoAcquity UPLC coupled to a Synapt G2-Si HDMS mass spectrometer (Waters, Manchester, United Kingdom) was used for ESI-LC-MS/MS. During separation, the samples were loaded onto a nanoAcquity UPLC 5  $\mu$ m C18 trap column (180  $\mu$ m  $\times$  20 mm) at 5 µL.min for 3 min and then onto a nanoAcquity HSS T31 1.8 µm analytical reversed-phase column (75  $\mu$ m × 150 mm) at 400 nL/min, with a column temperature of 45 °C. For peptide elution, a binary gradient was used, with mobile phase A (water and 0.1% formic acid) and mobile phase B (acetonitrile and 0.1% formic acid). The gradient elution started at 7% B, then ramped from 7% B to 40% B until 92.72 min, then remained at 99.9% until 106.00 min, decreased to 7% B until 106.1 min, and finally remained at 7% B until the end of the experiment at 120 min. Mass spectrometry was performed in positive and resolution mode (V mode), 35.000 FWHM, with ion mobility and independent-data acquisition mode (HDMS<sup>E</sup>). The ion mobility wave was adjusted to a velocity of 600 m s<sup>-1</sup>; the transfer collision energy was ramped from 19 V to 55 V in highenergy mode; the cone and capillary voltages were 30 V and 2750 V, respectively; and the source temperature was 70 °C. For the TOF parameters, the scan time was set to 0.5 s in continuum mode with a mass ranging from 50 to 2000 Da. Human [Glu1]fibrinopeptide B (Sigma-Aldrich) at 100 fmol.µL<sup>-1</sup> was used as an external calibrator, and lock mass acquisition was performed every 30 s. Mass spectra were acquired with MassLynx v4.0 software (24). The calculation of the percentages of positive and identical residues was carried out considering only the residues obtained by mass spectrometry.

#### **Proteomic Data Analysis**

For spectral processing and database searching, the ProteinLynx Global Server (PLGS; version 3.0.2) (Waters, USA) and ISSOQuant workflow software were used (25, 26). The PLGS was processed using a low-energy threshold of 150 (counts), an elevated-energy threshold of 50 and an intensity threshold of 750. In addition, the analysis was performed using the following parameters: two missed cleavages, a minimum fragment ion per peptide equal to 3, a minimum fragment ion per protein equal to 7, a minimum peptide per protein equal to 2, fixed modifications of carbamidomethyl and variable modifications of oxidation and phosphoryl groups. The false discovery rate was set to a maximum of 1%. The proteomics data were processed against С. chinense (https://www.uniprot.org/proteomes/UP000224522) for C. chinense samples.

## **Protein Structure Analysis**

The predicted structural model for the hevein was generated using the FASTA sequences in the AlphaFold Protein Structure Database. AlphaFold is an AI system that predicts a protein's 3D structure from its amino acid sequence. The obtained models were further edited using PyMOL software to remove signal peptides when necessary.

#### Docking of Proteins with the Trimer of N-acetylglucosamine (NAG)3

Docking of hevein with  $(NAG)_3$  and of endochitinase with  $(NAG)_3$  was performed using the HTP SurflexDock 0.6 program (27). Docking was performed using a search space defined by a 15 Å radius in the central region of the hevein active site (residue 21). The  $(NAG)_3$  model was created from PyMol with the Azahar plug-in to design oligosaccharides. All rotations of the ligand were free to rotate while the atoms of the protein were kept rigid. The best complex was evaluated using the affinity energy value and submitted to the PLIP Web Tool (28) and the LigPlot+ v program 2.2.4 (29). Noncovalent interactions between hevein-(NAG)<sub>3</sub> and endochitinase-(NAG)<sub>3</sub> were identified by these programs.

## **Effect of Peptides on Fungal Growth**

For yeasts, aliquots of different species were taken from plates containing grown colonies and placed in new Petri dishes containing Sabouraud agar (10 g/L peptone, 40 g/L D(+)glucose, 15 g/L agar) (Merck). These new plates were kept in an oven at 30 °C for 24 h. For filamentous fungi, the inoculums were transferred from the stock and grown in Petri dishes containing Sabouraud agar (Merck) for 11 days at 30 °C. After growth, the cells/spores were removed and homogenized in 10 mL of Sabouraud broth (10 g/L peptone, 20 g/L D(+)glucose) (Merck) for quantification in a Neubauer chamber (LaborOptik) with the aid of an optical microscope (Axiovison A2, Zeiss). Subsequently, the yeast  $(1 \times 10^4 \text{ cel.mL}^{-1})$  and fungal spore cells  $(1 \times 10^3 \text{ cel.mL}^{-1})$  were incubated in Sabouraud broth added with different concentrations of the fractions obtained from the seeds. The assay was performed in cell culture microplates (96 wells) at 30 °C for a period of 24 h for yeast and 36 h for filamentous fungi. Cell growth was determined by optical density, which was monitored every 6 h in a microplate reader at a wavelength of 620 nm. Each test was performed in triplicate. The entire procedure was performed under aseptic conditions in a laminar extractor according to the methodology adapted from Broekaert et al. (30). Cell growth was also determined without the addition of proteins.
#### **Cell Viability Analysis**

After 24 h of incubation, the control cells (without *Cc*-Hev) and the test cells (with *Cc*-Hev) were diluted 1000×. A 60  $\mu$ L aliquot of the dilution was spread with a Drigalski loop over the surface from a Petri dish containing Sabouraud agar and cultivated at 30 °C for 36 h. At the end of this period, the colony forming units (CFU) were determined, and the Petri dishes were photographed (31). The experiments were performed in triplicate, and the results were presented assuming that the control represents 100% cell viability.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The data from the yeast and filamentous fungal growth inhibition assays were evaluated via one-way ANOVA. Differences in means of p < 0.05 were considered significant. All the statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism software (version 5.0 for Windows).

## Results

#### Chitin Affinity Chromatography and Electrophoretic Profiling

Chitin-binding proteins were obtained from na aqueous extracts of *C. chinense* by chitin affinity chromatography. The chromatogram showed that the extract was fractionated into two major peaks called *Cc*-F1 and *Cc*-F2; *Cc*-F1 was the nonretained fraction in the column and *Cc*-F2 was the fraction retained in the column (Fig. 1a). These results indicate that proteins and peptides with chitin-binding ability were present. The electrophoretic profile of the fractions obtained via chromatography is shown in Fig. 1b. The bands in the *Cc*-F1 fraction had molecular masses in the marker range between 6.5 and 26.6 kDa (Fig. 1b); moreover, bands were observed in the *Cc*-F1 with molecular masses above the

26.6 kDa band. In addition, only one band with a molecular mass of ~6.5 kDa was observed in Cc-F2.

## **Mass Spectrometry**

To identify peptides obtained from Cc-F2, we performed mass spectrometry with the band obtained by electrophoresis (20 µg). The spectra were interpreted by PLGS software, and fragments of peptide residue sequences were obtained. The UniProt BLASTP database was used to identify similar proteins for all residues. The obtained peptides LCCSQYGYCGSTRAYCGVGCQSNCGR and AYCGVGCQSNCG were similar to hevein-like and endochitinase (Fig. 2b). After that, we named Cc-F2 in Cc-Hev.

The type 1 chitin-binding domain has a signature profile composed of a repeating pattern with 8 cysteine residues, which establish disulfide bonds between themselves, as illustrated in Fig. 2a. In this pattern, C1 bridges with C4, while C2 bridges with C5. C3 bridges with C6 and finally, C7 bridges with C8. In the sequence identified in this work, it was possible to observe 6 cysteines, 4 of which follow this same pattern: C2 forms a disulfide bridge with C9 and C20 forms a bridge with C24 (number corresponding to the amino acid residue). For the *C. chinense* sequences, these residues correspond to C37, which forms a disulfide bridge with C44, and C55, which forms a disulfide bridge with C59, respectively.

## **Three-dimensional Structure**

Two peptides were identified in this work, pro-hevein and endochitinase. A search was performed on the UniProt database using the amino acid sequences, and we predicted the

three-dimensional structure of the peptides (Fig. 3). For both proteins, the area highlighted in blue represents the region identified via mass spectrometry. Both models show that cysteine residues form sulfur bridges in the chitin-binding domain. These cysteine residues are represented by lines.

## Docking of the Peptide Sequences with (NAG)<sub>3</sub>

The three-dimensional structure of the protein (UniProt code: A0A2G2X8S0) was subjected to molecular docking with (NAG)<sub>3</sub>, and the best model showed negative affinity energy values (-7.62 kcal/mol), indicating spontaneous binding (Fig. 4a). Based on the results obtained from docking experiments, the hevein amino acids Ser19 and Tyr21 form hydrogen bonds with (NAG)3 (Fig. 4a, b). The hydrophobic interactions between hevein residues Ser19, Tyr21, Tyr23, Ala29 and Tyr30 with (NAG)<sub>3</sub> are shown in Fig. 4b.

For the endochitinase (UniProt code: A0A2G2 WCK1), the three-dimensional structure was subjected to molecular docking with (NAG)<sub>3</sub>, and the best model showed negative affinity energy values (-7.18 kcal/mol), indicating spontaneous binding (Fig. 5a). As revealed by the results of docking experiments, the hevein amino acids Ser19 and Tyr30 form hydrogen bonds with (NAG)<sub>3</sub> (Fig. 5a, b). The hydrophobic interactions of hevein residues Gln1, Ser19, Tyr21, Phe23, Ala29 and Tyr30 with (NAG)<sub>3</sub> are shown in Fig. 5a, b.

### Effect of Cc-Hev on Fungal Growth

Initially, an antimicrobial assay was performed to evaluate the effect of 12.5, 25, 50, 100 and 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> *Cc*-Hev on the growth of *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* after 24 h (Fig. 6). *Cc*-Hev inhibited the growth of *C. albicans* at all concentrations tested, with the

highest inhibition percentages being 68%, 72% and 75% for 50, 100 and 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. For *C. tropicalis*, *Cc*-Hev inhibited growth at concentrations of 25, 50, 100 and 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>, and at the last three concentrations mentioned above, 100% of the growth of the microorganism was inhibited. For the two fungi that were tested, *F. oxysporum* and *F. solani*, the *Cc*-Hev obtained by chitin affinity chromatography did not inhibit the growth of the fungus at 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 6). *Cc*-F1 did not show activity against the microorganisms tested.

## **Cell Viability**

Based on the results obtained for the antimicrobial activity of *Cc*-Hev, the viability of the yeasts *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* was analyzed (Fig. 7). *Cc*-Hev at 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> caused a significant reduction in the number of CFU of *C. albicans* after 36 h of incubation, indicating a 65% loss of viability. For *C. tropicalis*, *Cc*-Hev reduced the number of CFUs by 100%, indicating that over this species the peptide has a fungicidal effect.

## Discussion

In this work, a peptide isolated from *C. chinense* seeds (accession 1755) was purified and identified. After the extract was heated, fractions rich in peptides were generated and purified by chitin affinity chromatography. After this purification, two fractions were obtained, called *Cc*-F1 (which does not bind to chitin) and *Cc*-F2 (which binds to chitin), in which the peptide eluted from the column was obtained (Fig. 1a). The electrophoretic profile of the fractions eluted from the chitin column by SDS–PAGE-Tricine showed bands corresponding to low-molecular-weight proteins and peptides (Fig. 1b).

Chitin-binding peptides have been identified in several species, such as *Solanum lycopersicum* (32), *Ficus microcarpa* (33) and *Vigna unguiculata* (34), has already been reported in the literature. For example, the Iu-CBP protein was identified and characterized from *Iberis umbellata* seeds. The purified protein presented an approximately 11 kDa band via SDS–PAGE, which was similar to *Moringa oleifera* chitin-binding protein (Mo-CBP<sub>3</sub>-1) and showed activity against several microorganisms (35). In the case of *Capsicum* plants, Ali *et al.* (36) reported that the CaChiIV1 gene, which was isolated from *C. annuum* plants, regulates responses to the fungus *Phytophthora capsici* and to abiotic stresses. Gonçalves *et al.* (18) studied the chitin-binding fraction of *C. annuum* seeds. The fraction inhibited the fungal growth of *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis*, was not deleterious when tested on *Galleria mellonella* larvae and neither to mammalian cells. Researchers also found that the protein band was similar to that 2S albumin.

After mass spectrometry was performed with the *Cc*-F2 band, amino acids were identified that showed similarity to hevein-like and endochitinase proteins (Fig. 2). An essential structural module of all hevein-like peptides is a conservative chitin-binding site (37). This chitin-binding site is common for hevein-like AMPs and other chitin-binding proteins, such as class I and IV chitinases and other wound-inducing proteins (6). Hevein and hevein-like proteins, as well as chitinases I and IV, contain six, eight or ten cysteine residues that form a typical cysteine motif. This motif specifically binds to chitin and exhibits antifungal activity against several pathogens with or without chitin (5).

The sequence of the hevein was previously identified and is very similar to that of the chitin-binding agglutinin *Urtica diocica* L. (UDA) from (nettle), which is an antifungal agent against chitin-containing fungal strains (30, 38, 39). Based on the characterization of hevein, the protein contains a characteristic coil- $\beta$ - $\beta$ -coil- $\beta$  motif, in

which the central antiparallel region comprises a  $\beta$  sheet surrounded by spirals and stabilized with disulfide bridges (5).

Our results demonstrated that the interaction between hevein-(NAG)<sub>3</sub> and endochitinase-(NAG)<sub>3</sub> was negative, indicating that spontaneous docking was facilitated by intermolecular interactions, such as hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions. The highly conserved disulfide bridges between heveins leads to the exposure of aromatic residues and potentially participates in N-acetylglucosamine recognition (40, 41). Previous studies have indicated that aromatic residues at relative positions 21, 23, and 30 in the hevein domains are essential for carbohydrate binding because the residues stabilize the complexes. Furthermore, hydrogen bonds occur at residues Ser19 and Tyr30 (42, 43). In this work, docking experiments revealed that aromatic residues, such as tyrosine and tryptophan, directly participate in binding with the N-acetylglucosamine trimer.

After the chitin-binding protein fraction was obtained, growth inhibition assays were performed with the yeasts *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* and the phytopathogenic fungi *F. oxysporum* and *F. solani*. *Cc*-Hev at different concentrations exhibited antimicrobial effects on both yeast strains; however, for phytopathogenic fungi, *Cc*-Hev did not inhibit fungal growth at the tested concentration. *Cc*-Hev exhibited a fungicidal effect on *C. tropicalis* yeast cells. The discovery of new biomolecules can increase the effectiveness of modern industrial fungicides and may increase the variety of natural sensitizers available for fungal infection, contributing to the management of various fungal pathogens (44).

As previously reported, hevein-like peptides exert antimicrobial effects on various pathogens, such as bacteria and fungi (3). According to the work of Loo *et al.* (9), the CB-HLPs peptide exhibited activity against four phytopathogenic fungi, *A. alternata*, *Curvularia lunata*, *Rhizoctonia solani* and *F. oxysporum* with IC<sub>50</sub> values of

approximately 9, 5, 3 and 0,3  $\mu$ M, respectively. In another study, two chemically synthesized antimicrobial peptides from *Pharabitis nil*, called Pn-AMP1 and Pn-AMP2, were reported. Pn-AMP1 demonstrated inhibitory activity against the yeasts *K. lactis*, *Z. bailii*, *D. hansenii* and *S. cerevisiae*, with minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of 400-500  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>, 400-500  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>, 1000  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> and 500  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>, respectively; this activity was revealed by the mechanism of action and the permeabilization of the yeast membranes. The Pn-AMP2 peptide showed activity only against the yeasts *K. lactis*, *Z. bailii* and *S. cerevisiae*, with MIC values ranging from 500-1000  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>, 1000  $\mu$ g.mL and 1000  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. The yeast *Z. rouxii* was not sensitive to any concentration tested for the two peptides. According to the MIC found, only Pn-AMP1 was characterized for its potential application as a food preservative (45). In the previous study, the concentrations used were high even at minimum inhibitory concentrations, 50  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> for *C. albicans* and 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> for *C. tropicalis*. In this study, the MICs were 12.5  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> for *C. albicans* and 25  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> for *C. tropicalis*; the concentration used to inhibit 100% of *C. tropicalis* growth was 50  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>.

Transgenic plants with hevein-like peptides are generated due to their strong activity against pathogens, as observed in tobacco and tomato (Pn-AMP2). The SmAMP1 and SmAMP2 peptides from tobacco demonstrated resistance to phytopathogenic fungi. These studies provide opportunities to develop transgenics based on peptides with activity

against fungal pathogens; in addition, the studies provide a foundation for new studies on an important family of peptides (5).

## Conclusions

Characterizing and investigating this type of molecule can help researchers control pathogenic and phytopathogenic diseases. *Cc*-Hev is a low-molecular-weight protein

purified from *C. chinense* seeds that is similar to hevein-like and endochitinase. In addition, the protein exhibits antimicrobial activity against the yeasts *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* but does not show inhibitory activity against the fungi *F. oxysporum* and *F. solani*. Although promising, these results are initial, and further studies are needed to determine the mechanism of action of the peptide; however, these peptides are great candidates for the development of new drugs to control fungal diseases.

**Acknowledgments** This work was performed at the Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro (UENF). We wish to thank L.C.D. Souza and V.M. Kokis for their technical assistance.

**Funding** We acknowledge the financial support of the Brazilian agencies CNPq (307590/2021-6) and FAPERJ (E-26/200567/2023; E-26/210353/2022).

**Availability** All the data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this published article.

Conflict of interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

**Ethical Approval** This article does not contain any studies with human or animal subjects.

## References

 Gan, B. H., Gaynord, J., Rowe, S. M., Deingruber, T., & Spring, D. R. (2021). The multifaceted nature of antimicrobial peptides: Current synthetic chemistry approaches and future directions. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 50(13), 7820-7880. DOI: 10.1039/D0CS00729C

- Huan, Y., Kong, Q., Mou, H., & Yi, H. (2020). Antimicrobial peptides: classification, design, application and research progress in multiple fields. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 11, 2559. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.582779
- Slezina, M. P., & Odintsova, T. I. (2023). Plant Antimicrobial Peptides: Insights into Structure-Function Relationships for Practical Applications. *Current Issues in Molecular Biology*, 45, 3674-3704. https://doi.org/10.3390/cimb45040239
- Slavokhotova, A. A., Shelenkov, A. A., Andreev, Y. A., & Odintsova, T. I. (2017). Hevein-like antimicrobial peptides of plants. *Biochemistry (Moscow)*, 82, 1659– 1674. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0006297917130065
- Azmil, S., Khatoon, S., & Hussain, M. K. (2021). Assessment of antimicrobial phytopeptides: lipid transfer protein and hevein-like peptide in the prospect of structure, function and allergenic effect. *Beni-Suef University Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*, 10, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43088-021-00158-z
- Beintema, J. J. (1994). Structural features of plant chitinases and chitin\_binding proteins, *FEBS Lett.*, 350, 159-163. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(94)00753-5
- 7. Tam, J. P., Wang, S., Wong, K. H., & Tan, W. L. (2015). Antimicrobial peptides from plants. *Pharmaceuticals*, 8, 711–757. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph8040711
- Odintsova, T., Shcherbakova, L., Slezina, M., Pasechnik, T., Kartabaeva, B., Istomina, E., & Dzhavakhiya, V. (2020). Hevein-like antimicrobial peptides WAMPs: Structure–function relationship in antifungal activity and sensitization of plant pathogenic fungi to tebuconazole by WAMP-2-derived peptides. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(21), 7912. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21217912

- 9. Loo, S., Tay, S. V., Kam, A., Tang, F., Fan, J. S., Yang, D., & Tam, J. P. (2021). Antifungal Hevein-like peptides biosynthesized from quinoa cleavable hololectins. *Molecules*, 26(19), 5909. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26195909
- 10. Sousa, A. M. P., Salles, H. O., de Oliveira, H. D., de Souza, B. B. P., de Lima Cardozo Filho, J., Sifuentes, D. N., & Egito, A. S. (2020). Mo-HLPs: New flocculating agents identified from *Moringa oleifera* seeds belong to the hevein-like peptide family. *Journal of proteomics*, 217, 103692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2020.103692
- Moscone, E. A., Scaldaferro, M. A., Grabiele, M., Cecchini, N. M., Sanchez García, Y., Jarret, R., & Ehrendorfer, F. (2006). The evolution of chili peppers (*Capsicum*-Solanaceae): a cytogenetic perspective. *In VI International Solanaceae Conference: Genomics Meets Biodiversity* 745, 137-170. 10.17660/ActaHortic.2007.745.5
- Mittler, R. (2006). Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. *Trends in plant science*, 11(1), 15-19. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2005.11.002
- Wang, W., Vinocur, B., & Altman, A. (2003). Plant responses to drought, salinity and extreme temperatures: toward genetic engineering for stress tolerance. *Planta*, 218, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-003-1105-5
- 14. Oliveira, A. P. B. F., Resende, L. M., Rodrigues, R., de Oliveira Mello, É., Taveira, G. B., de Oliveira Carvalho, A., & Gomes, V. M. (2022). Antimicrobial peptides of the genus *Capsicum*: A mini review. *Horticulture, Environment, and Biotechnology*, 63, 453-466. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13580-022-00421-x
- Gebara, R. S., Taveira, G. B., dos Santos, L. A., Calixto, S. D., Simão, T. L. B. V., Lassounskaia, E., Muzitano, M. F., Teixeira-Ferreira, A., Perales, J., Rodrigues, R.,

Carvalho, A, O., & Gomes, V. M. (2020). Identification and Characterization of Two Defensins from *Capsicum annuum* Fruits that Exhibit Antimicrobial Activity. *Probiotics and Antimicrobial Proteins*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12602-020-09647-6

- 16. Diz, M. S., Carvalho, A. O., Ribeiro, S. F., Da Cunha, M., Beltramini, L., Rodrigues, R., Nascimento, V. V., Machado, O. L. T., & Gomes, V. M. (2011). Characterisation, immunolocalisation and antifungal activity of a lipid transfer protein from chili pepper (*Capsicum annuum*) seeds with novel α-amylase inhibitory properties. *Physiologia Plantarum*, *142*(3), 233-246. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2011.01464.x
- Ribeiro, S. F. F., Fernandes, K. V. S., Santos, I. S., Taveira, G. B., Carvalho, A. O., Lopes, J. L. S., Beltramini, L. M., Rodrigues, R., Vasconcelos, I. M., Cunha, M. D., Souza-Filho, G. A., & Gomes, V. M. (2013). New small proteinase inhibitors from *Capsicum annuum* seeds: characterization, stability, spectroscopic analysis and a cDNA cloning. *Peptide Science*, 100, 132-140. https://doi.org/10.1002/bip.22172
- Gonçalves, G. R., Silva, M. S., dos Santos, L. A., Resende, L. M., Taveira, G. B., Guimarães, T. Z. A., & Gomes, V. M. (2024). Chitin-binding peptides from *Capsicum annuum* with antifungal activity and low toxicity to mammalian cells and *Galleria mellonella* larvae. *Peptide Science*, e24338. https://doi.org/10.1002/pep2.24338
- Ribeiro, S. F. F., Carvalho, A. O., Da Cunha, M., Rodrigues, R., Cruz, L. P., Melo, V. M. M., Vasconcelos, I. M., Melo, E. J. T., & Gomes, V. M. (2007). Isolation and characterization of novel peptides from chilli pepper seeds: antimicrobial activities

against pathogenic yeasts. *Toxicon*, 50, 600-611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxicon.2007.05.005

- Smith, P. K., Hermanson, G. T., Maallia, A. K., Gartner, F. H., Provenzano, M. D., Goeke, N. M., Oslon, B. J., & Klenk, D. C. (1985). Measurement of protein using bicinchoninic acid. *Analytical Biochemistry*, *150*(1), 76-85. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(85)90442-7
- 21. Miranda, M. R. A., Uchôa, A. F., Ferreira, S. R., Ventury, K. E., Costa, E. P., Carmo, P. R. L., Machado, O. L. T., Fernandes, K. V. S., & Amancio Oliveira, A. E. (2020). Chemical modifications of vicilins interfere with chitin-binding affinity and toxicity to *Callosobruchus maculatus* (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) insect: a combined in vitro and *in silico* analysis. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 68(20), 5596-5605. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.9b08034
- Schägger, H., & Von Jagow, G. (1987). Tricine-sodium dodecylsulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis for the separation of proteins in the range from 1 to 100 kDa. *Analytical Biochemistry*, *166*(2), 368-379. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(87)90587-2
- 23. Shevchenko, A., Tomas, H., Havli, J., Olsen, J. V., & Mann, M. (2006). In-gel digestion for mass spectrometric characterization of proteins and proteomes. *Nature protocols*, 1(6), 2856-2860. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2006.468
- 24. Botini, N., Almeida, F. A., Cruz, K. Z. C. M., Reis, R. S., Vale, E. M., Garcia, A. B., & Silveira, V. (2021). Stage-specific protein regulation during somatic embryo development of *Carica papaya* L.'Golden'. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Proteins and Proteomics*, 1869(2), 140561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap.2020.140561

- 25. Distler, U., Kuharev, J., Navarro, P., & Tenzer, S. (2016). Label-free quantification in ion mobility–enhanced data-independent acquisition proteomics. *Nature protocols*, 11(4), 795-812. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2016.042
- 26. Distler, U., Kuharev, J., Navarro, P., Levin, Y., Schild, H., & Tenzer, S. (2014). Drift time-specific collision energies enable deep-coverage data-independent acquisition proteomics. *Nature methods*, 11(2), 167-170. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2767
- de Almeida Filho, J. L., & Fernandez, J. H. (2020). MDR SurFlexDock: A Semiautomatic Webserver for Discrete Receptor-Ensemble Docking. In: Kowada, L., de Oliveira, D. (eds) Advances in Bioinformatics and Computational Biology. BSB 2019. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, vol. 11347. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-46417-2\_4
- Salentin, S., Schreiber, S., Haupt, V. J., Adasme, M. F., & Schroeder, M. (2015).
   PLIP: fully automated protein–ligand interaction profiler. *Nucleic acids research*, 43(W1), W443-W447. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv315
- Laskowski, R. A., & Swindells, M. B. (2011). LigPlot+: multiple ligand-protein interaction diagrams for drug discovery. *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling*, 51, 2778–2786. https://doi.org/10.1021/ci200227u
- 30. Broekaert, W. F., Terras, F. R. G., Cammue, B. P. A., & Vanderleyden, J. (1990). An automated quantitative assay for fungal growth inhibition. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 69, 55–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1990.tb04174.x
- 31. Soares, J. R., de Melo, E. J. T., da Cunha, M., Fernandes, K. V. S., Taveira, G. B., da Silva Pereira, L., Pimenta, S., Trindade, F. G., Regente, M., Pinedo, M., de la Canal, L., Gomes, V. M., & de Oliveira Carvalho, A. (2017). Interaction between the plant ApDef1 defensin and *S. cerevisiae* results in yeast death through a cell cycle-and

caspase-dependent process occurring via uncontrolled oxidative stress. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects, 1861*(1), 3429-3443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2016.09.005

- 32. Arfin, N., Podder, M. K., Kabir, S. R., Asaduzzaman, A. K. M., & Hasan, I. (2022). Antibacterial, antifungal and *in vivo* anticancer activities of chitin-binding lectins from Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*) fruits. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry*, 15(8), 104001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2022.104001
- 33. Takashima, T., Henna, H., Kozome, D., Kitajima, S., Uechi, K., & Taira, T. (2021). cDNA cloning, expression, and antifungal activity of chitinase from *Ficus microcarpa* latex: difference in antifungal action of chitinase with and without chitinbinding domain. *Planta*, 253(6), 120. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-021-03639-8
- 34. Ventury, K. E., Ferreira, S. R., de Moura Rocha, M., do Amaral Gravina, G., da Silva Ferreira, A. T., Perales, J., & Oliveira, A. E. A. (2022). Performance of cowpea weevil *Callosobruchus maculatus* (F.) infesting seeds of different *Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walpers genotypes: The association between bruchid resistance and chitin binding proteins. *Journal of Stored Products Research*, 95, 101925. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jspr.2021.101925
- 35. Saeed, A. H. S. A. N., Rafiq, Z., Saeed, Q., Khaliq, B., Ullah, A. N. W. A. R., Mehmood, S., & Akrem, A. (2021). Functional characterization of a potent antimicrobial and insecticidal chitin binding protein from seeds of *Iberis umbellata* L. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, *53*(4), 1515-1523. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.30848/PJB2021-4(16)

36. Ali, M., Gai, W. X., Khattak, A. M., Khan, A., Haq, S. U., Ma, X., Wei, A. M., Muhammad, I., Jan, I., & Gong, Z. H. (2019). Knockdown of the chitin-binding

protein family gene CaChiIV1 increased sensitivity to *Phytophthora capsici* and drought stress in pepper plants. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics*, 294, 1311-1326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00438-019-01583-7

- 37. Jiménez-Barbero, J., Cañada, F. J., Asensio, J. L., Aboitiz, N., Vidal, P., Canales, A., & Siebert, H. C. (2006). Hevein domains: an attractive model to study carbohydrate– protein interactions at atomic resolution. *Advances in carbohydrate chemistry and biochemistry*, 60, 303-354. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2318(06)60007-3
- Broekaert, W. F., Van Parijs, J. A. N., Leyns, F., Joos, H., & Peumans, W. J. (1989).
   A chitin-binding lectin from stinging nettle rhizomes with antifungal properties. *Science*, 245(4922), 1100-1102. DOI: 10.1126/science.245.4922.1100
- Lee, H. I., Broekaert, W. F., Raikhel, N. V., & Lee, H. (1991). Co- and posttranslational processing of the hevein preproprotein of latex of the rubber tree (*Hevea brasiliensis*). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(24), 15944-15948. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(18)98499-1
- 40. Itakaura, Y., Nakamura-Tsuruta, S., Kominami, J., Tateno, H., & Hirabayashi, J. (2017). Sugar-Binding Profiles of Chitin-Binding Lectins from the Hevein Family: A Comprehensive Study. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 18*(6), 1160. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18061160
- 41. Price, N. P. J., Momany, F. A., Schnupf, U., & Naumann, T. A. (2015). Structure and disulfide bonding pattern of the hevein-like peptide domains from plant class IV chitinases. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*. 89, 25-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmpp.2014.11.004
- 42. Asensio, J. L., Canada, F. J., Bruix, M., Rodriguez-Romero, A., & Jimenez-Barbero,J. (1995). The interaction of hevein with N-acetylglucosamine-containing

oligosaccharides. Solution structure of hevein complexed to chitobiose. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 230(2), 621-33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1995.0621h.x

- 43. Asensio, J. L., Cañada, F. J., Siebert, H., Laynez, J., Poveda, A., Nieto, P; M., Soedjanaamadja, U., Gabius, H., & Jiménez-Barbero, J. (2000). Structural basis for chitin recognition by defense proteins: GlcNAc residues are bound in a multivalent fashion by extended binding sites in hevein domains. *Chemistry and Biology*, 7(7), 529-543.
- 44. Shcherbakova, L., Odintsova, T., Pasechnik, T., Arslanova, L., Smetanina, T., Kartashov, M., & Dzhavakhiya, V. (2020). Fragments of a wheat Hevein-like antimicrobial peptide augment the inhibitory effect of a triazole fungicide on spore germination of *Fusarium oxysporum* and *Alternaria solani*. *Antibiotics*, 9(12), 870. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics9120870
- 45. Mignone, G., Shwaiki, L. N., Arendt, E. K., & Coffey, A. (2022). Inhibitory activity of two synthetic *Pharabitis nil* (L.) antimicrobial peptides against common spoilage yeasts. *Applied Food Research*, 2(2), 100168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.afres.2022.100168

## Legends

**Fig. 1 a:** Chromatogram obtained after chitin affinity chromatography was performed with the *C. chinense* fraction. Protein elution was monitored by absorbance at 280 nm. The flow rate was 0.5 mL·min<sup>-1</sup>. **b:** Electropheheretic visualization by SDS–tricine–PAGE of peptide-enriched fractions. *Cc*-F1 (1) and *Cc*-F2 (2) represent *C. chinense*. M: low-mass molecular weight marker (kDa)

**Fig. 2 a:** The type 1 chitin-binding domain has a signature profile composed of a repeating pattern with 8 cysteine residues, which establish disulfide bonds between themselves, as illustrated. The sequences identified in the present work and the aligned sequences have a conserved cysteine residue profile that involves disulfide bonds, this matches the signature of the chitin-binding type-1 domain. **b:** Alignment analysis between the sequences identified in this work and their orthologs with the highest percentage of identity, which was performed to identify the conserved domains. For the A0A2G3BFR5 protein, the sequences used were CHI1 from *Oryza sativa*, mO1 from *Moringa oleifera*, HEVL from *Arabidopsis thaliana* and the Hevein sequence from *C. chinense*. For the A0A2G3BZ09 protein, the sequences used were PN-AMP1 from *C. annuum*, AMP2 from *Fagopirum esculentum*, CBD1 from *Panicum virgatum* and endochitinase from *C. chinense*. Gray highlights represent regions of similarity, while black highlights represent identical regions. I indicates the percentage of identical residues highlighted in black, and P indicates the percentage of positive residues, that is, those that have the same biochemical characteristics

**Fig. 3** Three-dimensional structure of the proteins identified in this work. A0A2G2X8S0 refers to the pro-hevein protein, while A0A2G2 WCK1 refers to the endochitinase protein; both of these proteins were deposited in the UniProt database for *C. baccatum*.

124

The peptide sequences identified in this work are highlighted in blue. Cysteine residues that form sulfur bridges within the chitin-binding domain are represented by the line

**Fig. 4** Docking of hevein with the trimer of N-acetylglucosamine (NAG)<sub>3</sub> **a:** Threedimensional structure of hevein (UniProt code: A0A2G2X8S0) interacting with (NAG)<sub>3</sub>. The blue lines = hydrogen bonds, the dark blue rods = nitrogen atoms, and the red rods = oxygen atoms. **b:** 2D diagram representing the interactions between amino acid residues of hevein and (NAG)3 (LigPlot + program v 2.2.4). Red arcs = hydrophobic interactions, blue dotted lines = hydrogen bonds, black spheres = carbon atoms, blue spheres = nitrogen atoms, red spheres = oxygen atoms

**Fig. 5** Docking of endochitinase with the trimer of N-acetylglucosamine (NAG)<sub>3</sub> **a:** Three-dimensional structure of endochitinase (UniProt code: A0A2G2 WCK1) interacting with (NAG)<sub>3</sub>. The blue lines = hydrogen bonds, the dashed gray lines = hydrophobic interactions, the dark blue rods = nitrogen atoms, and the red rods = oxygen atoms. **b:** 2D diagram representing the interactions between amino acid residues of hevein and (NAG)3 (LigPlot + program v 2.2.4). Red arcs = hydrophobic interactions, black spheres = carbon atoms, blue spheres = nitrogen atoms, red spheres = oxygen atoms

**Fig. 6** Effect of the *Cc*-F2 fraction from *C. chinense* on the growth of *C. albicans* and *C. tropicalis* at concentrations of 12.5, 25, 50, 100 and 200 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> for 24 h and of *F. oxysporum* and *F. solani* at a concentration of 200 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> for 36 h. The values are presented as the means ( $\pm$  SDs) of triplicate samples. Asterisks indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between treatments and controls. The values above the bars indicate the percentage of growth inhibition

**Fig. 7** Cell viability of the yeasts *C. albicans* **a** and *C. tropicalis* **b**. Petri dish images showing the growth of colonies in the control (without the *Cc*-F2 fraction) and after treatment with 200  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> of the *Cc*-F2 fraction from *C. chinense* for 36 h. The

percentage of cell death was calculated in relation to that of the control, untreated cells (cell viability -100%). The experiments were performed in triplicate. CFU = colony-forming units. The numbers under the images indicate the percentage of cell death

Fig. 1













Fig. 5



Fig. 6





C. tropicalis



# 6 – CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS E CONCLUSÕES

## **Considerações Finais**

Os peptídeos antimicrobianos, como parte dos antibióticos naturais, estão cada vez mais ganhando atenção como antimicrobianos emergentes de amplo espectro de próxima geração. Eles apresentam diversidade estrutural e funcional, o que oferece ilimitadas possibilidades terapêuticas. Um dos grandes candidatos a medicamentos, os peptídeos sintéticos curtos bioinspirados em peptídeos naturais, apresentam apenas a parte ativa da molécula. Estes podem ser modificados com suas propriedades melhoradas, ter melhor eficácia terapêutica e produção mais barata em larga escala (Slezina; Odintsova 2023).

Mesmo esses peptídeos representando uma fonte potencial de agentes antifúngicos com novos e promissores mecanismos de ação, seu uso é limitado por uma série de desafios, incluindo propriedades físico-químicas e biológicas. A estabilidade biológica dos peptídeos para utilização sistêmica vem sendo uma barreira à comercialização. Eles são suscetíveis a degradação proteolítica, o que pode diminuir sua atividade e encurtar sua meia-vida (Konakbayeva; Karlsson 2023).

Para solucionar algumas dessas interações, esses peptídeos poderiam ser planejados e melhorados para atingir componentes específicos de interesse da membrana celular fúngica, e que não são componentes de células de mamíferos (Rautenbach *et al.*, 2016). O peptídeo antifúngico histatina 5, um peptídeo encontrado na saliva humana com forte propriedade fungicida, pode ser aplicado no tratamento da candidíase oral, constituindo-se em uma grande inspiração para novos desenhos de drogas e alvos específicos em fungos (Puri; Edgerton 2014). Algumas defensinas estão atualmente em fase de desenvolvimento e testes para uso clínico no tratamento de diversas infecções fúngicas, bacterianas e virais. No entanto, até o momento, apenas um peptídeo derivado de uma defensina de planta está nessa lista (Pezadeftida ou HXP124). Sendo assim, existe a necessidade do avanço nessa área de pesquisa a fim de aumentar o número de antifúngicos eficazes disponíveis (Hein *et al.*, 2022).

A partir destes estudos, proteínas antimicrobianas com amplo espectro de atividade vêm recebendo bastante atenção, já que podem ser utilizadas como ferramenta para o desenvolvimento de novos produtos para controle de doenças e pragas agrícolas e para a produção de novos antibióticos para o tratamento de inúmeras doenças humanas (Souza, 2020). Sua alta eficiência se deve a características como baixa massa molecular, sequência primária determinada, carga, conformação, ligações dissulfeto e razão hidrofóbica. Além disso, são proteínas catiônicas que podem interagir e desorganizar a membrana celular dos

microrganismos (Souza *et al.*, 2016). Para alcançar uma maior eficácia dessas e outras proteínas especificas da parede ou membrana celular fúngica, o estudo direcionado às proteínas e/ou peptídeos antimicrobianos de plantas poderia levar a novas moléculas e mecanismos de ação distintos, em comparação com os peptídeos e agentes antifúngicos conhecidos (Konakbayeva; Karlsson, 2023).

As LTPs também podem ter diversas aplicações, incluindo a saúde humana, considerando sua ação antimicrobiana. Alguns efeitos adicionais foram previstos, incluindo atividade antinociceptiva, pró-apoptótica, indução de sinalização celular sob estresse, eliminação de ROS (antioxidante), efeitos antiproliferativos em células cancerosas (hepatoma, câncer de mama e leucemia promielocítica), além da inibição da  $\alpha$ -amilase (com potencial uso no controle da obesidade). Além disso, elas podem auxiliar na estabilidade dos peptídeos, proporcionando estabilidade química e física a compostos farmacológicos (Amador *et al.*, 2021).

Dois peptídeos estudados neste trabalho apresentam similaridade com proteínas alergênicas (albumina 2S e LTP), e suas estruturas primárias foram identificadas através de espectrometria de massas. Modificações como substituição com aminoácidos naturais ou não naturais, carga, hidrofobicidade e estrutura, são estratégias que poderiam não só auxiliar no problema da alergenicidade, como também ajudar a melhorar a atividade e a estabilidade dos peptídeos encontrados. Com base nesses resultados, orientaríamos a pesquisa para as próximas etapas, com o objetivo de destacar os peptídeos encontrados como candidatos promissores para futuros ensaios clínicos. Confiando na atividade desses peptídeos, a albumina 2S e LTP poderiam ser utilizadas no controle a patógenos humanos.

As quitinases possuem diversas aplicações em vários campos, incluindo a indústria de alimentos, e são reconhecidas como substâncias antifúngicas com potencial uso como defensivo agrícola. Uma ampla variedade de cepas de fungos teve seu crescimento inibido, provando que as quitinases são agentes antifúngicos que podem ser aplicados como possíveis agentes de biocontrole, substituindo fungicidas químicos em larga escala no manejo de doenças fúngicas de plantas. Sua estabilidade em temperaturas moderadas (30 °C e 50 °C), as tornam uma enzima potencialmente útil no bioprocessamento para produzir quitooligossacarídeos para várias aplicações nos setores de alimentação, saúde e agricultura. Em breve, uma tecnologia de baixo custo que atinja o interesse público em geral, especialmente o setor agrícola, é essencial para dar a esse amplo campo de pesquisa uma direção frutífera (Li *et al.*, 2019; Malik, 2019). O

primeiro transgênico expressando uma heveina-símile foi desenvolvido em mostarda, e posteriormente, diversos outros transgênicos foram criados, incluindo o Pn-AMP2 em tabaco e tomate, além do SmAMP1 e SmAMP2 em tabaco. Eles apresentaram significativo aumento na resistência a fungos fitopatogênicos. Estes estudos abrem caminho para o desenvolvimento de transgênicos baseados em peptídeos ativos contra diferentes grupos de fungos fitopatogênicos

(Azmi et al., 2021).

Ainda em relação à perspectiva agronômica, o uso de genótipos resistentes é uma das principais abordagens genéticas utilizadas (Holaskova *et al.*, 2015), mas isso se restringe a poucas culturas e fitopatógenos. As proteínas da família das heveínas ou quitinases poderiam ser mais direcionadas para aplicações na agricultura, podendo atuar como agentes contra fitopatógenos, bem como poderiam ser utilizadas para superexpressão em plantas visando o aumento da resistência contra fungos fitopatogênicos. Além disso, poderiam ser realizados ensaios em sinergia com drogas utilizadas comercialmente. Desta forma, a tentativa de controle de tais patógenos, de modo ecologicamente correto, se apresenta como importante e prioritária, sendo a prospecção de proteínas e/ou peptídeos antifúngicos e a transferência de genes que confiram resistência contra esses organismos de grande interesse. Essas famílias de proteínas e/ou peptídeos podem desempenhar um papel essencial no desenvolvimento de novas moléculas antimicrobianas, aumentando as chances de superar o desafio imposto pela resistência microbiana.

## **Conclusões Gerais**

Os resultados obtidos neste trabalho, permitem concluir que:

- Todas as espécies de *Capsicum* usadas neste trabalho apresentaram frações ligantes à quitina, as quais apresentaram proteínas de baixa massa molecular, variando de 3,0 a 26,6 kDa;
- Todas as frações isoladas de ligação à quitina apresentaram atividade inibitória contra as leveduras testadas em diferentes concentrações, com exceção de *Cf*-F2 de *C*. *frutescens* que não apresentou atividade sobre *C. tropicalis*;
- Todas as frações testadas diminuíram a viabilidade celular de *C. albicans* e apenas *Cf*-F2 de *C. frutescens* não causou redução na viabilidade celular de *C. tropicalis*;
- Nenhuma fração de ligação à quitina apresentou atividade inibitória sobre os fungos *F. oxysporum* e *F. solani*;
- A fração *Ca*-F2 apresentou baixa hemotoxicidade, em diferentes concentrações, quando testada contra eritrócitos de carneiro;
- A fração *Ca*-F2 foi capaz de promover alterações morfológicas nas células e causar permeabilização na membrana plasmática da levedura *C. albicans*, na concentração de 100 μg.mL<sup>-1</sup>;
- A fração *Ca*-F2 foi a única fração ligante à quitina que demonstrou ser capaz de inibir a enzima tripsina;
- *Ca*-F2, *Cb*-F2 e *Cf*-F2 demonstraram baixa toxicidade quando testadas *in vivo* em larvas de *G. mellonella*, na concentração de 200 μg.mL<sup>-1</sup>;
- A banda proteica de aproximadamente 6,5 kDa da fração Ca-F2 foi submetida ao sequenciamento de aminoácidos por espectrometria de massas e apresentou similaridade com albumina 2S;
- As bandas proteicas de aproximadamente 6,5 kDa das frações Cb-F2 e Cf-F2 foram submetidas ao sequenciamento de aminoácidos por espectrometria de massas e após análise demonstraram similaridade com LTP;
- A banda proteica de aproximadamente 6,5 kDa de Cc-F2 foi submetida ao sequenciamento de aminoácidos por espectrometria de massas e exibiu similaridade com heveína e endoquitinase, sendo denominada como Cc-Hev.

## REFERÊNCIAS

Al Akeel, R., Mateen, A., Syed, R., Alyousef, A. A., & Shaik, M. R. (2017). Screening, purification and characterization of anionic antimicrobial proteins from *Foeniculum vulgare*. **Molecules**, 22(4), 602.

Ali, M., Gai, W. X., Khattak, A. M., Khan, A., Haq, S. U., Ma, X., ... & Gong, Z. H. (2019). Knockdown of the chitin-binding protein family gene CaChiIV1 increased sensitivity to *Phytophthora capsici* and drought stress in pepper plants. **Molecular Genetics and Genomics**, 294, 1311-1326.

Amador, V. C., Santos-Silva, C. A. D., Vilela, L. M. B., Oliveira-Lima, M., de Santana Rêgo, M., Roldan-Filho, R. S., ... & Benko-Iseppon, A. M. (2021). Lipid transfer proteins (LTPs) — Structure, diversity and roles beyond antimicrobial activity. **Antibiotics**, 10(11), 1281.

Amaral, J. L., Souza, P. F., Oliveira, J. T., Freire, V. N., & Sousa, D. O. (2021). Computational approach, scanning electron and fluorescence microscopies revealed insights into the action mechanisms of anticandidal peptide Mo-CBP3-PepIII. Life Sciences, 281, 119775.

Akram, F., Imtiaz, M., & ul Haq, I. (2023). Emergent crisis of antibiotic resistance: A silent pandemic threat to 21st century. **Microbial Pathogenesis**, 174, 105923.

Asensio, J. L., Siebert, H. C., Laynez, J., Poveda, A., Nieto, P. M., Soedjanaamadja, U. M., ... & Jiménez-Barbero, J. (2000). Structural basis for chitin recognition by defense proteins: GlcNAc residues are bound in a multivalent fashion by extended binding sites in hevein domains. **Chemistry & biology**, 7(7), 529-543.

Azmi, S., Khatoon, S., & Hussain, M. K. (2021). Assessment of antimicrobial phytopeptides: lipid transfer protein and hevein-like peptide in the prospect of structure, function and allergenic effect. **Beni-Suef University Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences**, 10, 1-11.

Baenas, N., Belović, M., Ilic, N., Moreno, D. A., & García-Viguera, C. (2019). Industrial use of pepper (*Capsicum annum* L.) derived products: Technological benefits and biological advantages. Food chemistry, 274, 872-885.

Batiha, G. E. S., Alqahtani, A., Ojo, O. A., Shaheen, H. M., Wasef, L., Elzeiny, M., ... & Hetta,
H. F. (2020). Biological properties, bioactive constituents, and pharmacokinetics of some *Capsicum* spp. and capsaicinoids. International journal of molecular sciences, 21(15), 5179.

Berman, J., & Krysan, D. J. (2020). Drug resistance and tolerance in fungi. **Nature Reviews Microbiology**, 18(6), 319-331.

Bezerra, L. C. C., de Queiroz, E. W. A., da Cruz Freire, J. E. (2018). Predição físico-química, modelagem e análise do mecanismo de interação da quitinase Mo-chi1 [*Moringa oleifera*, LAM.], com poli- $\beta$ -(1-4)-n-acetil-d-glucosamine: Uma abordagem in silico. DESAFIOS-**Revista Interdisciplinar Da Universidade Federal Do Tocantins**, 5(1), 111-120.

Bianchi, P. A., Renata Almeida da Silva, L., André da Silva Alencar, A., Henrique Araújo Diniz Santos, P., Pimenta, S., Pombo Sudré, C., ... & Rodrigues, R. (2020). Biomorphological characterization of Brazilian *Capsicum chinense* Jacq. germplasm. **Agronomy**, 10(3), 447.

Bianchi, P. A., Dutra, I. P., Moulin, M. M., Santos, J. O., Santos Júnior, A. C. (2016). Morphological characterization and analysis of genetic variability among pepper accessions. Ciência Rural, 46(7), 1151-1157.

Blanco, J. L., & Garcia, M. E. (2008). Immune response to fungal infections. Veterinary immunology and immunopathology, 125(1-2), 47-70.

Bradshaw, J. P. (2003). Cationic antimicrobial peptides: issues for potential clinical use. **BioDrugs**, 17, 233-240.

Broekaert, W. F., Marien, W., Terras, F. R., De Bolle, M. F., Proost, P., Van Damme, J., ... & Rees, S. B. (1992). Antimicrobial peptides from *Amaranthus caudatus* seeds with sequence homology to the cysteine/glycine-rich domain of chitin-binding proteins. **Biochemistry**, 31(17), 4308-4314.

Campos, D. C., Costa, A. S., Lima, A. D., Silva, F. D., Lobo, M. D., Monteiro-Moreira, A. C. O., ... & Oliveira, H. D. (2016). First isolation and antinociceptive activity of a lipid transfer protein from noni (*Morinda citrifolia*) seeds. **International journal of biological macromolecules**, 86, 71-79.

Campoy, S., & Adrio, J. L. (2017). Antifungals. Biochemical pharmacology, 133, 86-96.

Carrizo García, C., Barfuss, M. H., Sehr, E. M., Barboza, G. E., Samuel, R., Moscone, E. A., & Ehrendorfer, F. (2016). Phylogenetic relationships, diversification and expansion of chili peppers (*Capsicum, Solanaceae*). **Annals of botany**, 118(1), 35-51.

Carvalho, S. I. C., Bianchetti, L. B. (2007). Pimenta (*Capsicum* spp.): botânica. Embrapa Hortaliças.

Chapot, M. P., Peumans, W. J., & Strosberg, A. D. (1986). Extensive homologies between lectins from non-leguminous plants. **FEBS letters**, 195(1-2), 231-234.

Chen, C. S., Chen, C. Y., Ravinath, D. M., Bungahot, A., Cheng, C. P., & You, R. I. (2018). Functional characterization of chitin-binding lectin from *Solanum integrifolium* containing antifungal and insecticidal activities. **BMC plant biology**, 18(1), 1-11.

Cui, X., Wang, L., Lue, Y., & Yue, C. (2022). Development and research progress of anti-drug resistant fungal drugs. **Journal of Infection and Public Health**.

Da Fonseca, S. T. D., Teixeira, T. R., Ferreira, J. M. S., Lima, L. A. R. D. S., Luyten, W., & Castro, A. H. F. (2022). Flavonoid-rich fractions of *Bauhinia holophylla* leaves inhibit *Candida albicans* biofilm formation and hyphae growth. **Plants**, 11(14), 1796.

Da Silva, F. C. V., do Nascimento, V. V., Machado, O. L. T., Pereira, L. D. S., Gomes, V. M., & de Oliveira Carvalho, A. (2018). Insight into the α-amylase inhibitory activity of plant lipid transfer proteins. **Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling**, 58(11), 2294-2304.

Dana, M. M., Pintor-Toro, J. A., Cubero, B. (2006). Transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing chitinases of fungal origin show enhanced resistance to biotic and abiotic stress agents. **Plant Physiology**, 142(2), 722-730.

De Bolle, M. F., David, K. M., Rees, S. B., Vanderleyden, J., Cammue, B. P., & Broekaert, W.F. (1993). Cloning and characterization of a cDNA encoding an antimicrobial chitin-binding protein from amaranth, *Amaranthus caudatus*. Plant molecular biology, 22, 1187-1190.

De Oliveira, C. F. R., de Moura, M. C., Napoleão, T. H., Paiva, P. M. G., Coelho, L. C. B. B., & Macedo, M. L. R. (2017). A chitin-binding lectin from *Moringa oleifera* seeds (WSMoL) impairs the digestive physiology of the Mediterranean flour larvae, *Anagasta kuehniella*. **Pesticide biochemistry and physiology**, 142, 67-76.

De Ullivarri, M. F., Arbulu, S., Garcia-Gutierrez, E., & Cotter, P. D. (2020). Antifungal peptides as therapeutic agents. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology, 10(105).

Diz, M. S., Carvalho, A. O., Rodrigues, R., Neves-Ferreira, A. G. C., Da Cunha, M., Alves, E.
W., ... & Gomes, V. M. (2006). Antimicrobial peptides from chilli pepper seeds causes yeast plasma membrane permeabilization and inhibits the acidification of the medium by yeast cells.
Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects, 1760(9), 1323-1332.

Dong, X., Zhao, Y., Ran, X., Guo, L., & Zhao, D. G. (2017). Overexpression of a new chitinase gene EuCHIT2 enhances resistance to *Erysiphe cichoracearum* DC. in tobacco plants. **International Journal of Molecular Sciences**, 18(11), 2361.

Dos Santos, L. D. A., Taveira, G. B., Ribeiro, S. D. F. F., da Silva Pereira, L., de Oliveira Carvalho, A., Rodrigues, R., ... & Gomes, V. M. (2017). Purification and characterization of peptides from *Capsicum annuum* fruits which are  $\alpha$ -amylase inhibitors and exhibit high antimicrobial activity against fungi of agronomic importance. **Protein expression and purification**, 132, 97-107.

Durechova, D., Jopcik, M., Rajninec, M., Moravcikova, J., Libantova, J. (2019). Expression of *Drosera rotundifolia* chitinase in transgenic tobacco plants enhanced their antifungal potential. **Molecular Biotechnology**, 61(12), 916-928.

Edqvist, J., Blomqvist, K., Nieuwland, J., & Salminen, T. A. (2018). Plant lipid transfer proteins: are we finally closing in on the roles of these enigmatic proteins? **Journal of lipid research**, 59(8), 1374-1382.

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). (2019). The state of food and agriculture: Moving forward on food loss and waste reduction. Disponível em: < https://www.fao.org/3/ca6030en/ca6030en.pdf>. Acesso em: 23 de Janeiro de 2024.

Finkina, E. I., Melnikova, D. N., & Bogdanov, I. V. (2016). Lipid transfer proteins as components of the plant innate immune system: structure, functions, and applications. Acta Naturae (англоязычная версия), 8(2 (29)), 47-61.

Fleury, C., Gracy, J., Gautier, M. F., Pons, J. L., Dufayard, J. F., Labesse, G., ... & De Lamotte,
F. (2019). Comprehensive classification of the plant non-specific lipid transfer protein
superfamily towards its sequence–structure–function analysis. PeerJ, 7, e7504.

Franco, O. L., Murad, A. M., Leite, J. R., Mendes, P. A., Prates, M. V., & Bloch Jr, C. (2006). Identification of a cowpea γ-thionin with bactericidal activity. **The FEBS journal**, 273(15), 3489-3497.

Fráterová, L., Salaj, T., Matušíková, I., Salaj, J. (2013). The role of chitinases and glucanases in somatic embryogenesis of black pine and hybrid firs. **Open Life Sciences**, 8(12), 1172-1182.

Freire, J. E., Vasconcelos, I. M., Moreno, F. B., Batista, A. B., Lobo, M. D., Pereira, M. L., ...
& Grangeiro, T. B. (2015). *Mo*-CBP3, an antifungal chitin-binding protein from *Moringa oleifera* seeds, is a member of the 2S albumin family. PLoS One, 10(3), e0119871.

Fujimura, M., Ideguchi, M., Minami, Y., Watanabe, K., & Tadera, K. (2005). Amino acid sequence and antimicrobial activity of chitin-binding peptides, *Pp*-AMP 1 and *Pp*-AMP 2, from Japanese bamboo shoots (*Phyllostachys pubescens*). **Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry**, 69(3), 642-645.

Gebara, R. S., Taveira, G. B., de Azevedo dos Santos, L., Calixto, S. D., Simão, T. L. B. V., Lassounskaia, E., ... & Gomes, V. M. (2020). Identification and characterization of two defensins from *Capsicum annuum* fruits that exhibit antimicrobial activity. **Probiotics and antimicrobial proteins**, 12, 1253-1265.

Graham, L. S., Sticklen, M. B. (1994). Plant chitinases. Canadian Journal of Botany, 72(8), 1057-1083.

Gincel, E., Simorre, J. P., Caille, A., Marion, D., Ptak, M., & Vovelle, F. (1994). Threedimensional structure in solution of a wheat lipid-transfer protein from multidimensional 1H-NMR Data: A New Folding for Lipid Carriers. **European Journal of Biochemistry**, 226(2), 413-422.

Gomes, V. M., Oliveira, A. E. A., Xavier-Filho, J. (1996). A Chitinase and a  $\beta$ -1, 3-glucanase isolated from the seeds of Cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L Walp) inhibit the growth of fungi and insect pests of the seed. **Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture**, 72(1), 86-90.

Gonçalves, G. R., Silva, M. S., dos Santos, L. A., Resende, L. M., Taveira, G. B., Guimarães, T. Z. A., ... & Gomes, V. M. (2024). Chitin-binding peptides from *Capsicum annuum* with antifungal activity and low toxicity to mammalian cells and *Galleria mellonella* larvae. **Peptide** Science, e24338.

Grover, A. (2012). Plant chitinases: genetic diversity and physiological roles. **Critical reviews in plant sciences**, 31(1), 57-73.

Guillot, J., & Bond, R. (2020). Malassezia yeasts in veterinary dermatology: an updated overview. **Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology**, 10, 79.

Guleria, P., Kumar, V., Guleria, S. (2017). Genetic engineering: a possible strategy for protein– energy malnutrition regulation. **Molecular biotechnology**, 59(11-12), 499-517. Hairat, S., Baranwal, V. K., & Khurana, P. (2018). Identification of *Triticum aestivum* nsLTPs and functional validation of two members in development and stress mitigation roles. **Plant Physiology and Biochemistry**, 130, 418-430.

Hashimoto, M., Ikegami, T., Seino, S., Ohuchi, N., Fukada, H., Sugiyama, J., ... & Watanabe, T. (2000). Expression and characterization of the chitin-binding domain of chitinase A1 from *Bacillus circulans* WL-12. Journal of bacteriology, 182(11), 3045-3054.

Hein, M. J., Kvansakul, M., Lay, F. T., Phan, T. K., & Hulett, M. D. (2022). Defensin–lipid interactions in membrane targeting: mechanisms of action and opportunities for the development of antimicrobial and anticancer therapeutics. **Biochemical Society Transactions**, 50(1), 423-437.

Hernández-Pérez, T., Gómez-García, M. D. R., Valverde, M. E., & Paredes-López, O. (2020). *Capsicum annuum* (hot pepper): An ancient Latin-American crop with outstanding bioactive compounds and nutraceutical potential. A review. **Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety**, 19(6), 2972-2993.

Hoell, I. A., Vaaje-Kolstad, G., Eijsink, V. G. (2010). Structure and function of enzymes acting on chitin and chitosan. **Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering Reviews**, 27(1), 331-366.

Holaskova, E., Galuszka, P., Frebort, I., & Oz, M. T. (2015). Antimicrobial peptide production and plant-based expression systems for medical and agricultural biotechnology. **Biotechnology advances**, 33(6), 1005-1023.

Huang, Y., Nordeen, R. O., Di, M., Owens, L. D., & McBeath, J. H. (1997). Expression of an engineered cecropin gene cassette in transgenic tobacco plants confers disease resistance to *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tabaci. **Phytopathology**, 87(5), 494-499.

Iseli, B., Boller, T., & Neuhaus, J. M. (1993). The N-terminal cysteine-rich domain of tobacco class I chitinase is essential for chitin binding but not for catalytic or antifungal activity. **Plant Physiology**, 103(1), 221-226.

Kabir, S. R., Rahman, M. M., Tasnim, S., Karim, M. R., Khatun, N., Hasan, I., Amin, R., Islam, S. S., Nurujjaman, M., Kabir, A. H., Sana, N. K., Ozeki, Y., Asaduzzaman, A. K. M. (2016). Purification and characterization of a novel chitinase from *Trichosanthes dioica* seed with antifungal activity. **International journal of biological macromolecules**, 84, 62-68.

Kader, J. C. (1975). Proteins and the intracellular exchange of lipids. I. Stimulation of phospholipid exchange between mitochondria and microsomal fractions by proteins isolated from potato tuber. **Biochimica et biophysica acta**, 380(1), 31-44.

Kader, J. C. (1996). Lipid-transfer proteins in plants. **Annual review of plant biology**, 47(1), 627-654.

Kadokura, K., Sakamoto, Y., Saito, K., Ikegami, T., Hirano, T., Hakamata, W., ... & Nishio, T. (2007). Production of a recombinant chitin oligosaccharide deacetylase from *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* in the culture medium of *Escherichia coli* cells. **Biotechnology letters**, 29, 1209-1215.

Kini, S. G., Nguyen, P. Q., Weissbach, S., Mallagaray, A., Shin, J., Yoon, H. S., & Tam, J. P. (2015). Studies on the chitin binding property of novel cysteine-rich peptides from *Alternanthera sessilis*. **Biochemistry**, 54(43), 6639-6649.

Kini, S. G., Wong, K. H., Tan, W. L., Xiao, T., & Tam, J. P. (2017). Morintides: cargo-free chitin-binding peptides from *Moringa oleifera*. **BMC plant biology**, 17, 1-13.

Kitaoku, Y., Nishimura, S., Hirono, T., Suginta, W., Ohnuma, T., Fukamizo, T. (2019). Structures and chitin-binding properties of two N-terminal lysin motifs (LysMs) found in a chitinase from *Volvox carteri*. **Glycobiology**, 29(7), 565-575.

Konakbayeva, D., & Karlsson, A. J. (2023). Strategies and opportunities for engineering antifungal peptides for therapeutic applications. **Current Opinion in Biotechnology**, 81, 102926.

Kurita, K. (2001). Controlled functionalization of the polysaccharide chitin. Progress in Polymer science, 26(9), 1921-1971.

Landim, P. G. C., Correia, T. O., Silva, F. D., Nepomuceno, D. R., Costa, H. P., Pereira, H. M., ... & Grangeiro, T. B. (2017). Production in *Pichia pastoris*, antifungal activity and crystal structure of a class I chitinase from cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*): Insights into sugar binding mode and hydrolytic action. **Biochimie**, 135, 89-103.

Langner, T., Göhre, V. (2016). Fungal chitinases: function, regulation, and potential roles in plant/pathogen interactions. **Current genetics**, 62(2), 243-254.

Li, C., Li, X., Bai, C., Zhang, Y., Wang, Z. (2019). A chitinase with antifungal activity from naked oat (*Avena chinensis*) seeds. **Journal of food biochemistry**, 43(2), e12713.

Li, J., Hu, S., Jian, W., Xie, C., & Yang, X. (2021). Plant antimicrobial peptides: structures, functions, and applications. **Botanical Studies**, 62(1), 1-15.

Lipke, P. N., Ovalle, R. (1998). Cell wall architecture in yeast: new structure and new challenges. Journal of bacteriology, 180(15), 3735-3740.

Liu, F., Selin, C., Zou, Z., & Fernando, W. D. (2020). *Lm*CBP1, a secreted chitin-binding protein, is required for the pathogenicity of *Leptosphaeria maculans* on *Brassica napus*. Fungal Genetics and Biology, 136, 103320.

Liu, W., Huang, D., Liu, K., Hu, S., Yu, J., Gao, G., & Song, S. (2010). Discovery, identification and comparative analysis of non-specific lipid transfer protein (nsLtp) family in *Solanaceae*. **Genomics, proteomics & bioinformatics**, 8(4), 229-237.

Liu, Z., Shi, L., Yang, S., Lin, Y., Weng, Y., Li, X., Hussain, A., Noman, A., He, S. (2017). Functional and promoter analysis of ChiIV3, a chitinase of pepper plant, in response to *Phytophthora capsici* infection. **International journal of molecular sciences**, 18(8), 1661.

Loo, S., Tay, S. V., Kam, A., Tang, F., Fan, J. S., Yang, D., & Tam, J. P. (2021). Anti-fungal Hevein-like peptides biosynthesized from quinoa cleavable hololectins. **Molecules**, 26(19), 5909.

Lopes, T. D. P., da Costa, H. P. S., Pereira, M. L., da Silva Neto, J. X., de Paula, P. C., Brilhante,
R. S. N., ... & Sousa, D. O. B. (2020). Mo-CBP4, a purified chitin-binding protein from *Moringa oleifera* seeds, is a potent antidermatophytic protein: *In vitro* mechanisms of action, *in vivo* effect against infection, and clinical application as a hydrogel for skin infection. International journal of biological macromolecules, 149, 432-442.

Lucas-Bautista, J. A., Ventura-Aguilar, R. I., Bautista-Baños, S., Corona-Rangel, M. L., Guillén-Sánchez, D. (2020). Evaluation of the chitinase activity in papaya fruit at different phenological stages as a possible biomarker for the detection of *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides* infection. **Current Plant Biology**, 23, 100165.

Maghsoudi, S., Ashrafi-Kooshk, M. R., Shahlaei, M., Ghadami, S. A., Ghobadi, S., Mostafaie, A., & Khodarahmi, R. (2013). Comparative evaluation of amphotericin B binding to the native and modified forms of rice lipid-transfer protein: a possible perspective on improving the drugbinding affinity and specificity. **Journal of the Iranian Chemical Society**, 10, 937-950. Malik, A. (2019). Purification and properties of plant chitinases: A review. **Journal of Food Biochemistry**, 43(3), e12762.

Martos, S., Spanò, D., Agustí, N., Poschenrieder, C., Pintus, F., Moles, L., Medda, R. (2017). A chitinase from *Euphorbia characias* latex is a novel and powerful plant-based pesticide against *Drosophila suzukii*. **Annals of Applied Biology**, 171(2), 252-263.

McLaughlin, J. E., Darwish, N. I., Garcia-Sanchez, J., Tyagi, N., Trick, H. N., McCormick, S., ... & Tumer, N. E. (2021). A lipid transfer protein has antifungal and antioxidant activity and suppresses *Fusarium* head blight disease and DON accumulation in transgenic wheat. **Phytopathology**, 111(4), 671-683.

Mészáros, P., Rybanský, Ľ., Hauptvogel, P., Kuna, R., Libantová, J., Moravčíková, J., ... Matušíková, I. (2013). Cultivar-specific kinetics of chitinase induction in soybean roots during exposure to arsenic. **Molecular biology reports**, 40(3), 2127-2138.

Mota, T. R., Linhares, H. V., Araújo-Filho, J. H., Veras, D. M., Costa, H. P., Souza, C. M., ... & Martins, T. F. (2019). Protein extract from *Cereus jamacaru* (DC.) inhibits *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides* growth by stimulating ROS generation and promoting severe cell membrane damage. **Microbial pathogenesis**, 130, 71-80.

Moulin, M. M., Pirovani, R. O. L., Silva, L. O. E., de Almeida, R. N., Santos, J. O., de Oliveira Santos, T., & Júnior, A. C. S. (2020). Phenotypic variation in a Germplasm Collection of pepper (*Capsicum* spp.) from Espírito Santo. **Brazilian Journal of Development**, 6(10), 84217-84220.

Nawrot, R., Barylski, J., Nowicki, G., Broniarczyk, J., Buchwald, W., & Goździcka-Józefiak, A. (2014). Plant antimicrobial peptides. **Folia microbiologica**, 59, 181-196.

Neto, J. X., Pereira, M. L., Oliveira, J. T., Rocha-Bezerra, L. C., Lopes, T. D., Costa, H. P., ... & Vasconcelos, I. M. (2017). A chitin-binding protein purified from *Moringa oleifera* seeds presents anticandidal activity by increasing cell membrane permeability and reactive oxygen species production. **Frontiers in microbiology**, *8*, 980.

Neuhaus, J. M. (1999). Plant chitinases (PR-3, PR-4, PR-8, PR-11). Pathogenesis-related proteins in plants.

Odintsova, T., Shcherbakova, L., Slezina, M., Pasechnik, T., Kartabaeva, B., Istomina, E., & Dzhavakhiya, V. (2020). Hevein-like antimicrobial peptides WAMPs: Structure–function

relationship in antifungal activity and sensitization of plant pathogenic fungi to tebuconazole by WAMP-2-derived peptides. **International Journal of Molecular Sciences**, 21(21), 7912.

Ohnuma, T., Numata, T., Osawa, T., Inanaga, H., Okazaki, Y., Shinya, S., Kondo, K., Fukuda, T., Fukamizo, T. (2012). Crystal structure and chitin oligosaccharide-binding mode of a 'loopful'family GH19 chitinase from rye, *Secale cereale*, seeds. **The FEBS journal**, 279(19), 3639-3651.

Oliveira, A. P. B. F., Resende, L. M., Rodrigues, R., de Oliveira Mello, É., Taveira, G. B., de Oliveira Carvalho, A., & Gomes, V. M. (2022). Antimicrobial peptides of the genus *Capsicum*: A mini review. **Horticulture, Environment, and Biotechnology**, 63(4), 453-466.

Osborne, T. B. (1924). The vegetable proteins. Longmans, Green and Company. **Nature**, 114, 822.

Perlroth, J., Choi, B., & Spellberg, B. (2007). Nosocomial fungal infections: epidemiology, diagnosis, and treatment. **Medical mycology**, 45(4), 321-346.

Pinto-Magalhães, S., Martins, A., Lacerda, S., Filipe, R., Prista-Leão, B., Pinheiro, D., ... & Santos, L. (2019). Candidemia in a Portuguese tertiary care hospital: Analysis of a 2-year period. Journal de Mycologie Médicale, 29(4), 320-324.

Pons, J. L., De Lamotte, F., Gautier, M. F., & Delsuc, M. A. (2003). Refined solution structure of a liganded type 2 wheat nonspecific lipid transfer protein. **Journal of Biological Chemistry**, 278(16), 14249-14256.

Puri, S., & Edgerton, M. (2014). How does it kill?: understanding the candidacidal mechanism of salivary histatin 5. **Eukaryotic cell**, 13(8), 958-964.

Radauer, C., & Breiteneder, H. (2007). Evolutionary biology of plant food allergens. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 120(3), 518-525.

Raikhel, N. V., Lee, H. I., & Broekaert, W. F. (1993). Structure and function of chitin-binding proteins. **Annual review of plant biology**, 44(1), 591-615.

Ramage, G., Mowat, E., Jones, B., Williams, C., & Lopez-Ribot, J. (2009). Our current understanding of fungal biofilms. **Critical reviews in microbiology**, 35(4), 340-355.

Rautenbach, M., Troskie, A. M., & Vosloo, J. A. (2016). Antifungal peptides: To be or not to be membrane active. **Biochimie**, 130, 132-145.

Reddy, G. K. K., Padmavathi, A. R., & Nancharaiah, Y. V. (2022). Fungal infections: Pathogenesis, antifungals and alternate treatment approaches. **Current Research in Microbial Sciences**, *3*, 100137.

Ribeiro, S. F., Carvalho, A. O., Da Cunha, M., Rodrigues, R., Cruz, L. P., Melo, V. M., ... & Gomes, V. M. (2007). Isolation and characterization of novel peptides from chilli pepper seeds: antimicrobial activities against pathogenic yeasts. **Toxicon**, 50(5), 600-611.

Rogozhin, E. A., Slezina, M. P., Slavokhotova, A. A., Istomina, E. A., Korostyleva, T. V., Smirnov, A. N., ... & Odintsova, T. I. (2015). A novel antifungal peptide from leaves of the weed *Stellaria media* L. **Biochimie**, 116, 125-132.

Saeed, A., Rafiq, Z., Imran, M., Saeed, Q., Saeed, M. Q., Ali, Z., ... & Akrem, A. (2022). Insilico studies calculated a new chitin oligomer binding site inside vicilin: A potent antifungal and insecticidal agent. **Dose-Response**, 20(2), 15593258221108280.

Saeed, A. H. S. A. N., Rafiq, Z., Saeed, Q., Khaliq, B., Ullah, A. N. W. A. R., Mehmood, S., ... & Akrem, A. (2021). Functional characterization of a potent antimicrobial and insecticidal chitin binding protein from seeds of *Iberis umbellata* L. **Pakistan Journal of Botany**, 53(4), 1515-1523.

Safi, H., Saibi, W., Alaoui, M. M., Hmyene, A., Masmoudi, K., Hanin, M., & Brini, F. (2015). A wheat lipid transfer protein (TdLTP4) promotes tolerance to abiotic and biotic stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. **Plant Physiology and Biochemistry**, 89, 64-75.

Salama, O. E., & Gerstein, A. C. (2022). Differential response of *Candida* species morphologies and isolates to fluconazole and boric acid. **Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy**, 66(5), e02406-21.

Santos, M. R. A. D., Souza, C. A. D., & Paz, E. S. (2017). Growth pattern of friable calluses from leaves of *Capsicum annuum* var. annuum cv. Iberaba Jalapeño. **Revista Ciência Agronômica**, 48, 523-530.

Sarma, K., Dehury, B., Sahu, J., Sarmah, R., Sahoo, S., Sahu, M., Sen, P., Modi, M. K., Barooah, M. (2012). A comparative proteomic approach to analyse structure, function and evolution of rice chitinases: a step towards increasing plant fungal resistance. Journal of molecular modeling, 18(11), 4761-4780.

150

Sharma, K., Aaghaz, S., Shenmar, K., & Jain, R. (2018). Short antimicrobial peptides. **Recent patents on anti-infective drug discovery**, 13(1), 12-52.

Shewry, P. R., Jenkins, J., Beaudoin, F., & Mills, E. C. (2006). Plant protein families as a basis for predicting the allergenicity of food proteins (pp. 39-44). Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands.

Shewry, P. R., Napier, J. A., & Tatham, A. S. (1995). Seed storage proteins: structures and biosynthesis. **The plant cell**, 7(7), 945.

Shukurov, R. R., D Voblikova, V., Nikonorova, A. K., Komakhin, R. A., V Komakhina, V., A Egorov, T., ... & V Babakov, A. (2012). Transformation of tobacco and *Arabidopsis* plants with *Stellaria media* genes encoding novel hevein-like peptides increases their resistance to fungal pathogens. **Transgenic research**, 21, 313-325.

Silva, M. S., Gomes, V. M., Taveira, G. B., de Azevedo dos Santos, L., Maracahipes, Á. C., Rodrigues, R., ... & Oliveira, A. E. A. (2021). Bifunctional inhibitors from *Capsicum chinense* seeds with antimicrobial activity and specific mechanism of action against phytopathogenic fungi. **Protein and Peptide Letters**, 28(2), 149-163.

Silva Neto, J. X., da Costa, H. P. S., Vasconcelos, I. M., Pereira, M. L., Oliveira, J. T. A., Lopes, T. D. P., ... & de Sousa, D. D. O. B. (2020). Role of membrane sterol and redox system in the anti-candida activity reported for *Mo*-CBP2, a protein from *Moringa oleifera* seeds. **International journal of biological macromolecules**, 143, 814-824.

Sinelnikov, I. G., Siedhoff, N. E., Chulkin, A. M., Zorov, I. N., Schwaneberg, U., Davari, M. D., ... & Rozhkova, A. M. (2021). Expression and refolding of the plant chitinase from *Drosera capensis* for applications as a sustainable and integrated pest Mmnagement. **Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology**, 9, 728501.

Slavokhotova, A. A., Shelenkov, A. A., Andreev, Y. A., & Odintsova, T. I. (2017). Hevein-like antimicrobial peptides of plants. **Biochemistry** (Moscow), 82, 1659-1674.

Slezina, M. P., & Odintsova, T. I. (2023). Plant antimicrobial peptides: Insights into structurefunction relationships for practical applications. **Current Issues in Molecular Biology**, 45(4), 3674-3704.

Souza, A. A., Costa, A. S., Campos, D. C., Batista, A. H., Sales, G. W., Nogueira, N. A., ... & Oliveira, H. D. (2018). Lipid transfer protein isolated from noni seeds displays antibacterial

activity in vitro and improves survival in lethal sepsis induced by CLP in mice. **Biochimie**, 149, 9-17.

Souza, P. F. (2020). The forgotten 2S albumin proteins: Importance, structure, and biotechnological application in agriculture and human health. **International Journal of Biological Macromolecules**, 164, 4638-4649.

Souza, P. F., Vasconcelos, I. M., Silva, F. D., Moreno, F. B., Monteiro-Moreira, A. C., Alencar, L. M., ... & Oliveira, J. T. (2016). A 2S albumin from the seed cake of *Ricinus communis* inhibits trypsin and has strong antibacterial activity against human pathogenic bacteria. **Journal** of natural products, 79(10), 2423-2431.

Spano, D., Pospiskova, K., Safarik, I., Pisano, M. B., Pintus, F., Floris, G., Medda, R. (2015). Chitinase III in *Euphorbia characias* latex: purification and characterization. **Protein Expression and Purification**, 116, 152-158.

Srivastava, S., Dashora, K., Ameta, K. L., Singh, N. P., El-Enshasy, H. A., Pagano, M. C., ... & Bhargava, A. (2021). Cysteine-rich antimicrobial peptides from plants: The future of antimicrobial therapy. **Phytotherapy Research**, 35(1), 256-277.

Sun, Y. L., Choi, I. L., Lee, Y. B., Choi, K. Y., Hong, S. K., & Kang, H. M. (2014). Molecular diversity and phylogentic analysis of *Capsicum annuum* varieties using the nrDNA ITS region. **Scientia Horticulturae**, 165, 336-343.

Taira, T., Ohnuma, T., Yamagami, T., Aso, Y., Ishiguro, M., & Ishihara, M. (2002). Antifungal activity of rye (*Secale cereale*) seed chitinases: the different binding manner of class I and class II chitinases to the fungal cell walls. **Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry**, 66(5), 970-977.

Takashima, T., Ohnuma, T., & Fukamizo, T. (2018). NMR analysis of substrate binding to a two-domain chitinase: comparison between soluble and insoluble chitins. **Carbohydrate research**, 458, 52-59.

Tam, J. P., Wang, S., Wong, K. H., & Tan, W. L. (2015). Antimicrobial peptides from plants. **Pharmaceuticals**, 8(4), 711-757.

Taveira, G. B., Mathias, L. S., da Motta, O. V., Machado, O. L., Rodrigues, R., Carvalho, A. O., ... & Gomes, V. M. (2014). Thionin-like peptides from *Capsicum annuum* fruits with high activity against human pathogenic bacteria and yeasts. **Peptide Science**, 102(1), 30-39.

Tomassen, M. M., Barrett, D. M., van der Valk, H. C., & Woltering, E. J. (2007). Isolation and characterization of a tomato non-specific lipid transfer protein involved in polygalacturonasemediated pectin degradation. **Journal of experimental botany**, 58(5), 1151-1160.

Torres, M. D., Sothiselvam, S., Lu, T. K., & de la Fuente-Nunez, C. (2019). Peptide design principles for antimicrobial applications. **Journal of molecular biology**, 431(18), 3547-3567.

Trindade, M. B., Lopes, J. L., Soares-Costa, A., Monteiro-Moreira, A. C., Moreira, R. A., Oliva,
M. L. V., Beltramini, L. M. (2006). Structural characterization of novel chitin-binding lectins
from the genus *Artocarpus* and their antifungal activity. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta
(BBA)-Proteins and Proteomics, 1764(1), 146-152.

Van Hengel, A. J., Tadesse, Z., Immerzeel, P., Schols, H., Van Kammen, A. B., de Vries, S. C. (2001). N-acetylglucosamine and glucosamine-containing arabinogalactan proteins control somatic embryogenesis. **Plant Physiology**, 125(4), 1880-1890.

Van Loon, L. C., Rep, M., Pieterse, C. M. (2006). Significance of inducible defense-related proteins in infected plants. **Annual Review of Phytopathology**, 44, 135-162.

Van Loon, L. C., Van Strien, E. A. (1999). The families of pathogenesis-related proteins, their activities, and comparative analysis of PR-1 type proteins. **Physiological and molecular plant pathology**, 55(2), 85-97.

Walujono, K., Scholma, R. A., Beintema, J. J., Anton, M., & Hahn, A. M. (1975). Amino acid sequence of Hevein [of latex]. In International Rubber Conference, Kuala Lumpur (Malaysia), 20 Oct 1975.

Wang, Y., Pruitt, R. N., Nürnberger, T., & Wang, Y. (2022). Evasion of plant immunity by microbial pathogens. **Nature Reviews Microbiology**, 20(8), 449-464.

Yan, R., Hou, J., Ding, D., Guan, W., Wang, C., Wu, Z., & Li, M. (2008). In vitro antifungal activity and mechanism of action of chitinase against four plant pathogenic fungi. **Journal of Basic Microbiology**, 48(4), 293-301.

Youle, R. J., & Huang, A. H. (1979). Albumin storage protein and allergens in cottonseeds. **Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry**, 27(3), 500-503.

Zhou, Z., Zhu, Y., Tian, Y., Yao, J. L., Bian, S., Zhang, H., ... & Yan, Z. (2021). MdPR4, a pathogenesis-related protein in apple, is involved in chitin recognition and resistance response to apple replant disease pathogens. **Journal of Plant Physiology**, 260, 153390.

Zottich, U., Da Cunha, M., Carvalho, A. O., Dias, G. B., Silva, N. C., Santos, I. S., ... & Gomes, V. M. (2011). Purification, biochemical characterization and antifungal activity of a new lipid transfer protein (LTP) from *Coffea canephora* seeds with α-amylase inhibitor properties. **Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects**, 1810(4), 375-383.